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Kingwisoft Technology Group Company Limited & 2R EE WK
B AR AT (formerly known as ZZ Technology Group Company
Limited FRIEEHYEERZHD BB A R)]) (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”) (Stock Code: 08295)
is an investment holding company with its headquarter based in
Hong Kong. It was established in 2010 and is listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Group has acquired KingNine Holdings Limited (“KingNine")
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “KingNine Group”) on 15
October 2020 (the "Acquisition”), which constituted a very
substantial acquisition and connected transaction of the Company
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”). The KingNine Group’s
principal activities include the provision of the following services in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"):

(@)  Back-office services (primarily provision of customer service
solutions, and setting up of contact service systems and
centres);

(b)  Comprehensive marketing and agency services; and

(c) Data centre services.

Further information about the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.kwtech-group.com.
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the 2023/2024 annual report of Kingwisoft
Technology Group Company Limited & Z R EBERHDBER A 7]
(formerly known as ZZ Technology Group Company Limited FRiE 7}
HEERKRMDAER AR (the “Company”),and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the
“Year"/the “Reporting Period”).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

During the Year, the Group completed the following main
disposal:

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27
February 2024, Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.* (& Zgh & BHY
BRAT]), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability,
which is regarded as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “Vendor”), entered into an equity transfer agreement with
Hainan Zhicheng Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)*
(BEERERESGEBEEFERSE ), alimited partnership
incorporated in the PRC (the “Purchaser”), pursuant to which the
Vendor agreed to sell, and the Purchaser agreed to acquire the
51% equity interest in Chengdu ThinkMore Technology Co., Ltd.*
(B #F Bt & B 8 &l 5 & R A @) (the “Target Company”), a
company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Vendor, at a total consideration of
RMB30.6 million. Please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 27 February 2024 and 29 February 2024 for
details. The equity registration for this transaction was completed
on 6 March 2024. The Vendor should pay the remaining
consideration within one year from the effective date of the
agreement in accordance with the agreement. Since then the
Group’s equity interest in the Target Company reduced from
100% to 49% and the Target Company became an associate of
the Company.

Save as aforementioned, the Group had no significant disposals

held, material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures during the Year.

*  For identification purposes only
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Profit Guarantee

As disclosed in the announcement dated 10 September 2020 and
the circular dated 18 September 2020 (the “Circular”) published
by the Company, it entered into a share purchase deed on 10
September 2020 (the “Share Purchase Deed”) with regard to the
acquisition of the entire issued capital of KingNine Holdings
Limited (“KingNine"”) (the “Acquisition”). The Company entered
into the supplemental deed in July 2023 with Founders SPV
NINEGO Corporation, Founders Mr. Hu Shilong, Ms. Liu Yingying
and other parities to change the payer of any compensation in
relation to the non-fulfillment of profit guarantee from Founders
to Founders SPV NINEGO Corporation. Unless otherwise defined
herein, all capitalized terms used in this report shall have same
meanings as those defined in the Circular.

Founders SPV has undertaken to the Company pursuant to the
Share Purchase Deed that the audited consolidated net profit
attributable to the equity holders of KingNine in accordance with
HKFRS for any given profit guarantee period would not be less
than the guaranteed profit in respect of such profit guarantee
period. The Company has undertaken to Founders that subject to
the compliance of all applicable laws and regulations (including
the GEM Listing Rules and the directors’ fiduciary duties and
duties of skill, care and diligence), it would use reasonable
endeavours to procure the directors of Dalian Kingwisoft
nominated by it to act in the interests of the Group as a whole
during the entire profit guarantee period.

In respect of the Guarantee Period commenced on 1 April 2019
and ended on 31 March 2020, the audited consolidated net profit
attributable to the equity holders of KingNine in accordance with
HKFRS was approximately RMB65.3 million, and is more than the
Guaranteed Profit in respect of this Guarantee Period (i.e. RMB60
million). In respect of the Guarantee Period commenced on 1 April
2020 and ended on 31 March 2021, the audited consolidated net
profit attributable to the equity holders of KingNine in accordance
with HKFRS was approximately RMB93.6 million, and is more than
the Guaranteed Profit in respect of this Guarantee Period (i.e.
RMB90 million). In respect of the Guarantee Period commenced
on 1 April 2021 and ended on 31 March 2022, the audited
consolidated net profit attributable to the equity holders of
KingNine in accordance with HKFRS was approximately RMB134.3
million, and is more than the Guaranteed Profit in respect of this
Guarantee Period (i.e. RMB120 million). In respect of the

o PR W ai B g e
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Guarantee Period commenced on 1 April 2022 and ended on 31
March 2023, the audited consolidated net profit attributable to
the equity holders of KingNine in accordance with HKFRS was
approximately RMB94.8 million, and is less than the Guaranteed
Profit in respect of this Guarantee Period (i.e. RMB150 million).
According to the Share Purchase Deed, the Founders SPV shall
compensate the Company the Shortfall in cash (the “First
Compensation”) in accordance with the formula set out in the
Share Purchase Deed. The First Compensation for the year ended
31 March 2023 was approximately RMB41.5 million. In respect of
the Guarantee Period commenced on 1 April 2023 and ended on
31 March 2024, the audited consolidated net profit attributable to
the equity holders of KingNine in accordance with HKFRS was
approximately RMB148.2 million, and is less than the Guaranteed
Profit in respect of this Guarantee Period (i.e. RMB180 million).
According to the Share Purchase Deed, the Founders SPV shall
compensate the Company the Shortfall in cash (the “Second
Compensation”) in accordance with the formula set out in the
Share Purchase Deed. The Second Compensation for the Year was
approximately RMB41.3 million.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, there was a gradual economic recovery amidst a mix of
challenges and hope. This year, complex and volatile global
situations as well as other factors brought pressure and challenges
to business activities. Meanwhile, the accelerated emergence of
new technologies and iterative algorithm drove the business sector
to a new stage of development, where the rapid development and
application of cutting-edge technologies, such as artificial
intelligence, digital human, and large model, have brought new
opportunities to create new growth for enterprises and industries.
In the face of the fast-changing macro-environmental market, the
Group has always insisted on improving customer satisfaction and
the healthy and sustainable development of its business,
continuing to tap into the field of enterprise services, expanding
new service scenarios, and consolidating its leading edge in the
industry. The Group has also endeavoured to embrace the cutting-
edge technologies such as Al with continuous efforts on
innovation and application of technologies to provide customers
with professional services. The Group aims to ensure the smooth
operation of its business and the growth of its operating revenue.

7B B A5 RS ME B S E MY KingNine #3515 B A (R
LRIZER A FF 4 B AR 94,800,000 7T + KA
IR B B4R B & B (B0 A R % 150,000,000
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The Group generated revenue of approximately RMB1,240.9
million for the financial year ended 31 March 2024, an increase of
39.6% over the same period last year. In particular, revenue from
backoffice services was approximately RMB1,186.0 million,
accounting for 95.6% of our total revenue. Insisting on innovation
is the longterm strategy of the Group. With the changes in
consumer habits and behaviours brought about by the recovery,
the innovative business has continued to improve.

During the reporting period, we continued to strengthen and
broaden our business relationships with leading clients in the fields
of Internet mobility, finance and securities, e-commerce, and live
streaming services. Our top five clients remain fairly stable.
Furthermore, in terms of new customers and new business
development, we have acquired a number of customers in the
field of Internet marketing services by deepening the incremental
market of the whole industry. The Group’s companies were listed
in the “2023 Leading Chinese Digital Services and Service
Outsourcing Enterprise (Customer Centre)”, “Top 100 Chinese
Service Brands” at the 2023 China Customer Service Festival, and
won “2023 Dalian Top Ten Digital Service Enterprises” and “The
Second Prize for Innovation Fruits of Enterprises Management” of
Liaoning province and other honors.

The Group, which has always adhered to independent innovation
and research and development, focuses on the innovation in
artificial intelligence and big data technologies and their
integration with and application in business scenarios, with
positive results achieved. The developed business scenarios cover
customer service business systems, digital operation and talent
management, training and practice, as well as merchant and
quality and performance management tools in the field of digital
marketing. During the reporting period, with quality professional
services and leading innovation capability, the Group’s companies
obtained 37 new software copyrights closely related to the
Group's business, and cumulatively obtained 3 invention patents
and 270 software copyrights, among which, the intelligent
customer service software products were selected as part of the
“Panorama of High-quality Digital Transformation Products and

o PR W i B BT
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Services” by China Academy of Information and Communications
Technology (CAICT). The Group's companies have been awarded
a number of honours such as “2023 Dalian Leading Enterprise in
Software and Information Technology Service Industry”, and its
technology research and development centre has been accredited
as Dalian Enterprise Technology Centre, Dalian Intelligent
Customer Service Technology Innovation Centre, and selected as
Liaoning Digital Transformation Promotion Centre, which signifies
that the Group’s continuous research and development of
technological scenarios and its service capability of assisting in the
digital transformation of enterprises are entering into a brand-new
stage.

In addition, during the reporting period, the Group built and
reconstructed a number of self-operated contact service centres in
places such as Dalian, Shenyang, Chengdu, Suining, etc. The total
number of completed workstations in the 46 self-operated contact
service centres increased to 18,794. The Group has developed a
capability that serves a multi-dimensional and three-dimensional
network covering tier 1 to tier 4 cities and is able to fully satisfy
the Company'’s business requirements in new service scenarios.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Results of the Group
The Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB1,240.9
million for the Year (2023: approximately RMB888.6 million),

representing 39.6% increase as compared to that of last financial
year.
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An analysis of the Group's revenue from contracts with customers $’§ ERBEEBEREERBHERE LKA
arising from the value-added telecommunication and related S0 :
services is as follows:
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EFT ARMTF T
Back-office services: % SR
Provision of customer service solutions %%1 BEIRIGHEA AR 1,185,861 835,634
Set up of contact service systems and centres T E AR AR TS R AT K AR 91 1,340
1,185,952 836,974
Comprehensive marketing and agency services 2 [H & 85 & (L 12 IR 32,585 26,135
Data centre services g LR 22,367 25,513
1,240,904 888,622

During the Year, the Group incurred cost of services of
approximately RMB1,113.0 million (2023: approximately
RMB767.4 million) which primarily consisted of staff costs,
subcontracting fees, rental expenses, depreciation and
amortisation. The increase in cost of services was mainly
attributable to the Group'’s increased revenue as well as the higher
costs in the above major items as certain new contact service
centres yet to reach their optimal operating scale within the
planned timeframe.

Net other income and gains for the Year was approximately
RMB74.5 million (2023: approximately RMB160.8 million). Such
decrease was mainly attributable to the fair value gain of
approximately RMB110.4 million on contingent consideration
recognised by the Group in the previous financial year as
compared to the fair value loss of approximately RMB27.6 million
on contingent consideration recognised for the Year. The Group
recognised a gain of approximately RMB52,300,000 (2023: Nil) on
disposal of 51% equity interest in Chengdu ThinkMore
Technology Co., Ltd. during the year.

RAFE AEBEERBRAHDARE
1,113,000,0007T(2023 4 : ¥ AR¥ 767,400,000
L) FERFEINAE »RE - HEMX T
EREE - REKAENEZFRENEEB KA
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N ARETEENEERE  BH M FERAR
THE BIATE ©

AFEFEMEMAKARKZFELHAEARE
74,500,000 7T (20234 = 49 A R % 160,800,000
JC) o 2R EERAAE BN E— B BEERE

RBARBRORFEWZ L AR 110,400,000
L AFEEERXARENAFEEEHARE

27,600,0007C c AEEBE A FANHERBRE E
HRBEAERAASI%REERRZHARE
52,300,000 7T (2023 4F : &) ©
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Based on the assessment by the Company’s management of the
latest available information and the overall economic environment,
the Group recognised a non-cash impairment loss on goodwill of
the cash-generating unit (“CGU") of KingNine Group of
approximately RMB224.8 million (2023: RMB349.4 million). The
impairment loss on goodwill is a non-cash item and does not have
an impact on the Group's cash flows.

The Company has consistently applied the income approach to
the valuation of the KingNine Group as at 31 March 2024 and
there have been no subsequent changes to the valuation method
used. The method is based on the principle that value in use can
be measured as the present value of the future cash flows
expected to be derived from an asset group used on an ongoing
basis. The income approach estimates future economic benefits
and discounts those benefits to their present value using an
appropriate discount rate that takes into account all risks
associated with realising those benefits.

The following table summarises the significant inputs to the
valuation of the KingNine Group CGU:

BRERANFIEEEBYEHUSENRBELER
B AEBEERKngNine EERSELE
(ReEEASM]) MEEIERSREBENA
R # 224,800,000 7T, (2023 £F : 349,400,000 7T °
FEREBIEAIERESEE  YALERESRE
WHEEE -

A KingNine 52 E 72 2024 F 3 B 31 HM{HE
EBERBAK  FTAGBEFEAERTEES -
ZARERNRAAFEREENIRSEFTHNE
EAEPEEANAKRRERENBFETE - KA
SEREET AR REERZ  WEMRERERRZS
MmN ERRNAE BRI X EZEF =i
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3%-11.4%
3% £11.4%
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The calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group covering a
5-year period. Revenue growth rates were estimated ranging from
3.0% to 14.0% (2023: 3.3% to 26.0%) per annum for the
KingNine Group CGU throughout the 5-year budget plan, as
determined by management with reference to the historical rates
in prior years, adjusted by management’s outlook of expected
market development. The KingNine Group’s cash flows beyond
the 5-year period are extrapolated using a perpetual growth rate
of 2.5% (2023: 3.0%). This perpetual growth rate approximates
the long term average growth rate of the relevant business in
Chinese Mainland, which is similar to the long term average
inflation rate in Chinese Mainland.
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Discount rate is estimated to be 21.6% (2023: 23.4%), which is
before tax and represents the current market assessment of the
risks specific to the KingNine Group CGU, taking into
consideration the time value of money and individual risks of the
underlying assets that have not been incorporated in the cash
flow estimates. The discount rate calculation is based on the
specific circumstances of the Group and its operating segments
and is derived from its weighted average cost of capital (the
"WACC"). The WACC takes into account both debt and equity.

The reason for significant changes in inputs, bases and key
assumptions for the year was the management of the Group has
made a conservative forecast of the future sales growth of the
KingNine Group. Due to complex environmental factors such as
the weakening of the global economy and slower-than-expected
growth of certain consumer product/service segments in the PRC,
the recovery of the PRC’s overall economy was disturbed, and the
growth of service demand from some of the KingNine Group’s
customers was at a slow pace, resulting in a slower growth rate of
revenue generated from the main business of the Group, which
incur the impairment loss on goodwill for the year.

Details of the Group’s impairment loss on goodwill are set out in
note 17 to the financial statements.

During the Year, the Group recorded net impairment losses on
financial assets of approximately RMB19.0 million (2023:
approximately RMB17.3 million) for the provision of expected
credit loss on accounts and other receivables.

The Group incurred marketing, research and development
expenses of approximately RMB52.0 million (2023: approximately
RMB42.3 million) in aggregate during the Year. Administrative
expenses for the Year was approximately RMB79.6 million (2023:
approximately RMB85.7 million).

During the Year, the Group incurred finance costs of
approximately RMB24.3 million (2023: approximately RMB25.5
million) which mainly consisted of interests on consideration
payable arising from the acquisition of KingNine Group, bank and
other borrowings and lease liabilities.

The Group’s income tax expense for the Year was approximately
RMB5.0 million (2023: income tax credit of approximately RMBO.7
million (restated)) which mainly consisted of provision of PRC
Enterprise Income Tax of approximately RMB8.3 million (2023:
approximately RMB5.0 million), offset by an overprovision in prior
period of approximately RMB0.5 million (2023: approximately
RMB1.9 million) and deferred tax credit of approximately RMB2.8
million (2023: RMB3.8 million (restated)).
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Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was
approximately RMB197.4 million, whereas the Group recorded a
loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB230.3 million (restated) for the last financial year.

Basic losses per share for the Year was approximately RMB4.13
cent (2023: basic losses per share of approximately RMB5.03 cent
(restated)), while diluted losses per share for the Year was the
same as basic losses per share of approximately RMB4.13 cent
(2023: diluted losses per share of approximately RMB5.03 cent
(restated)).

The total assets of the Group as at 31 March 2024 decreased by
approximately RMB219.9 million to approximately RMB1,278.3
million as compared with that of approximately RMB1,498.2
million as at 31 March 2023. The total liabilities of the Group as at
31 March 2024 decreased by approximately RMB15.3 million to
approximately RMB457.6 million as compared with that of
approximately RMB472.9 million (restated) as at 31 March 2023.
Net assets as at 31 March 2024 was approximately RMB820.7
million (31 March 2023: approximately RMB1,025.3 million
(restated)).

Capital Structure, liquidity and financial
resources

The Board monitors the Group'’s capital structure by reviewing its
cash flow requirements and considering its future financial
obligations and commitments.

The Group’s operation and investments were financed by internal
resources, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as well as
the proceeds arising from the subscriptions of new shares of the
Company during the Year.

As at 31 March 2024, aggregate of cash and bank balances,
restricted cash and pledged bank deposits of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB86.4 million (2023: approximately
RMB166.8 million), which were mainly denominated in Hong
Kong dollar and Renminbi (“RMB").

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of approximately RMB198.0 million (2023:
approximately RMB245.6 million), which were mainly
denominated in RMB. All interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings for the Year are repayable within one year (2023:
approximately RMB68.5 million). Details of the interest rate
structure are set out in Note 30 to the financial statements.
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As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a current ratio of 2.2 and a
gearing ratio of 24.1% (2023:3.6 and 24.0%, respectively). The
gearing ratio is computed by dividing the Group’s interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings of approximately RMB198 million
(2023: approximately RMB245.6 million) by the Group’s equity of
approximately RMB820.7 million (2023: approximately
RMB1,025.3 million (restated)).

For foreign currency risk, the Group will continue to monitor its
foreign currency exposure and will consider using hedging
instruments if available in respect of significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Commitments

The Group and the Company did not have any significant
commitment as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Charge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2024, there were no interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings of the Group secured by any assets. Details of
the Group's pledges of assets are set out in note 30 to the
financial statements.

Employees and remuneration policies

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had 13,446 employees including
Directors (2023: 11,755 employees). Total staff cost (including
Directors’ emoluments) for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB809.3 million. Employees’ remuneration packages are decided
based on their job responsibilities, local market benchmarks and
industry trends. Employee discretionary bonus is distributable
according to the performance of the respective subsidiaries and
employees concerned.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and
senior management of the Company with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (2023: Nil).
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Future plans for material investments or capital
assets

The Group will focus on premium corporate clients in the Internet
and finance sectors to diversify its categories of services and
strengthen our customers’ stickness, which in turn help the Group
to generate economies of scale and gain more market share.

The Group will look into our business development and consider
acquiring or investing in relevant assets which form synergistic
effects with our principal business as and when appropriate.
Through the acquisition and investment, the Group can expand its
services categories and premium customer base and strengthen
our capability in research and development, which in turn identify
and meet demands from customers in a view to raise our core
competitiveness and profitability.

Subscriptions of New Shares

On 15 July 2022 (after trading hours), the Company entered into
subscription agreements with Gfly Ltd. and Glink Resources
Limited respectively, pursuant to which Gfly Ltd. and Glink
Resources Limited have conditionally agreed to subscribe for and
the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue a total of
587,500,000 ordinary share(s) of par value of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company (the “Subscription Shares”, each a
“Subscription Share”) at a price of HK$0.4 per Subscription Share
(the “Subscriptions”). Gfly Ltd. is a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands with limited liability and is principally engaged
in investment holding. It is ultimately owned by Mr. Lyu Wenyang.
Glink Resources Limited is a company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability and is principally engaged in trading and
investment business. The trading business mainly involves bulk
commodity entrepot trade of metal products, whereas the
investment business includes equity investment and debt
investment. It is ultimately owned by Mr. Wang Peng. To the best
of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, and having
made all reasonable enquiries, both Gfly Ltd. and Glink Resources
Limited, and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are third
parties independent of the Company and not connected persons
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company.
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The subscription price of HK$0.4 per Subscription Share
represents: (1) a premium of approximately 48.15% of the closing
price of HK$0.27 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for
the last five consecutive trading days up to and including 15 July
2022, being the date of the subscription agreements of the
Subscriptions; and (2) a premium of approximately 45.45% to the
closing price of HK$0.275 per Share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 15 July 2022, being the date of the subscription
agreements of the Subscriptions.

The Directors were of the view that the Subscriptions were in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole and the
allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares was an appropriate
mean of raising additional capital for the business operations of
the Group and to further strengthen the Group’s financial position
since it would provide the Company with immediate funding and
the shareholders’ base of the Company would be broadened.

On 2 August 2022, 437,500,000 Subscription Shares and
150,000,000 Subscription Shares were issued and allotted to Gfly
Ltd. and Glink Resources Limited respectively under the
Subscriptions.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 15 July
2022 and 2 August 2022 for details of the Subscriptions.

The gross proceeds from the Subscriptions amounted to
approximately HK$235 million, and the net proceeds arising from
the Subscriptions, after deducting all relevant expenses incidental
to the Subscriptions, amounted to approximately HK$215 million.
As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 2 August
2022, the Company intended to apply the net proceeds in the
following manner:

(i) asto approximately HK$27 million of the net proceeds from
the Subscriptions towards existing business development
(“Existing Business Development”);

(i) as to approximately HK$105 million of the net proceeds
towards business expansion and acquisition(s) regarding
new media business of providing live-streaming e-commerce
and digital marketing services (“Business Expansion and
Acquisition(s)”); and

(i) as to approximately HK$83 million of the net proceeds
towards general working capital of the Group (”General
Working Capital”).
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Having considered the recent market changes and the financial
position of the Group, the Directors further resolved to change
the use of the net proceeds from the Subscriptions, being
approximately HK$215 million as follows: (i) as to approximately
HK$53.9 million for Existing Business Development and (ii) as to
approximately HK$161.1 million for General Working Capital. The
further revised allocation of the net proceeds, the utilised and
unutilised amounts of the net proceeds as at 31 March 2024 are
set out below:

KEERFBMSGEHRAEENT MR  ES
E—TBARRBESTEMSREFEY
215,000,000 7t &9 A % & £ 0 T: ()&
53,900,000/ 7t A R | B ¥ % & &()H
161,100,000 B TTAE—MREEE S - FIEHIETF

B — SEIBRT DR - FISRFEN 20245
3ATANESB A BEBEHINWT

Utilised Unutilised

amount of amount of

Further the net the net

Intended revised proceeds proceeds

use of  allocation of as at as at

the net the net 31 March 31 March

proceeds proceeds 2024 2024

12024 F R 2024 F

8RR FRGRR 3A31H 3A31H

FE FBEE—S MENREFHE FENEFH

BER® RIETHE MWEBHHASE HXBASH

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

BEET BHEET BEET BEET

Existing Business REXEBER 27.0 53.9 (53.9) -
Development

Business Expansion and EER RIE 105.0 - - -
Acquisition(s)

General Working Capital —REEED 83.0 161.1 (161.1) -

215.0 215.0 (215.0) -

Having considered the recent market changes and the financial
position of the Group, the Directors are of the view that it would
be appropriate to re-allocate HK$105.0 million which were
originally allocated for Business Expansion and Acquisition(s) to
Existing Business Development and General Working Capital since
it could enhance the financial position and liquidity of the Group
and meet the financial needs of the Group. The Directors
considered the above change in the use of the net proceeds from
the Subscriptions is fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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OUTLOOK

The main focus of China’s macro-economy in 2024 is “full
recovery”. In order to promote the full economic recovery, at the
beginning of the year, a series of macro-economy policies aimed
at stimulating economic growth to stabilise expectations, growth
and employment have been launched. With the effective
implementation of such policies, production demands rose stably
with overall steady employment rate and prices as well as
increased market confidence, demonstrating new achievements
from high-quality development and a continuous and positive
uptrend in the national economy.

The service industry accommodates the most jobs among all
industries in China. The stabilization and improvement of the
service industry marks enhanced market expectations.

Cross-industry or intra-industry integration is an irreversible trend
of industrial change in the era of the new technological revolution
and digital economy, and is also the inevitable path of modern
industrial development and evolution. Digital technology is
innovating the consumer scene, stimulating consumer vitality,
profoundly changing consumer behaviour, and bringing innovative
business models. Meanwhile, with the accumulative consumer
demand released, emerging sectors of the service industry have
shown active development. The Chinese government has issued a
series of policies for the entertainment and media industry and its
sub-sectors to promote the development of the industry, deepen
the integration of new technologies with the industry, and create
and expand new scenes of consumption through digital
empowerment and the integration of business, tourism, culture,
and sports. New e-commerce models such as live e-commerce,
content e-commerce and social e-commerce have emerged, and
products such as digital shopping malls, smart stores and
membership stores that integrate offline entities with the digital
economy have also achieved rapid penetration, providing multiple
information acquisition and consumption channels for C-users.
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As the Group’s major clients are players from sectors such as
finance and securities, telecommunication operators and Internet,
they are expected to recover rapidly with the continued economic
recovery and the gradual rise of new endogenous. However, we
will still face some difficulties and challenges such as insufficient
effective demand and increasingly complicated, severe and
uncertain external environment. At the same time, we also see
that Al technology is undergoing rapid and profound evolution.
The recognition of information as a new production factor is
expanding, and the enterprise service industry we are involved in
has significant opportunities for development within an intelligent
cyberspace.

We will pay close attention to the impact of macro policies on
clients’ businesses, and maintain close communication with
clients. We will take diversified measures to make active responses.
Meanwhile, we will actively explore and seek new business
opportunities in the financial industry and livestreaming
e-commerce, actively grasp the good opportunities for business
development, and effectively expand its business presence in
China, to realise healthy growth, thereby enhancing shareholder
value.

The Group keeps working hard and opening new territories in the
back-office services field. In addition to the organic growth of
orders from existing customers in the already penetrated industries
due to the business growth of customers, new orders have been
obtained in the operator service field and traditional financial field,
and from new leading Internet companies, and the Group has
started the implementation of new business in an organised
manner. We will continuously promote its participation in project
tendering, implementation, and construction of self-operated
contact centres to provide personnel, sites, and other special
supports for new orders to achieve revenue and profit
contribution.
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In terms of Internet marketing, the Group continues to expand its
presence in the field of live e-commerce and digital marketing
services, and gets fully integrated with its existing Internet
marketing promotion capabilities and experience. In exploring the
integration of quality and effectiveness, the Group has established
the livestreaming service framework from goods selection to
delivery and from store operation to livestreaming promotion in
line with marketing trends. It will establish presence in the field of
local lifestyle and cross-border e-commerce businesses while
always striving to achieve the integration of quality and
effectiveness. Furthermore, the Group has acquired several service
clients. It is working on deeper integration of its established digital
marketing service capabilities with the new consumption
scenarios, creating a healthier ecology and enhancing its service
capabilities to ensure that the Group will have more confidence
and strength in weathering economic cycles and dealing with
external impacts.

APPRECIATION

We would like to take this opportunity to sincerely thank the
management members of the Board and all employees of the
Group for their efforts and contributions to the promotion of the
development of the Group in the past year. We also extend our
sincere thanks to our Shareholders and partners for their
continued support and trust. At the same time, | would like to
express my sincere gratitude for the valuable advice, guidance and
support provided by other relevant organizations.

By Order of the Board

QIU Xiaojian
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. QIU Xiaojian, aged 38, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company in February 2023. Mr. QIU is also the
Chairman of the Board, the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and a
member of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”). He also holds several directorships
in certain other subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. QIU has been serving as the director of Guolian Fund
Management Co.,Ltd. (Bl Bt & © & 12 B R A 7)) since 5 May
2023 and the director of Hubei Mailyard Share Co., Ltd.* (#1b3
MBI B R A R]), a company whose shares were listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600107), since May 2020
(re-designated as the non-independent director on 25 October
2022), the president of Zhonghai Shengrong (Beijing) Capital
Management Group Co., Ltd.* (FIERE (It ) EAEIRERF
R 2 7l) (“Zhonghai Shengrong”) since July 2020 and the co-
chairman of Zhongzhi Capital Management Co., Ltd.* (F{EE A
& 12 B B A &) since December 2022. Prior to that, Mr. QIU
worked as the chief financial officer in Zhonghai Shengrong from
January 2019 to July 2020, the chief financial officer in Zhongtai
Chuangzhan Holdings Co., Ltd.* (Fh Z= &l E 4% I A R A 7))
("Zhongtai Chuangzhan”) from March 2016 to December 2018,
the general manager of Financial Operations Center in Zhongtai
Chuangzhan from December 2014 to March 2016, the deputy
general manager of Financial Operations Center in Zhongtai
Chuangzhan from December 2013 to December 2014, the senior
audit manager of Program Audit Centre in Zhongzhi Enterprise
Group* (7 18 & 2 % @) ("ZEG") from July 2013 to December
2013, the senior investment manager of Financial Innovation
Department in ZEG from January 2013 to July 2013 and the
assistant manager of KPMG Huazhen LLP from September 2008
to January 2013. Mr. QIU graduated from Renmin University of
China with a bachelor’s degree of Economics in June 2008.

*  For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. HU Shilong, aged 42, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in November 2023. Mr. HU is also the chief
executive officer of the Company. He also holds several
directorships in certain other subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. HU is the sole director of NINEGO Corporation, an existing
shareholder of the Company holding approximately 4.45%
shareholding interest in the Company. He is also a shareholder
holding approximately 32.91% shareholding interest in Dalian
Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.* (RiE&ZEmERERGERA
A]) ("DaLian Kingwisoft”). He joined Dalian Kingwisoft in January
2014 and has acted as the legal representative since October
2015. Prior to joining DaLian Kingwisoft, Mr. HU served as the
manager of operating centre of Shanghai Hewlett-Packard Co.,
Ltd. (Dalian Branch)* (L8 B EBER A G (KE DR F)) from
July 2004 to September 2008. From September 2008 to
November 2013, Mr. HU served as the China regional sales
director of Neusoft Cloud Technology Co., Ltd.* (SREIERI AR
2 a]) (previously known as Neusoft IT Service Co., Ltd.* (R#{z
BEMRBAERRR)).

In 2019, Mr. HU was included as a scientific and technological
innovation and entrepreneurship talent in the Innovative Talents
Promotion Program of the Ministry of Science and Technology of
the People’s Republic of China. Mr. HU was honoured as an
Excellent Entrepreneur in Liaoning Province in 2020 and one of
the 20th anniversary Outstanding Entrepreneur in Liaoning'’s
Software Industry. In 2022, Mr. HU was honoured as a leading
talent in China’s digital services and service outsourcing, and a
high-level talent (leading talent) in Dalian city. He has more than a
decade of marketing and management experience in multinational
IT companies. Mr. HU obtained his bachelor’s degree in Japanese
from Liaoning Normal University in 2004.

*  For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. LI Xiang, aged 35, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company in February 2023. Mr. LI is also an authorized
representative of the Company. He also holds several directorships
in certain other subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. LI has been serving as the deputy general manager of
Investment Department in Zhonghai Shengrong from January
2017 to February 2023. Prior to that, Mr. LI worked as the deputy
manager of Corporate Business Department in Industrial Bank
Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Branch* (B X IRTTA M A R 2 RIRYID 1T)
from April 2015 to January 2017. Mr. LI graduated from Harbin
Institute of Technology with a bachelor’s degree of Electrical
Engineering & Automation in July 2012. He also received a
master’s degree in Electrical and Electronic Engineering from the
University of Hong Kong in November 2014.

Ms. ZHOU Fang, aged 40, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in November 2023.

Ms. ZHOU is interested in 113,560,919 shares of the Company
through FUNGHWA Ltd. ("FUNGHWA"), and is holding
approximately 9.47% shareholding interest in DaLian Kingwisoft.
She has been the president of Dalian Kingwisoft since November
2013. Prior to joining DaLian Kingwisoft, Ms. ZHOU served as the
assistant to the China regional sales director of Neusoft Cloud
Technology Co., Ltd.* (REERHLEBR A A]) (previously known
as Neusoft IT Service Co., Ltd.* (REXE M RE AR A 7))
from December 2009 to December 2013. From May 2007 to
December 2009, Ms. ZHOU served as the head of business
department of Dalian First HITE.Enterprise H.R. Service Co., Ltd.*
(RERNBPFRTASTEREEABRLQF]). Ms. ZHOU obtained
her Executive MBA from Guanghua School of Management, Peking
University in 2021. Ms. ZHOU was honoured with the title of
Excellent Entrepreneur of Dalian Software and Information
Technology Service Industry in 2023.

*  For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors

Ms. LIU Xiaochen, aged 42, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company in February 2024. Ms. LIU is also a
director, legal representative or manager of certain subsidiaries of
the Group.

Since May 2016 to date, Ms. LIU has been the vice president and
senior vice president of Dalian Kingwisoft. From July 2014 to April
2016, she served as the general manager of the ITO business
division of Dalian Kingwisoft. From March 2009 to June 2014, she
served as a senior sales manager and consultant of Neusoft Cloud
Technology Co., Ltd. From January 2005 to March 2009, she
served as a senior marketing specialist at Shanghai HEWLETT-
PACKARD Co., Ltd.

Mr. XU Gang, aged 52, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company in February 2024. Mr. XU is also a director of Dalian
Kingwisoft of the Group, and holds positions of director, legal
representative or manager of other certain subsidiaries of the
Group.

Since March 2016 to date, Mr. XU has been the general manager
of the CS business division and the senior vice president of Dalian
Kingwisoft. From October 2005 to February 2016, he served as an
operation director of the BPO business division of Yih Dar
Technologies Co., Ltd. From May 2003 to September 2005, he
worked in the BPO operation team of Dalian Fanrun
Communication System Co. Ltd.* (KiEZHBERABRAT).
From July 1994 to July 2002, he served as the sales team leader
and technical director of Nidec Dalian Co. Ltd.* (A ZNEEAEHR
[ /NCIDE

Mr. WANG Rui, aged 44, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in February 2024. Mr. WANG is also a director,
legal representative or manager of certain subsidiaries of the
Group.

Since June 2016 to date, Mr. WANG has been the general
manager of Chengdu Kingwisoft and senior vice president of
Dalian Kingwisoft. From February 2010 to May 2016, he served as
a sales director and deputy general manager of Sichuan Baihe
Guoli Information Network Co., Ltd.

*  For identification purposes only

& 35t Al e

Z/NRL L 4255 0 FA2024F2 REZTAARRD
AMMITES - Sl L M AAREEE THIE QA
MEE  AERRALLRE -

2+ H2016F5 AR SHEIERESZFBLIE -
SRR - B2014F7 BE2016F 48 » HiE
FRESEITOE R BICIE - B2009E3 8%
2014F6 A HIEARRERHEBERA G =R
EAEIE - AR - 8200591 HE2009F3 A -
BRELBELEERAFTSREHER -

BEIELE 5285  N2024F2 AESEAEARAT
MMITES - RAEENALAEERESEEER
EAXAEBEMETHBARNES  ZEREX
ASAEHE o

BREEB2016F3AESHERESCECSEELE
LB m R EE - B2005F 10 4 2201642
A HIEEEEEMEINT AR A FBPO S X IBE
EHAES - §2003F 5 HAE2005F9 A ¢ IAEKNE
CHEBERRBRATBPOELER TIE B
1994F 7 AZ=2002F 7 A - HEMEAAEEKNE
ARAFEBAR  RMTEE-

FEELE 4457 TN202452 AESEAREART
MEITESE - TEENMALEES THB AR
BEEAERRAZLE -

THRAEE2016F6 AZSEERASEREER
KBS ESHEEE - 201052 AF20164F5 A -
HEADIMEEBEFEMERBRAFHEBE -
B4R 4838 o

25



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> £ 8} 45 45 [ e 45 A PR A ]

2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT 4E $&

Biographical Details of Directors

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, aged 70, joined the Group in June
2016 as an independent non-executive director of the Company,
the chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) and a member of the Nomination Committee.

Mr. MARKSCHEID is managing partner at Aerion Capital, LLC. He
is currently an independent director of JinkoSolar Holdings
Limited, Tristar Acquisition, Four Leaf Acquisition, Richtech
Robotics and Monterey Capital Acquisition Corporation. Richtech
Robotics, Tristar Acquisition, Four Leaf Acqusition and Monterey
Capital Acquisition Corporation are listed on the Nasdaqg Stock
Exchange (“NASDAQ"), while Jinko Solar Holdings Limited is listed
on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”). Mr. MARKSCHEID
also served as a director for China Integrated Energy Corporation
(formerly a NASDAQ listed company) and China Mingyang Wind
Power Group Co., Ltd. (a former NYSE listed company). He was
also a trustee of Princeton in Asia. From 1998 to 2006, Mr.
MARKSCHEID worked for GE Capital (“GE"). During his tenure at
GE, he led GE's business development efforts in China and Asia
Pacific, primarily acquisitions and direct investments. Before
joining GE, Mr. MARKSCHEID worked at Boston Consulting Group
throughout Asia. Mr. MARKSCHEID has worked in London,
Chicago, New York, Hong Kong and Beijing for ten years with
commercial banks Chase Bank and First National Bank of Chicago,
and has many years of professional experience in the financial
services industry. Mr. MARKSCHEID received his Bachelor of Arts
degree from Princeton University in 1976, his Master of
International Affairs degree from Johns Hopkins University in 1980
and Master of Business Administration from Columbia University
in 1991.
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. ZHANG Weidong, aged 59, joined the Group in July 2016 as
an independent non-executive director of the Company, the
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.

Mr. ZHANG is currently a founding partner and president of Alpha
Win Capital Limited. He was the executive director of OP Financial
Investments Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 01140) and a partner of Oriental Patron Financial
Group primarily responsible for private equity investments. Mr.
ZHANG has over 14 years of experience in the operation and
management of commercial banking, during which he worked in
the international business department of the Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China Limited (“ICBC") with final position
level as deputy general manager of department, including 3 years
in ICBC Almaty Branch, where he was in charge of treasury, credit
lending and office operations. Moreover, Mr. ZHANG has 12 years
of investment banking experience, served as executive director of
ICEA Finance Group (the investment banking arm of ICBC) and
managing director of Alpha Alliance Finance Holdings, responsible
for corporate finance and sales department respectively. He is also
an independent non-executive Director of Tianjin Port
Development Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 03382) whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and founding
partner and president of Alpha Win Capital Limited. Mr. ZHANG
holds a master degree from Renmin University in Economics, a
diploma of Programme for Management Development of Harvard
Business School and held a fellowship from Columbia University in
New York.
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Mr. ZENG Liang, aged 50, joined the Group in April 2021 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company, the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.

Mr. ZENG is a well-known Internet entrepreneur and angel
investor. He has extensive experience in strategic planning,
business development and operation management in industries
such as digital marketing, mobile Internet and artificial intelligence
applications. Mr. ZENG served as senior vice president of Kingdee
International Software Group Company Limited from 2003 to
2010. He worked for Microsoft as vice president of Greater China
Region from 2010 to 2013 and was responsible for the
development of government, education and medical industries in
the region. From 2013 to 2017, he held several executive positions
including vice president of Baidu Inc. and general manager of
Baidu Nuomi. Mr. ZENG obtained Master of Science both in
Management and in Engineering from Georgia Institute of
Technology in USA. In addition, he holds another Master of
Science in Engineering degree from Tsinghua University in Beijing.

Mr. WANG Li, aged 39, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company in October 2022. Mr. WANG is
a registered lawyer in the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. WANG has been serving as a managing partner and an
executive director of Beijing Qincheng Consulting Service
Company Limited* (1t 53R E5 ARE AR A ) since September
2019, where he is fully responsible for the operation of the
company. Prior to that, he worked as the deputy general manager
of the human resources centre of Beijing Wanda Cultural Industry
Group Co., Ltd.* (b R&EXLEXSEBRAF]) from August
2015 to August 2019, the secretary of the General Office and the
deputy researcher of Department of Personnel and Education of
Ministry of Transport of the People’s Republic of China from July
2011 to July 2015, and an assistant lawyer of Haiwen & Partners
(Beijing Office) from September 2010 to June 2011. Mr. WANG
obtained a bachelor’s degree of science in atmospheric sciences
from Nanjing University in 2007 and received a master’s degree in
law from Peking University in 2011.

*  For identification purposes only
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in investment holding,
provision of back-office services (primarily provision of customer
service solutions, and setting up of contact service systems and
centres), comprehensive marketing and agency services and data
centre services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Chapter 622
of the laws of Hong Kong has been covered in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section as well as this Directors’ Report
of this annual report. Risk disclosure sections that follow hereafter
should be read in conjunction with the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements. These form part of this directors’ report.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Compliance Risk

Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group,
as a client service outsourcer, will obtain a large amount of
personal information from clients. According to the contracts
signed between the Company and clients and in compliance with
the Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Regulations on the Protection of Personal Information of
Telecommunications and Internet Users, the Group is responsible
for keeping all relevant information confidential.
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Directors’ Report
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Although the Company has implemented strict internal control
procedures to ensure the security and confidentiality of the
database, it cannot guarantee that the personal information of
clients will not be leaked or stolen. Leakage of confidential
information due to employee errors will expose the Group to
claims from clients. At the same time, in the unfortunate event of
leakage of client information, the worst thing is that existing or
potential clients may lose confidence in the Group’s ability to keep
information confidential, which will have a negative impact on the
Group's corporate image and market position in the industry.

The Company’s Awareness of Risks and the Measures
It Has Taken

The Group takes quite strict measures to ensure information
confidentiality, in order to minimise the risk of information
leakage.

The contracts signed between the Company and clients include
confidentiality clauses. It needs to strictly keep project information
confidential in accordance with the contract terms. Once a new
project is established and the Company has signed a contract with
the client, only authorised employees have access to the
information, and other employees is not allowed to access relevant
project information. Service contracts are sent to an independent
file room for safekeeping by a designated person. In general,
service contracts cannot be taken out. If a relevant employee
needs to check the contracts, he/she needs the approval of the
relevant department head. A person shall record the lending of
the contracts. Employees cannot take away confidential
information without authorisation.

In addition, all employees are required to sign a confidentiality
agreement when joining the Company to prohibit unauthorised
disclosure of confidential information of the Company. In case of
any violation, the employee involved will be held liable for legal
and financial consequences.

The Company has been certified for its information security
system, and has passed the annual review. During the financial
year, the Group has not found any leakage of confidential client
information. The Group attaches great importance to and abides
by the terms of the confidentiality agreement to ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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Each employee must “punch in and out”. The apps or mini
programmes in the smartphone are used to strengthen employees’
whereabouts record, with a view to reducing the risk of leakage
of confidential information.

The Group has also obtained the ISO 27001 Information Security
Management System Certification.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Please refer “Contractual Arrangements — Risks
Relating to the Contractual Arrangements” from pages 47 to 48
of this report for details.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group's policies and practices are environmentally friendly. To
help conserve the environment, the management has
implemented green office practices and practice of recycling and
reducing consumption of resources. The Group commits to
maintain awareness within the Group of the responsibility of the
Group and its employees to ensure protection of the environment.
For example, purchasing the environmentally preferable products
with reputable certifications or labels, transmission of bulk
documents through electronic means, marking up of documents
electronically rather than using printed version, double-sided black
& white printing, recycling of printed papers and envelops, and
switching off lights and air-conditioning after working/non-office
hours, public holidays.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations is a cornerstone of
operating the businesses of the Group. Changes in laws, rules,
regulations and enforcement practices may constantly pose
challenges to the operation of the Group. Amongst others, the
Group operates within the confine of the relevant company laws
in Hong Kong, Cayman Islands, British Virgin Islands and The
People’s Republic of China, as well as under the GEM Listing Rules
and the Securities Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of
Hong Kong (“SFO").
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The Group has also adopted a whistleblowing policy for reporting
of wrong-doing within the Group. The whistleblowing policy can
be found in the Group’s compliance manual which is regularly
reviewed and updated as and when necessary.

Key relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders

The Group has developed and implemented a remuneration
structure which is a key for the Group to attract and retain the
best talents. Details of emolument policy and employee benefits
are set out in the section headed “Employees and remuneration
policies” under “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report. There have been no material interruptions to
operations nor any material labour disputes to date. In addition,
the Group encourages and supports employees to attend courses,
seminars and workshops that are relevant to their jobs to obtain
up-skills so as to keep them challenged and engaged as well as
assist the Group’s sustainable business success.

The Group has maintained productive relationships with its
customers, investees, co-investors and suppliers. With its
professional board, company website, financial reports and the
annual general meeting, the Group has significantly improved its
transparency and communication with its shareholders. The
controlling shareholder has also been very supportive and
resourceful in growing the business and mindful of all
shareholders’ interests to see the Company succeed.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of
the Group as at 31 March 2024 are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 92 to 101 of this annual report.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy in June 2019 (the
“Dividend Policy”). The declaration, form, frequency and amount
of dividend paid by the Company must be in accordance with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”). The
Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio. When considering dividend declaration or recommendation,
the Board shall take into account a number of factors, including
but not limited to the Group’s business condition and strategy,
capital requirement; and earnings, financial and cash flow
position, and distributable reserves.
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Having considered the factors stated in the Dividend Policy
adopted by the Company, the Board does not recommend the
payment of a dividend for the Year (2023: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 9 August 2024 to Wednesday, 14 August 2024 (both days
inclusive) for the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM"). During which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all completed transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged
with the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Thursday, 8 August 2024.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the property and equipment of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders comprising share premium account
and accumulated loss amounted to approximately RMB96.3
million (31 March 2023: RMB390.8 million). Details of the
Company’s distributable reserves as at 31 March 2024 are set out
in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and as at the date of this report are
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. QIU Xiaojian (Chairman)

Mr. HU Shilong (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 7 November 2023)

Mr. LI Xiang

Ms. ZHOU Fang (appointed on 7 November 2023)

Ms. LIU Xiaochen (appointed on 8 February 2024)

Mr. XU Gang (appointed on 8 February 2024)

Mr. WANG Rui (appointed on 8 February 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID

Mr. ZHANG Weidong

Mr. ZENG Liang

Mr. WANG Li

Biographical details of the Directors currently in service are set out
on pages 22 to 28 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Group which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS EEEREE

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, change in  iR# GEM MR AIZE 17.50AMN 1§ - EFERIEE

information of Directors are set out below: FHyT -

Name of Director Details of change

E=pA BEBHE

Mr. QIU Has been a director of Guolian Fund Management Company Limited since 5 May
2023

EBSEE B20235 A5 AEEEBESERERARNES

ZHANG Weidong Has been a founding partner and president of Alpha Win Capital Limited since
January 2021

SREBTR 8202151 FEETRERERNERARAIBE B AFRER

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Has been the managing partner of Tristar Acquisition, Four Leaf Acquisition,
Richtech Robotics since August 2023, April 2023 and October 2023, respectively

Stephen MARKSCHEID %t 4 B 2023 4 8 A #& (£ Tristar Acquisition M B2 & % A + B2023F 4 A #E EFour
Leaf Acquisition I BEIZA R A + B 20234 10 A ¥E(E Richtech Robotics K EIE &
BA

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION TR E IR

The Articles of Association provide that Directors shall be entitled 4% ERAMANRT - EFFRMEEEHEBF K
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all ¥ EENERDERFA (TR BRI E) FE
losses or liabilities incurred or sustained in defending any {TM#MBBXEH — BRI EEREAR LT
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given EEHRESFHEHE - RAFERN  ARAIEEREE
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. The Company has ERE - AAEEERIEHEZRE -
maintained liability insurance to provide appropriate cover for the

directors of the Group during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong
("SFO™)) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Long positions in share of the Company

EERESTHRAEBREAQRHEM
ﬁ%&lm&ﬁ HEROREEE
':F'H’g*gé&/ﬁ)a

MR2024F3A31H  ARRIEERESTHRAR
JMK RIS HE B EE (E& R BB EANES71E
FHREEERN(FEHRBEED])EXVER) Eﬁ

T%Eﬂﬂxf - B Sk EREE EP%%E/JE'JF
NEREEHIEXVESE T MBS D BT AN

B A (BREEREE %&Hﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬂ*ﬁﬁaﬂxﬁ%ﬁ
RBIREREANERIORR) R SORE - X
AARIERE 75 N BB 15101 36 352 IR AC SR E R IR U PR
PISC TR ‘JZ/JETJ%GEI\/IJ:m%Eﬁ'JﬁF%%%iE
TREH X HMES.46 E 5.67 M A& AR A ) Kbk
RFTHE S FORBIAT -

RAEXTRBOEFR

Approximate
percentage of

Name of director/ Number of shareholding
Chief executive Capacity shares held in the Company
AN B R ER
Ex BETBASHRSE 514 FERAHA BMOBEDE
Mr. Hu Shilong (“Mr. Hu") (Note 1 & 2) Interest of controlled corporation 212,640,219 4.45%
At BE SR (TRREED (Mt 1 Xk 2) ZEEENER
Interest of a party to a voting 2,865,644,243 60.00%
rights entrustment deed
RERRELZFARE—TH
e
Ms. Zhou Fang (“Ms. Zhou") (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 113,560,919 2.38%

B (TE=L ) (HE3)
Notes:
1. These shares were held directly by NINEGO Corporation (“NINEGO"). NINEGO

is held by Mr. Hu as to 40.60%. As Such, Mr. Hu is deemed to be interested
in 212,640,219 shares of the Company held by NINEGO by virtue of the SFO.
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2. On 28 August 2023, Mr. Hu, Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company Limited
("Zhongzhi Xinzhuo") and Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company Limited (“Kang
Bang (HK)") entered into a voting rights entrustment deed, pursuant to which
each of Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and Kang Bang (HK) has entrusted the voting
rights over all of its 2,409,823,718 shares of the Company and 455,820,525
shares of the Company respectively to Mr. Hu. As such, Mr. Hu is deemed to
be interested in an aggregate of 2,865,644,243 shares of the Company held
by Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and Kang Bang (HK) by virtue of the SFO.

3. These shares were held directly by FUNGHWA Ltd. (“FUNGHWA").
FUNGHWA is held by Ms. Zhou as to 100%. As Such, Ms. Zhou is deemed to
be interested in 113,560,919 shares of the Company held by FUNGHWA by
virtue of the SFO.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group:
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Long positions in share of the Company RAEDXTRGOEFE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
EARD B RER
BRREBHH 14 FERGOEE BHOBEDL
Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company Beneficial owner 2,409,823,718 50.46%
Limited (“Zhongzhi Xinzhuo") (Note 1)
Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company EmHEAA
Limited ([ Zhongzhi Xinzhuo 1) (Af7E 1)
Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company Limited Beneficial owner 455,820,525 9.54%

("Kang Bang (HK)") (Note 1)
FEHEE(EE)BRRAA
(TR (EB) D (K1)

i}

R EA A

\;
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
54D B RER
BRREE HE 14 B A BHAEDE
Tian Xi Capital Company Limited Interest of controlled corporation  2,865,644,243 60.00%
("Tian Xi Capital”) (Note 1)
Tian Xi Capital Company Limited G AE R R
([Tian Xi Capitall) (#fat 1)
Zhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital Company Limited Interest of controlled corporation 2,865,644,243 60.00%
("Ze Yun Capital”) (Note 1)
Zhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital Company Limited ZESEEERE
([Ze Yun Capital ]) (Kfat 1)
Mr. XIE Zhikun* (“Mr. Xie"”) (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 2,865,644,243 60.00%
fEERSEE ([REED (K1) ZESEEER
Gfly Ltd (Note 2) Beneficial owner 437,500,000 9.16%
Gfly Ltd (FtaE2) EmBEA
LVYY Cayman Limited (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 437,500,000 9.16%
LVYY Cayman Limited (K72£2) SAEHAE AR
LVYY Holding Limited (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 437,500,000 9.16%
LVYY Holding Limited (K73 2) Rt E RS
fORRSEAER20214F 12 B 18 Bt o
Mr. Lyu Wenyang (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 437,500,000 9.16%
Lyu Wenyang 5t 4 (K7 2) ZPESEE RS
NINEGO Corporation (“NINEGQO") (Note 3) Beneficial Owner 212,640,219 4.45%
NINEGO Corporation ([ NINEGOJ) (A3t 3) EmHERA
Ms. Liu Yingying (“Ms. Liu”) (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 212,640,219 4.45%

Bl it (T8It D (AE3)

#Mr. Xie passed away on 18 December 2021.
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Notes:

1. Each of Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and Kang Bang (HK) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Tian Xi Capital. Ze Yun Capital, a company wholly-owned by
Mr. Xie, controls 100% of the voting power at general meetings of Tian Xi
Capital. As such, each of Tian Xi Capital, Ze Yun Capital and Mr. Xie is
deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 2,865,644,243 shares of the
Company held by Zhongzhi Xinzhuo and Kang Bang (HK) by virtue of the
SFO.

2. Gfly Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary of LVYY Cayman Limited. LVYY
Cayman Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of LVYY Holding Limited, a
company wholly-owned by Mr. Lyu Wenyang. As such, each of LVYY
Cayman Limited, LVYY Holding Limited and Mr. Lyu Wenyang is deemed
to be interested in 437,500,000 shares of the Company held by Gfly Ltd by
virtue of the SFO.

3. NINEGO is held by Ms. Liu as to 59.40%. As such, Ms. Liu is deemed to be
interested in 212,640,219 shares of the Company held by NINEGO by
virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company, its subsidiaries or
its ultimate holding company or any subsidiary of such ultimate
holding company a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party or were parties and in which a Director or any entities
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or in existence during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year had the
Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of
significance with the controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance been entered
into for the services provided by the controlling shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has through the Nomination Committee reviewed
the independence of each of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, Mr. ZHANG
Weidong, Mr. ZENG Liang and Mr. WANG Li who were in service
during the Year, and has received annual confirmations of their
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
These written confirmations also covered the immediate family
members (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) of each of the
independent non-executive Directors. The Company considers all
of them independent.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The transactions contemplated under the series of contractual
arrangements entered into by, among others, WFOE, Dalian
Kingwisoft, and Mr. Hu Shilong, Ms. Liu Yingying, Ms. Zhou Fang
and Changzhou Xiangjia Zhongzhou Investment Centre Limited
Partnership* (H M AFEFAIEEFR L (BRAR)) (the “Registered
Shareholders”) on 12 June 2020 (the “Contractual Arrangements”)
are non-exempt continuing connected transactions, which are
subject to reporting, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

For the purposes of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, and in
particular the definition of “connected person”, the entities we
control through the Contractual Arrangements (collectively, the
“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”), including but not limited to,
Dalian Kingwisoft, Chengdu Kingwisoft Data Services Co., Ltd.*
(FEP S 23S BUR RIS B R 2 7)), Wuhan Kingwisoft Technology
Co., Ltd.* (B E2EME B AR 2QF]), Kunshan Kingwisoft
Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (B4 Z{Z BRI AR AR,
Leshan Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.* (44L& Z /AR EGR
A7), Xiangyang Kingwisoft Internet Technology Co., Ltd.* (&[5
S EFEBRF AR AA), Qingdao Nanyou Information
Technology Co., Ltd.* (EESEBEERMBR AT, formerly
known as 1t REHEZ BEH T AR A7), Dalian Kingwisoft
Internet Service Outsourcing Co., Ltd.* (KB4 SR E M4 ARFE N
BAMR A7), Mianyang Kingwisoft Internet Service Co,. Ltd.*
(45 EEBARBE AR QA and Dalian Zhiyin Internet
Technology Co., Ltd.* KB IR B B AT AR A R), are treated
as the Company’s subsidiaries, and their directors, chief executives
or substantial shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
and their respective associates are treated as the Company’'s
connected persons.

* for identification purpose only
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Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements

As advised by the PRC legal advisor, in accordance with the
Telecommunication Regulations of the PRC ((HF & A R £ FIEE
{Z1&51)) promulgated on 25 September 2000, and most recently
amended on 6 February 2016, by the State Council of the PRC (the
“Telecommunication Regulations”), a service provider is required
to obtain a value-added telecommunication business operating
license ((IZ{EEBZELL LT AIE)) (“VATS Licence”) from the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC (the
“MIIT") or its authorised local counterpart before commencing the
provision of value-added telecommunication services ("VAT
Services”). Further, under the Catalogue of Telecommunication
Business ({ & 15 ¥ 7 % 8 B £%)) promulgated on 28 December
2015, and most recently amended on 6 June 2019, by MIIT (the
“Telecommunication Catalogue”), call centre services is a type of
VAT Services, thus any provider of call centre services in China is
required to obtain a VATS Licence before commencing its
operation.

In accordance with the Telecommunication Catalogue:

(i) call centre services mean business consultation, information
consultation and data query services regarding an entity for
the end-users of such entity through public communication
network by: (a) utilising call centre system which is
connected to public communication network or the Internet;
(b) utilising database technology; and (c) establishing
information base through information collection, processing
and storage;

(i) users of call centre services may: (a) enter into a call centre
system and gain access to the database of the call centre
system through multiple channels such as telephone, fax,
mobile communication terminals and computer terminals;
and (b) receive information consultation services by multiple
means such as voice, fax, email and text messages; and

(i) call centre services also include leasing of call centre system
and workstations of call centre operators.
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Furthermore, under the Regulations for the Administration of
Foreign-Invested Telecommunication Enterprises ( {4MEIRE E(Z
PEEEFTF) ) promulgated on 11 December 2001, and
amended on 10 September 2008, 6 February 2016, 29 March
2022, by the State Council (the "FITE Regulations”) and the
Administrative Measures for Telecommunication Business
Operating Permit ( ( BISFEBHLCETT A EIRNE) ) promulgated
on 3 July 2017 by MIIT (the “Telecommunication Measures”):

(i)  the establishment of a foreign-invested telecommunication
enterprise which engages in the provision of any VAT
Services in China must be approved by the MIIT or its
authorised local counterparts;

(i)  the holder of a VATS Licence is required to obtain the
approval of the MIIT and/or its authorised local counterparts
if there is any change to the shareholders of such holder;
and

(iii)  prior to the effective date of the latest amendments to the
FITE Regulations, which was on 1 May 2022, the main
foreign investor in a foreign-invested telecommunication
enterprise which engages in the provision of VAT Services
must satisfy the Qualification Requirement of VATS,
including, a proven track record of good performance, and
operating experience, in carrying on value-added
telecommunication business.

On 29 March 2022, the State Council issued the Decision to
Amend and Abolish Certain Administrative Regulations (the “2022
Decision”), which makes amendments to the FITE Regulations.
The amendments include, among others, removing the good
performance and operating experience for main foreign investors
in a foreign-invested telecommunication enterprise which
conducting VAT Services as set out in the FITE Regulations.
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As advised by the PRC legal advisor, the business operated by the
Dalian Kingwisoft Group (the “Dalian Kingwisoft Business”),
comprising the back-office services (primarily provision of
customer service solutions and setting up of contact service system
and centres), can be further categorised into:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

business consultation, information consultation and data
query services on behalf of an entity for the customers of
such entity (such as general enquiry hotlines, customer
service hotlines, post-sale follow-up services and customer
satisfaction surveys) by utilising call centre system (which is
connected to public communication network or the Internet)
and/or database technology (the “Contact Services”);

information processing, business consultation and other
customised business process outsourcing services on behalf
of an entity for the customers of such entity (such as order
processing, audio and video review and image processing)
by utilising call centre system (which is connected to public
communication network or the Internet) and/or database
technology (the “Call Center-related BPO Services”); and

designing, installing, testing and trial-testing contact service
systems and centres which is connected to public
communication network or the Internet for an entity, and
providing software and hardware support for such contact
service system and centres, in each case with a view to, or in
connection with, providing Contact Services on behalf of
such entity for the customers of such entity (the “Contact
Service System and Centres Set-up Services”).

As each of the Contact Services, the Call Center-related BPO
Services and the Contact Service System and Centres Set-up
Services involves the provision of services by the DaLian Kingwisoft
Group on behalf of an entity for the customers of such entity
through public communication network by:

(i)
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(i) utilising database technology; and

(i) establishing information base through information
collection, processing and storage,

the provision of the Dalian Kingwisoft Business by the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group constitutes the provision of call centre services,
one type of VAT Services, by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group.
Therefore, in accordance with the Telecommunication Regulations,
the DaLian Kingwisoft Group is required to hold VATS Licences in
order to operate the Dalian Kingwisoft Business.

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements are continuing connected transactions of our
Company and are subject to reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Qualification Requirements

In addition to restrictions on foreign ownership, prior to the
effective date of the latest amendments to the FITE Regulations,
which was on 1 May 2022, there are also regulatory requirements
on the experience and operations of a foreign investor who intends
to operate a value-added telecommunications business in the PRC.
As at the date of this report, the MIIT retains considerable discretion
in granting approval of applications for establishing foreign-invested
value-added telecommunications enterprises.
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Effects and Actions Under Taken to Comply with
the Qualification Requirements

The Group has been gradually building up the track record of
overseas VAT Services operations by undertaking the following
steps:

(i) As at the date of this report, the Group has been rewarded
through its cooperation with its international partners, and
commenced working on, certain projects to provide offshore
customer support services in foreign languages, including
Japanese and English. The Group plans to continue
expanding its offshore customer support services business
involving foreign languages in overseas markets;

(i) The Group is strengthening its close cooperation relationship
with its international partners, such as SoftBank, with the
aim of gradually exploring business opportunities and
developing its customer base overseas. The Group also plans
to build up its track record of overseas VAT Services
operation by obtaining overseas projects through
collaboration between its onshore and offshore entities; and

(i) It is the Group’s strategy to identify suitable offshore
companies with proper value-added telecommunications
services operation and acquire a controlling stake in such
companies in future, in order to build up its track record of
overseas VAT Services operation.

We will continue to actively manage the operation of the Group
and procure the Group to continue carrying out the above steps
for the purpose of being qualified, as early as possible, to acquire
the entire shareholding in DaLian Kingwisoft when the relevant
PRC Laws and authorities allow foreign investors to invest and
hold interest in enterprises which engage in VAT Services.
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In addition, the Group has taken the following steps with a view
to gradually building up its track record of overseas VAT Services
operations, demonstrating compliance with the Qualification
Requirement of VATS, and being qualified, as early as possible, to
acquire the entire equity interest in the registered capital of DaLian
Kingwisoft when there is clear guidance and interpretation on the
Qualification Requirement of VATS under applicable PRC Laws,
regulations and rules and when, as a matter of regulatory policy
and practice, the MIIT and its authorised local counterparts will
accept and approve applications by the members of the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group which engage in the provision of VAT Services
to be converted into foreign invested telecommunication
enterprises which engage in the provision of VAT Services:

(i) the Group is in the process of registering trademarks outside
the PRC for the purpose of promoting VAT Services
operations outside the PRC;

(i) the Group has registered one domain name outside the PRC
for the purpose of introducing VAT Services operations
outside the PRC to users outside the PRC; and

(i) the Group has obtained a local phone number in Hong
Kong for the purpose of promoting VAT Services operations
outside the PRC.

We will, under the guidance of the PRC legal advisor, make
periodic enquiries with the relevant PRC governmental authorities
to understand whether there is any new regulatory development
and continuously assess whether we meet the requirements
imposed by PRC government authorities, if applicable.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of these risks are set out on pages
160 to 167 of the Circular.

o Substantial uncertainties and restrictions exist with respect
to the interpretation and application of PRC laws and
regulations relating to the provision of contact services in
China.
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We rely on Contractual Arrangements with the DalLian
Kingwisoft Group and its shareholders for its business
operations, which may not be as effective as direct
ownership in providing operational control.

Any failure by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group or its
shareholders to perform their obligations under the
Contractual Arrangements would have a material adverse
effect on our business, and the domestic shareholder may
have potential conflicts of interest with us.

Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the
PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be imposed,
which could negatively affect our financial condition and the
value of the investment.

We conduct the Dalian Kingwisoft Business in the PRC
through the Dalian Kingwisoft Group by way of the
Contractual Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the
Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under
PRC laws.

Our exercise of the option to acquire equity ownership and
assets of the Dalian Kingwisoft Group may subject to
certain limitation and we may need to expend significant
resources to acquire all or part of the equity interests in the
DaLian Kingwisoft Group from the respective equity holders.

The WFOE may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held
by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group that are material to the
operation of certain portions of its business if the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group goes bankrupt or become subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the
interpretation and implementation of the PRC Foreign
Investment Law and how it may impact the viability of our
current corporate structure, corporate governance and
business operations.
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Contractual Arrangements in Place

A brief description of the major terms of the Contractual
Arrangements which were in place during the Year is as follows:

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement was entered into
between the WFOE and Dalian Kingwisoft on 12 June 2020,
pursuant to which DaLian Kingwisoft agrees to engage the WFOE
as its exclusive provider of business support, technical and
consulting services, including technical services, network support,
business consultation, intellectual property licensing, equipment
leasing, market consultancy, system integration, product research
and development and system maintenance, in exchange for
service fees. Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
the service fees, subject to the WFOE's adjustment, are equal to
the net profit of DalLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries. The WFOE
may adjust the service fees at its sole discretion, after taking into
account certain factors, including but not limited to the deduction
of necessary costs, expenses, taxes and other statutory
contribution for the corresponding fiscal year, and may also
include accumulated losses of Dalian Kingwisoft and its
subsidiaries from previous financial periods. The service fees shall
be transferred to the designated account of the WFOE upon
issuance of payment notification by the WFOE. The WFOE enjoys
the entire economic benefits derived from the businesses of
Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries, and bears relevant risks of
Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries. If DaLian Kingwisoft runs
into financial deficit or suffers severe operation difficulties, the
WEFOE will provide financial support to DaLian Kingwisoft.

In line with the services it provides, the WFOE has employed
relevant personnel primarily providing consulting and technical
services to Dalian Kingwisoft. In addition, the WFOE's primary
operating assets will be IT facilities, network and equipment,
which support its provision of services to Dalian Kingwisoft under
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement. The WFOE and its
subsidiaries also engage in comprehensive marketing and agency
services and data centre services businesses.
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Both the WFOE and Dalian Kingwisoft have internal control
measures in place, which mainly include measures with respect to
accounts payables and receivables, which require the review and
approval by the relevant department(s) of the WFOE and DalLian
Kingwisoft to confirm the services provided by the WFOE and
received by Dalian Kingwisoft. Further, to ensure that the WFOE
will not engage in the Dalian Kingwisoft Business or any other
restricted business in the PRC, the WFOE has set up an internal
control procedure, which requires the senior staff member of
relevant departments to review the business to be entered into by
the WFOE.

Intellectual property rights are developed during the normal
course of business of Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries.
Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the
WEFOE will have the exclusive and proprietary rights to all
intellectual properties developed by Dalian Kingwisoft and its
subsidiaries, given that the WFOE provides consultation services to
DalLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries during the term of the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement. Part of the economic
benefits generated by Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries will
be intellectual properties developed or created during the normal
business operation of DaLian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries.
Though it is not intended to transfer any existing intellectual
property rights held by Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE, Dalian
Kingwisoft is required under the Contractual Arrangements to
obtain the WFOE's prior written consent before it transfers,
assigns or disposes of any of the intellectual properties to any third

party.
The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement is for an initial

term of ten years and shall be automatically extended upon expiry
unless the WFOE confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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Exclusive Call Option Agreement

The Exclusive Call Option Agreement was entered into by and
among the WFOE, the Registered Shareholders and Dalian
Kingwisoft on 12 June 2020, pursuant to which the WFOE (or
KingNine Holdings Limited or any subsidiary of KingNine Holdings
Limited , the “designee”) has been granted an irrevocable and
exclusive right to purchase all of the shares in and/or assets of
Dalian Kingwisoft at a nominal price, unless the relevant
government authorities or the PRC Laws request that another
amount be used as the purchase price, in which case the purchase
price shall be the lowest amount under such request. Subject to
relevant PRC Laws and regulations, the Registered Shareholders
and/or Dalian Kingwisoft shall return any amount of purchase
price they have received to the WFOE. At the WFOE's request, the
Registered Shareholders and/or DaLian Kingwisoft will promptly
and unconditionally transfer their respective shareholding in and/
or the relevant assets of Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE (or its
designee) after the WFOE exercises its call option. The Exclusive
Call Option Agreement is for an initial term of ten years and shall
be automatically extended upon expiry unless the WFOE confirms
a new renewal term in writing.

In order to prevent the flow of the relevant assets and value of
Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries to the Registered
Shareholders, during the term of the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement, Dalian Kingwisoft is not allowed to, and shall procure
its subsidiaries not to, sell, transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose
of any of its assets (exceeding the value of RMB1 million) without
the prior written consent of the WFOE. In addition, Dalian
Kingwisoft is not allowed to, and shall procure its subsidiaries not
to, make any distributions to its shareholder(s) without prior
written consent of the WFOE. In the event that the Registered
Shareholders receive any distribution from DaLian Kingwisoft and/
or its subsidiaries and subject to the PRC Laws, the Registered
Shareholders must immediately pay or transfer such distribution to
the WFOE (or its designee). If the WFOE exercises the call option
all or any part of the shareholding in and/or assets of Dalian
Kingwisoft acquired would be transferred to the WFOE, and the
benefits of the equity ownership and/or assets, as applicable,
would flow to KingNine Holdings Limited and its shareholders.
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As provided in the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, without the
prior written consent of the WFOE, Dalian Kingwisoft shall not,
and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, among other things, (i)
sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of in any manner any of its assets
of more than RMB1 million; (ii) execute any material contract for a
value more than RMB1 million, except any contracts in the
ordinary course of business and any contracts entered into with
any members of the Group; (iii) provide any loan, financial
support, pledge or guarantees in any form to any third party, or
allow any third party to create any pledge or other security interest
over its assets or equity; (iv) incur, inherit, guarantee or allow any
debt that is not incurred in the ordinary course of business of
Dalian Kingwisoft or not disclosed and consented to by the
WFOE; (v) enter into any consolidation or merger with any third
party, or acquire or invest in any third party; (vi) increase or reduce
its registered capital, or alter the structure of the registered capital
in any other manner. The Exclusive Call Option Agreement
provides that the Registered Shareholders and Dalian Kingwisoft
shall procure the subsidiaries of DalLian Kingwisoft to comply with
the above undertakings as if they are parties to the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement. Therefore, due to the relevant restrictive
provisions in the agreement, the potential adverse effect on the
WFOE and the Group in the event of any loss suffered from
Dalian Kingwisoft and/or its subsidiaries can be limited to a
certain extent. In addition, in relation to the above restrictive
provisions specified in the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the
asset disposals or value of contracts will be aggregated if such
asset disposals or value of contracts (i) are entered into by
KingNine Holdings Limited, its subsidiaries or the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group with the same party or parties; or (ii) involve the
disposal or contracts which relate to the whole or parts of the
asset or securities or interests in a company or group of
companies. Further, as advised by the PRC legal advisor, any
transfer of shares in Dalian Kingwisoft pursuant to the terms of
the Exclusive Call Option Agreement will need to be filed with
relevant government authorities upon the exercise of the call
option thereunder.
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Share Pledge Agreement

The Share Pledge Agreement was entered into by and among the
WEFOE, the Registered Shareholders and DaLian Kingwisoft on 12
June 2020, pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders pledge as
first charge all of their respective shareholding in DaLian Kingwisoft
to the WFOE as collateral security for any or all of the payments due
to the WFOE and to secure performance of their obligations under
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement. The Share
Pledge Agreement will remain in effect till the earlier of (i) all
obligation of DaLian Kingwisoft and the Registered Shareholders
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement are
performed in full; (ii) the WFOE exercises its exclusive option to
purchase the entire shareholding held by the Registered Shareholders
in DaLian Kingwisoft and/or the assets of Dalian Kingwisoft pursuant
to the terms of the Exclusive Call Option Agreement when it is
permitted to do so under the applicable PRC Laws; (iii) the WFOE
exercises its unilateral and unconditional right of termination; and (iv)
the agreement is required to be terminated in accordance with
applicable PRC Laws and regulations. In addition, under the Exclusive
Call Option Agreement, none of the Registered Shareholders may
transfer or create any encumbrance on any of their shareholding in
and the relevant assets of Dalian Kingwisoft (including any equity
interests in and relevant assets of the subsidiaries of DaLian
Kingwisoft) without the WFOE's prior written consent. Furthermore,
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the WFOE is
entitled to retain and exercise physical control of company seals and
certificates that are crucial to the daily operation of Dalian
Kingwisoft, which further strengthens the protection of the WFOE's
interests over Dalian Kingwisoft under the Contractual
Arrangements. Should an event of default (as provided in the Share
Pledge Agreement) occur, unless it is successfully resolved to the
WFOE's satisfaction within 30 days upon being notified by the WFOE,
the WFOE may demand that the Registered Shareholders and/or
Dalian Kingwisoft immediately pay all outstanding payments due
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, repay any
loans and make all other payments due to it, and/or dispose of the
pledged shareholding and use the proceeds to repay any outstanding
amount due to the WFOE. The pledges under the Share Pledge
Agreement has been duly registered with the relevant PRC authority
on 12 July 2020 pursuant to PRC Laws and regulations.
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On 16 October 2020, the Registered Shareholders entered into a
capital increase agreement pursuant to which the registered
capital of Dalian Kingwisoft was increased from RMB15,480,000
to RMB100,000,000 contributing from each of the Registered
Shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings (the “Capital
Increase”). Upon the issuance of the 84,520,000 new shares (the
“New Shares”) to the Registered Shareholders and the successful
registration of the Capital Increase, the New Shares will be fully
pledged by the Registered Shareholders as first charge of all of
their respective shareholding in DaLian Kingwisoft to the WFOE as
collateral security for any or all of the payments due to the WFOE
and to secure performance of their obligations under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option
Agreement and the Authorisation Agreement under the existing
terms of the Share Pledge Agreement.

Power of Attorney

The irrevocable Powers of Attorney have been granted by each of
the Registered Shareholders on 12 June 2020 in favour of the
WFOE pursuant to the Authorisation Agreement dated 12 June
2020 by and among the WFOE, the Registered Shareholder and
DaLian Kingwisoft, pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders
have appointed the WFOE or a director of its offshore holding
company or its/his/her successor (including a liquidator replacing
the WFOE's director) as their exclusive agent and attorney to act
on their behalf on all matters concerning Dalian Kingwisoft and
to exercise all of their rights as registered shareholders of DalLian
Kingwisoft. These rights include (i) the right to propose, convene
and attend shareholders’ meetings; (ii) the right to sell, transfer,
pledge or dispose of shares; (iii) the right to exercise shareholders’
voting rights; and (iv) the right to act as the legal representative
(chairperson), the director, supervisor, the chief executive officer
(or general manager) and other senior management members of
Dalian Kingwisoft. The authorised person is entitled to sign
minutes, file documents with the relevant companies registry and
exercise voting rights on the winding up of Dalian Kingwisoft on
behalf of the Registered Shareholders. The Registered
Shareholders have undertaken to transfer all assets obtained by
them after the winding up of Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE at
nil consideration or the lowest price permissible by the then
applicable PRC Laws and regulations. As a result of the Powers of
Attorney, the Company is able to exercise management control
over the activities that have significant impact on the economic
performance of DaLian Kingwisoft.

54

MR2020F 10816 8 BRI LIEERZ
Bt - RESZMEMEDRBA AR 15,480,000

T ZE AR 100,000,000 7T © Jh& B EA R
FERLE I R(TIBE ]) o R B0 R R T
84,520,000 & ¥t 0 ([ #rRe 0 )) Rk B L1 &
% HBROEBERELRERERGEFRRIRAE
BHREHERARESERARESENMAE RE
FHONEBECEZE B EAEEEMRE
HEMINEBECERBRERESBITNRER
(¥%A61EDS  BEXBEEBZERZEHREERET
MEEMERERR -

REE

BIBIEBELE  BLRERKESZAIT
HEFA2020F6 A 12 HMZEHE - SELKRRE
Eﬁmmieﬂuam%ﬁﬁéiihﬁTT@
HEHORESZ  Bit ZREBRECERTINEBEED
%&ﬁ%r%““im BEBRHEHEAA (B
BRIINEBECENESNETBA) EEEENS
RREEFERE  URRESERERESEHE
A SEETERTEEEARNESEELR
REFERT - ZERMNBENRZ®E ARk
FRRGEOER (HE - EE EHREE
A0 O RER 5 (i) T TR AR SRR ERE BRI + B (iv) 1E
ABRESENETRRA(ER) BF 2=
THBE (B sE) REMmaREREABITEN
T EREATBEFBLHLE - BXFIR
RHEBAREMERREAREREZEZRERNES
LERTEREE - BRRECEEBRESE
EREFEMESHETEESEERUERER
MPBAREABAHNREEREETINGBEE
- RERES  ARREARERESEKL
ERBABBEAFENENTETEEIRITHE -



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4 £ #}45% 4 B e 4y A B A 7

The Powers of Attorney also provided that, in order to avoid
potential conflicts of interest, where the Registered Shareholders
are officers or directors of KingNine, its subsidiaries or the DaLian
Kingwisoft Group, the powers of attorney are granted in favour of
other unrelated officers or directors of KingNine (the unrelated
directors of the holding company of KingNine).

The Powers of Attorney shall automatically terminate once the
WFOE (or any member of the Group other than DaLian Kingwisoft
and its subsidiaries) directly holds the entire shareholding in and/
or the entire assets of DaLian Kingwisoft permitted under the then
PRC Laws and regulations and the WFOE (or its subsidiaries) is
allowed to conduct the Dalian Kingwisoft Business under the then
PRC Laws and regulations, following which the WFOE is registered
as the sole shareholder of DaLian Kingwisoft.

Spouse Undertaking

Mr. Hu Shilong, Ms. Liu Yingying and the spouse of Ms. Zhou
Fang executed an irrevocable undertaking on 12 June 2020,
whereby they expressly and irrevocably acknowledge and
undertake that (i) any shareholding interest held by Mr. Hu, Ms.
Liu and Ms. Zhou in DaLian Kingwisoft do not fall within the scope
of their communal properties; (i) they will not have any claim on
the interests of Dalian Kingwisoft obtained through the
Contractual Arrangements in their capacity as spouse; (iii), in
relation to Ms. Zhou's spouse, he has never participated and will
not participate in the operation or management of Dalian
Kingwisoft.

For details of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the
section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Circular.

Apart from the above, there are no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced between the
Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities during the Year.
There was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements
and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for the
Year.

For the Year, none of the Contractual Arrangements has been
unwound as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of
structured contracts under the Contractual Arrangements has
been removed. As of 31 March 2024, we had not encountered
interference or encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in
operating our businesses through our Consolidated Affiliated
Entities under the Contractual Arrangements.
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We have been advised by our PRC legal advisor that the
Contractual Arrangements do not violate the relevant PRC laws
and regulations.

The revenue of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities for the Year
was amounted to approximately RMB1,240.9 million, which
accounted for approximately 100% of the Group'’s total revenue.
The net assets of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities were
approximately RMB718.1 million as at 31 March 2024.

Internal Control Measures

Our Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the
effective operation of our Group with the implementation of the
Contractual Arrangements and our compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements:

1. major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will be
submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review and
discussion on an occurrence basis;

2. our Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least
once a year;

3. our Directors undertake to provide periodic updates in our
annual reports regarding the qualification requirements as
stipulated in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements
— Qualification Requirement of VATS” in the Circular;

4. our Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in our
annual reports; and

5. our Company has engaged external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements, review the legal compliance of WFOE and
our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to deal with specific
issues or matters arising from the Contractual
Arrangements.
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The Extent to which the Contractual
Arrangements Relate to Requirements Other
than the Foreign Ownership Restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements are subject to the restrictions
as set out on pages 298 to 304 of the Circular.

Listing Rule Implications

The highest applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits
ratio) under the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
under the Contractual Arrangements were more than 5%. As
such, these transactions were subject to the reporting, annual
review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual
Review

The Hong Kong Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from (i)
fixing the term of the Contractual Arrangements for a period of
not exceeding three years pursuant to Rule 20.50 of the GEM
Listing Rules, and (ii) setting a maximum aggregate annual cap
pursuant to Rule 20.51 of the GEM Listing Rules for the service
fees payable by the Dalian Kingwisoft to the WFOE under the
Contractual Arrangements, subject to the following conditions:

(@  No Change without Independent Non-executive Directors’
Approval — No change to the Contractual Arrangements
(including with respect to any fees payable to the WFOE
thereunder) will be made without the approval of the
independent non-executive Directors.

(b)  No Change without Independent Shareholders’ Approval —
Save as described in “— Renewal and Reproduction” below,
no change to the agreements governing the Contractual
Arrangements will be made without the approval of the
Company’s Independent Shareholders. Once Independent
Shareholders’ approval of any change has been obtained,
no further announcement or approval of the Independent
Shareholders will be required under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules unless and until further changes are proposed.
The periodic reporting requirement regarding the
Contractual Arrangements in the annual reports of the
Company (as set out in “— Renewal and Reproduction”
below) will however continue to be applicable.
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Economic Benefits Flexibility — The Contractual
Arrangements shall continue to enable the Group to receive
the entire economic benefits derived by the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group through (i) the Group’s option (if and
when so allowed under the applicable PRC Laws) to acquire,
all or part of the entire shareholding in DalLian Kingwisoft
for nil consideration or the minimum amount of
consideration permitted by applicable PRC Laws and
regulations, (ii) the business structure under which the entire
profit generated by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group is
substantially retained by our Group, such that no annual cap
shall be set on the amount of service fees payable to the
WFOE by the DaLian Kingwisoft Group under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement, and (iii) the Group'’s right
to control the management and operation of, as well as, in
substance, all of the voting rights of DaLian Kingwisoft.

Renewal and Reproduction — On the basis that the
Contractual Arrangements provide an acceptable framework
for the relationship between the Company and its
subsidiaries in which the Company has direct shareholding,
on the one hand, and the DaLian Kingwisoft Group, on the
other hand, that framework may be renewed and/or
reproduced upon the expiry of the existing arrangements or
in relation to any existing or new wholly foreign owned
enterprise or operating company (including branch
company) engaging in the same business as that of the
Group which the Group might wish to establish when
justified by business expediency, without obtaining the
approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same
terms and conditions as the existing Contractual
Arrangements. The directors, chief executive or substantial
shareholders of any existing or new wholly foreign owned
enterprise or operating company (including branch
company) engaging in the same business as that of the
Group which the Group may establish will, upon renewal
and/or reproduction of the Contractual Arrangements,
however be treated as connected persons of the Company
and transactions between these connected persons and the
Company other than those under similar contractual
arrangements shall comply with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. This condition is subject to relevant PRC Laws
and regulations and approvals.

()

BEMEAETE — ARRREERER
SEBEBUTRERRAESEEBELN
RROEEN & - (VA REEE (P BE S
EREAT) BEXRTEERERLERN
ANREREBRECES SN2 EHE DK
#(NEZEBRBT - AEEELNRE
B E2EEEANZEN - Bit - ~aEnt
RETBEERBEREGAFHAEENT
SNEABECENRBESERIEFELR
RN EEEREHNESSNEERE
B NERIESE2ERORE

BEREH — ERANZE— A AR
RANEGAERBRENNBARENES
SEEZENRRRERAIRINER 55—
A RBRAE R ERR IR EFARA LA
SEE T RIER M Al 8EH BRI
SXRFRAKECEERROFTNINDBE
CEIRESZ(BREOIRAME » LAk
RAMR BB & 4% PR B R O 68 K A6k
HTABERHEH - MBARGRERL
JE o R - (EAAI3R A RO SR AN SR [ R BE AR S Y
PRt = F 5 A S B I EH RSN
BECLXIKXEEZ(BEARAR)NES
RETHRABRTIEZRRBREGNLHESR
R/ REREFRRBARTNEEAL - B
ZEMBEBATHARFZENR S (RIER
B K ZHHETTERRIN) H- T GEM AR
AIFE20EMMRTE - IIRMFAX D BEREE
RIIERARBERR -



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> £ #}- 45 45 [ e 4 A R A )

Ongoing Reporting and Approvals — the Group will disclose
details relating to the Contractual Arrangements on an
ongoing basis as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The Contractual Arrangements in place during each
financial period will be disclosed in the Company’s
annual report and accounts in accordance with the
relevant provision of the GEM Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors will review the
Contractual Arrangements annually and confirm in the
Company'’s annual report and accounts for the relevant
year that: (A) the transactions carried out during such
year have been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements,
have been operated so that the revenue generated by
the Dalian Kingwisoft Group has been substantially
retained by the WFOE; (B) no dividends or other
distributions have been made by the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the
Group; and (C) any new contracts entered into, renewed
or reproduced between the Group and the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group during the relevant financial period
under paragraph (d) above are fair and reasonable, or
advantageous, so far as the Group is concerned and in
the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

The Company’s auditors will carry out procedures in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants on the transactions carried
out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements and will
provide a letter to the Directors with a copy to the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, at least ten Business Days before
the Company bulk prints its annual report, reporting their
findings whether that the transactions carried out
pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements have received
the approval of the Directors, have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant Contractual Arrangements
and that no dividends or other distributions have been
made by the Dalian Kingwisoft Group to the holders of
its equity interest which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.
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(iv)  For the purposes of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules, and in particular the definition of “connected
person”, the Dalian Kingwisoft Group will be treated
as the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, and the
directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group and their respective associates will
be treated as the Company’s “connected persons”
(excluding for this purpose the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group). As such, transactions between these
connected persons and the Group (including for this
purpose the Dalian Kingwisoft Group), other than
those under the Contractual Arrangements, shall
comply with Chapter 20 of GEM Listing Rules.

(v)  Dalian Kingwisoft also undertakes that, for so long as
the Shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, it will provide the Group’s management
and the Company’s auditors with full access to its
relevant records for the purpose of procedures to be
carried out by the Company’s auditors on the
connected transactions.

During the Year, the Company had complied with the waiver
conditions set out by the Stock Exchange and all necessary GEM
Listing Rules requirements as required by the Stock Exchange.

Confirmations from the Independent Non-executive
Directors

Our independent non-executive Directors have confirmed that the
Contractual Arrangements for the Year to which any member of
the Group was a party were entered into by the Group:

(i)  the transactions carried out during such year have been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of
the Contractual Arrangements and have been operated so
that the revenue generated by the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities has been substantially retained by the WFOE;

(i) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group;
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(i) no new contracts were entered into, renewed or reproduced
between our Group and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
during the reporting period; and

(iv) the Contractual Arrangements are entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of our Group on
normal commercial terms and are fair, reasonable and
advantageous, so far as our Group is concerned and in the
interests of our Company and the Shareholders of our
Company as a whole.

Confirmations from the Auditor

Pursuant to Rule 20.54 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has engaged the auditor to conduct certain procedures in respect
of the transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements of the Group for the Year, in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with respect to the
transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements
during the Year:

a) the transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements have received the approval of the Board,;

b)  the disclosed continuing connected transactions were
entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
under the Contractual Arrangements governing such
transactions; and

¢)  no dividends or other distributions have been made by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

None of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted connected transaction(s) or
continuing connected transaction(s) under the GEM Listing Rules.
The following set out details of the Contractual Arrangements
which constituted continuing connected transactions under the
GEM Listing Rules.

Contractual Arrangements

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements are continuing connected transactions of the
Company and are subject to reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Please refer “Contractual
Arrangements” from pages 41 to 61 of this report for details.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the above continuing connected transactions have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii)
according to the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Directors are not aware of any related party transactions
disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements that
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions of the Group, nor are there any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions that require to
be disclosed in this annual report under the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements,
where applicable, in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors, controlling shareholder of
the Company or their respective close associates had any direct or
indirect interest in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable Donations

During the Year, charitable donations made by the Group
amounted to RMBO0.3 million.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Group's environmental, social and governance report (the
"ESG Report”) will be published at the same time as the
publication of this annual report. The English and Chinese versions
of the ESG Report are available to be viewed and/or downloaded
on the Company’s website at www.kwtech-group.com (by
clicking “Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance
Strategies” under the section headed “Investor”) and the Stock
Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Sustainable development and environmental protection are
embedded in our corporate culture. The Group has participated in
a wide range of charitable activities, many of which have been
recognized by various organizations. During the Year, we received
a number of honours or acknowledgments of our work as a
responsible corporate citizen:

— A Caring Company by the Hong Kong Council of Social
Service

— A Good MPF Employer by Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority

— A Happy Company by the Hong Kong Promoting Happiness
Index Foundation and Hong Kong Productivity Council
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the Year, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 77.1% of the Group’s revenue with the largest
customer constituted approximately 33.4% of the Group’s
revenue. In addition, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 20.5% of the Group’s cost of services with the
largest supplier constituted approximately 14.8% of the Group's
cost of services.

Based on information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close
associates, or any shareholders of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had interest in any of the Group'’s
five largest customers and suppliers during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information and within the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float in the issued share capital of the Company pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank loans and other borrowings as at 31
March 2024 and 31 March 2023 are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties consist of one industrial
property in Chinese Mainland, which were revalued at
RMB12,020,000 on 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: nil). Details
of the Group's investment properties are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the Year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Retirement benefit costs include pension scheme contributions for
the Group's employees in Hong Kong and Mainland China. The
Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of
the laws of Hong Kong) for those eligible Hong Kong employees.
For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme subject only to the
maximum level of payroll costs of HK$30,000 per employee,
which contribution is matched by the employees. Contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the respective local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 243 to
244 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A report on the principal corporate governance practice adopted

by the Company is set out on pages 68 to 83 of this annual
report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no material event
after reporting year and up to the date of this report.
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AUDITOR

On 3 March 2023, BDO Limited resigned and Ernst & Young was
appointed as the auditor of the Company. Details of the change
of auditor were set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 3 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditor
of the Group during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Year have been audited by Ernst & Young who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company is
to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

QIU Xiaojian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(B)

©

68

The Company has applied the principles of good corporate
governance set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG
Code") throughout the Year.

The Board regularly monitors and reviews the Group's
progress in respect of corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the code provisions (the “Code
Provisions”) set out in the CG Code.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “(D) CHAIRMAN
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE"” in this report, the Company has
complied with all the Code Provisions throughout the Year.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
had made specific enquiries to all the Directors who
confirmed their compliance with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors throughout the Year. No
incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company
during this Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board compositions

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy
and overseeing the development of the Group. In so doing,
the Board receives monthly reports from the chief executive
officer of the Company/the executive Directors, monitors the
internal control policies as well as risk management
effectiveness, and evaluates the financial performance of the
Group with an aim to enhancing shareholders’ value. The
Board currently comprises two executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of
the Board sets out on page 34 of this annual report.
Biographical details of the Directors and the relationship
amongst them, if any, are set out on pages 22 to 28 of this
annual report.
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With effect from 7 November 2023, Mr. Hu Shilong and Ms.
ZHOU Fang have been appointed as executive Directors. On
21 November 2023, each of Mr. Hu Shilong and Ms. ZHOU
Fang (i) has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule
5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules and (ii) has confirmed he/
she understood his/her obligations as the Director. With
effect from 8 February 2024, Ms. LIU Xiaochen, Mr. XU
Gang and Mr. WANG Rui have been appointed as executive
Directors. On 31 January 2024, each of Ms. LIU Xiaochen,
Mr. XU Gang and Mr. WANG Rui (i) has obtained the legal
advice referred to in Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules
and (ii) has confirmed he/she understood his/her obligations
as the Director.

Five board meetings were held during the Year. The
attendance of the relevant Directors are set out on page 76
of this report.

Independent non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed four
independent non-executive Directors representing not less
than one-third of the Board with all of them having
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The Company has,
through the Nomination Committee, reviewed the
independence of, and received the confirmation of
independence from each of Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, Mr.
ZHANG Weidong, Mr. ZENG Liang and Mr. WANG Li, and
considers all of them independent in accordance with the
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company is committed to ensuring that the
independent non-executive Directors will be given the
opportunity and channel for Directors to communicate and
express their independent views and inputs to the Board and
its Committees. The Company has established channels
through formal and informal means whereby independent
non-executive Directors can express their views in an open
and candid manner and in a confidential manner, should
circumstances require; these include dedicated meeting
sessions with the Chairman and interaction with
management and other Board Members including the
Chairman outside the boardroom. The implementation and
effectiveness of these mechanism(s) will be reviewed on an
annual basis by the Board through the Nomination
Committee.
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Delegation to Board committees and
management

The Board is ultimately accountable for the Group’s
activities, strategies and financial performance, which
includes formulating business development strategies,
directing and supervising the Group’s affairs, reviewing the
financial statements of the Company, approving quarterly
reports, interim reports, annual reports and announcements
of quarterly results, interim results and annual results,
considering dividend policy, reviewing the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems and so
on.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Audit Committee with written terms of reference set out
in accordance with the CG Code. More details of these
committees are set out in separate sections of this report.

The Board delegates necessary powers and authorities to the
executive Directors to facilitate the efficient day to day
management of the Group’s business. Investment decisions
were made by the executive Directors pursuant to the
procedures and limits adopted by the Group. Delegated
authorities in the form of monetary limits were set for the
executive Directors and management of the Group for
financial commitments and capital expenditures so that they
could apply their discretion and respond swiftly to
investment opportunities and business needs.

In addition, the Board delegates to the Remuneration
Committee authorities to determine remuneration for
individual executive Directors and members of senior
management.
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Corporate governance functions

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest
standards of corporate governance yet being pragmatic on
business decisions and management efficiency. The
independent non-executive Directors were members, and
represent the majority, of all the Board committees of the
Company, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Whilst the
Board was ultimately responsible for corporate governance
matters, it delegated much of these functions to the Audit
Committee which comprised only of independent non-
executive Directors and was assisted by the Compliance and
Risk Control Department performing the internal audit
function.

During the Year, the Board, among other things, reviewed
the policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewed and monitored the policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
reviewed the Group’s compliance manual; reviewed and
monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; and
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Continuous Professional Development

Reading materials relevant to the Board’'s duties and
responsibilities and/or the Group’s businesses are provided
to the Board from time to time to develop, refresh and
update their knowledge and skills and to keep them abreast
of the latest developments.

Each Directors has also provided to the Company a record
of the training he has received during the Year, which is set
out on page 76 of this annual report.
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(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(E)

72

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

The chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”) is
responsible for overseeing the function of the Board. Mr.
QIU Xiaojian has been appointed as the Chairman since 6
March 2023.

The chief executive officer of the Company (the “CEQ") is
responsible to the Board for managing the business of the
Group. During the period from 6 March 2023 to 6
November 2023, the office of the CEO was vacant and the
executive Directors continued to oversee the day-to-day
management of the business and operations of the
Company and its subsidiaries. The balance of power and
authority of the Board was adequately ensured under the
arrangement and operations of the Board at that time, as
the Board comprises experienced and high caliber individuals
with a majority thereof being independent non-executive
Directors. Since 7 November 2023, Mr. HU Shilong has been
appointed as the CEO.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the independent non-executive
Directors are for a period of three years. All of them are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to the
Articles of Association and the GEM Listing Rules.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three member, Mr.
QIU Xiaojian and two independent non-executive Directors
namely, Mr. ZENG Liang (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee) and Mr. ZHANG Weidong. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee included, among other
things, (i) formulating, reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure for all Directors and members of senior
management; (ii) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board's corporate goals and objectives; (iii) determining
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and members of senior management; and (iv) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee held two
meetings during the Year.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
Group's remuneration policy and structure, determined the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and made
recommendation to the Board in relation to the adjustment
of the director fee of the independent non-executive
Directors, having regard to comparable companies and
other relevant factors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three members,
Mr. QIU Xiaojian (Chairmen of the Nomination Committee)
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Stephen MARKSCHEID and Mr. ZHANG Weidong. The
primary duties of the Nomination Committee covered,
among other things, (i) the reviewing of the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity of perspectives) of the Board; (ii) identifying
and nominating suitably qualified candidates for
directorship; and (iii) making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or reappointment of Directors. The
Nomination Committee held two meetings during the Year.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
established policy and procedure for the nomination and
appointment of new Directors, reviewed the structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment
of retiring Directors at the annual general meeting in 2023,
and nominated the appointment of Directors.

According to the Nomination Policy adopted by the
Company, the Nomination Committee shall review the
structure, size, composition and diversity (including the
evaluation of skills, knowledge, professional experience,
cultural and educational background, gender and age of the
Board members and assessment on the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors) of the Board at least
annually. It is responsible for making recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and succession planning for
the Directors from time to time and selecting suitable and
qualified individuals to become Board members. In
evaluating and selecting candidate(s) for directorship, the
Nomination Committee considers various factors including
but not limited to: the character and integrity; skills and
expertise; professional and educational background;
potential time commitment for the board and/or committee
responsibilities; and the elements of our Board Diversity
Policy as stated below etc. The Nomination Committee
makes recommendation to the Board to appoint the
appropriate person among the candidates nominated for
directorship. The Board appoints suitable candidate(s) in
accordance with the Articles of the Association and the
GEM Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefit of
having a diverse board, and sees increasing diversity at
board level as an essential element in maintaining a
competitive advantage and achieving long-term sustainable
growth for the Group. A balanced and diversified Board
brings a broad range of views to bear upon discussions and
critical decision-making, and balances against “group
thinking”. Our Board Diversity Policy is multi-faceted
stressing business experience, skill-sets, knowledge and
professional expertise in addition to gender, ethnicity and
age. The said elements have substantially been included in
the current Board composition.
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Having reviewed the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee recognises the importance and benefits of the
gender diversity at the Board level. In order to enhance the
gender diversity among the Board members, two female
directors have been appointed during the Year.

For the detailed gender ratio in the workforce (including
senior management), please refer to the 2023/2024
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference. It currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors namely, Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID
(Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. ZHANG Weidong
and Mr. ZENG Liang in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29
of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include, among other things, (i) reviewing and
supervising the financial reporting process; (ii) reviewing
internal control as well as risk management systems of the
Group; (iii) reviewing the consolidated financial statements
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Group;
and (iv) reviewing the terms of engagement and scope of
audit work of the external auditor and ensure their
coordination. The Audit Committee held three meetings
during the Year.

During the Year, the Audit Committee was engaged in,
among other duties, receiving and reviewing reports from
the Compliance and Risk Control Department, reviewing
quarterly, interim and annual results of the Group and
providing advice and comments thereon to the Board. The
Audit Committee also reviewed the Group’s internal control
and risk management systems and made recommendations
to the Board for improvements. The Audit Committee
considered and approved the terms of engagement and
remuneration of the external auditor, and discussed with
them the nature and scope of their audits before the audits
commenced. In discharging its duties, the Audit Committee
met with the Group’s management and external auditor
several times during the Year.

At the meeting held in June 2024, among other things, the
Audit Committee has reviewed this annual report and
recommended it for the Board’s approval.
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() ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS AND (1) HEESERIEI

TRAINING
During the Year, the attendance records of the Directors at RAFEE BREsEHEFEEEeE  B&S
Board Meeting, Audit Committee Meeting, Remuneration BEegm ¥WEEeeEm BREEZESE
Committee Meeting, Nomination Committee Meeting, the EN2023FEREAFAE - REFRIAE
2023 Annual General Meeting, Extraordinary General Lx&i;guzﬁaﬁz;zﬂ :
Meeting and their training records are as follows:
Number of meetings attended/held
bR/ BTEERE
2023
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual  Extraordinary
Board  Committee ~ Committee  Committee General General
Name of Directors during the Year Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Training
WBE
EZe EHZEE ZMZEe R4ZEE BRE% RE&H
REEEEHY EE EE EE £t - K& E ]
Executive Directors: HAEE.
Qu Xiaojian il 55 - 22 22 1 - /
Mr. HU Shilong RiteErs
(appointed on 7 Novernber 2023) (R2023% 11 BTREZ() 0 - - - - - /
M. Ll Xiang TERE 5/5 - - - /1 - /
M. ZHOU Fang BArat
(appointed on 7 Novernber 2023) (R2023% 11 BTREZ() 0 - - - - - /
M. LIU Xiaochen Yt
(appointed on 8 February 2024) (R20452A8HEZE) il - - - - - /
Mr. XU Gang BEls
(appointed on 8 February 2024) (P05 A8HEZE) il - - - - - /
Mr. WANG Rui I8%H
(appointed on 8 February 2024) (P05 A8HEZE) il - - - - - /
Independent non-executive Directors: BV #EH/TEZ -
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Stephen MARKSCHEID £ 55 33 - 22 1 - /
Mr. ZHANG Weidong FERAE 55 3B n 0 " - /
Mr, ZENG Liang BRAE 55 3B n - " - /
Mr. WANG Li Inxk 55 - - - n - /
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(J) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL

The Group places high importance on internal control which
is the foundation of the Group’s reputation and
maintenance of clients’ confidence. The Board is responsible
for supervising a sound and effective internal control system
in order to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the
Company and the assets of the Group against improper use
or disposition, ensuring maintenance of proper books and
records for the provision of reliable financial information,
and ensuring compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
The Board has delegated responsibility to its Audit
Committee to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control matters. The risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems so that the
Group's objectives can be achieved, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee was assisted by the Compliance and
Risk Control Department, to assess and review if a sound
and effective risk management and internal control system
are in place at least once a year. The Compliance and Risk
Control Department reported to and met with the Audit
Committee to review internal audit findings on enterprise
risk and internal control matters.

Risk management system

Based on the Group’s business and operations, Compliance
and Risk Control Department, using risk-based approach,
has identified and carried out review on four areas covering
financial, operational, strategies and compliance.

The approach used by the Compliance and Risk Control
Department comprises the following phases:

o Obtaining an understanding of the existing
procedures, systems and controls established by the
Group through enquiries and discussion with
management and appropriate personnel;

o Identifying and classifying the key risks faced by the
Group;

o Assessing the likelihood and impact of each risk factor;
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o Carrying out review and assessment on the those
critical aspects of the key procedures, systems and
controls of the Group to address the risk factors;

o Evaluating the residual risks with the relevant control
measures taken into account; and

o Making recommendations, based on Compliance and
Risk Control Department’s observations, documentation
and review of the procedures, systems and controls
that could improve the effectiveness and/or efficiency
of the procedures, systems and controls to mitigate
the risks to which the Group is subjected.

Based on the report done by the Compliance and Risk
Control Department, apart from the risk in relation to the
COVID-19 situation, the Group has been reminded that the
risk in maintaining, obtaining and renewal of certain
qualification certificates, licenses and intellectual property
rights should be carefully managed since it could materially
and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

Moreover, any leakage of personal data or client information
could bring a significant risk and impact to the Group’s
business and reputation, and therefore the Group has
implemented strict internal control procedures to safeguard
the security and confidentiality of its databases.

The analysis and opinions from in-depth industry knowledge
and relevant-experienced professional third parties should
be taken into considerations.

Internal control system

The Group has set up an effective internal control
mechanism which are sufficient to enable the Directors to
make a proper assessment of the financial position and
prospect of the Group.

Compliance and Risk Control Department has conducted a
review of the Group’s internal control system by conducting
interviews, walkthroughs and tests on the effectiveness of
the procedures, systems and controls established by the
Group in its operating cycles, in particular, revenue and
receipt cycle, treasury management cycle and compliance
management cycle.
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With respect to the internal control review done by the
Compliance and Risk Control Department, no major issues
on control failure is noted during the Year.

The Board has conducted a review and is of the view that
both risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate for the Group to achieve its
objectives during the Year. The Board will continue to assess
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems taking into consideration of the results of
reviews and audits performed by the Compliance and Risk
Control Department, external auditor and Audit Committee
and making sure that all significant legal and regulatory
requirements are adhered to.

Dissemination of inside information

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information and enable a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and complete disclosure of material information of
the Group, the Group has adopted policies and procedures
which sets out guidelines and procedures as well as
measures to handle and disseminate inside information as
well as to establish minimum standards for handling of
material non-public information to protect client-sensitive
data and avoid violating any applicable laws or internal
policies. With these procedures and measures in place, the
Group is able to control and properly discharge its reporting
obligation, especially in relation to inside information
disclosure obligations, in a timely and effective manner and
in accordance with the requirements under applicable laws.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by the Company’s external
auditor were approximately HK$4.20 million (approximately
RMB3.81 million) and HK$0.05 million (approximately
RMBO0.045 million) respectively. The non-audit services was
related to the professional fees for tax compliance services.
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(L)

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements which
give a true and fair view in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong. The
statement of the Company’s auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 84
to 91 of this annual report.

(M) COMPANY SECRETARY

(N)

80

Mr. TUNG Sze Ho Dicky, who is delegated by an external
secretarial service provider, Angela Ho & Associates, has
been appointed as the company secretary of the Company
since 17 January 2022. Mr. TUNG's primary contact person
at the Company is Ms. ZHANG Yuan, the head of legal of
the Group. Mr. TUNG undertook not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the year ended 31
March 2024

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted the Dividend Policy on
21 June 2019 that aims to set out the principles and
guidelines of the Company in relation to the declaration,
recommendation and payment of dividends to its
shareholders.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not have any
predetermined dividend payout ratio. Distribution of
dividends should be in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. When considering dividend
declaration or recommendation, the Board shall take into
account the following factors:—

)

business condition and strategy of the Group;

)

capital requirement for the Group's existing/potential
project or investment;
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(3) earnings, financial and cash flow position and
distributable reserves of the Company and the Group;
and

(4)  other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends is subject to the
provisions of the Articles of Association and any other
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company'’s dividend distribution record in the past may
not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level of
dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in
future.

The Board has the sole discretion to recommend or not to
recommend final dividends to the shareholders for approval;
and to declare or not to declare any other dividends,
including but not limited to interim and/or special dividends,
after taking into consideration the factors as stated in (1) to
(4) above.

The Dividend Policy may be updated, amended, modified
and/or cancelled from time to time as the Board may think
fit and necessary.

(O) CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 9
August 2023, the shareholders of the Company approved
and adopted the second amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company
which is available on both the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

Saved as disclosed above, there has been no other significant
changes in the constitutional documents of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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(P) SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

82

Convening of extraordinary general meeting
and putting forward proposals

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any two or more
registered members of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
or any one Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee(s)) holding not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company, shall have the
right, by written requisitions, to put forward proposals and
require an extraordinary general meeting (the "EGM") to be
convened. Subject to applicable legislations and regulations,
the procedures for Shareholders to convene and put forward
proposals at an EGM are as follows:

1. The written requisitions shall be deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong situated
at Room 1204, 12/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan
Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong (for the attention
of the Company Secretary), specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists.

2. The Company will then verify the request with the
Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and
upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will then ask the Board
to convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the regulatory requirements and the
Articles of Association to all the Shareholders. If the
request has been verified as not in order, the
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the outcome
and an EGM will not be convened as requested.

3. If within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene the
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general
meeting but any meeting so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board to convene the meeting shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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(Q) INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its Shareholders. The
Board strives to encourage and maintain regular
communication with Shareholders through various means.
The Company has established a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that appropriate steps are taken to provide
effective communication with its Shareholders. The Company
encourages all Shareholders to attend general meetings,
which provide opportunities for direct dialogue between the
Board and the Shareholders, and for Shareholders to stay
informed of the Group’s strategy and goals.

At the annual general meeting held 9 August 2023, the
Chairman of the Board, the chairman of audit, remuneration
and nomination committees and representatives from the
auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, were present to
attend to possible questions from Shareholders.

The Company updates its Shareholders on its latest business
developments and financial performance through its notices,
announcements and circulars, as well as quarterly, interim
and annual reports. The corporate website maintained by
the Company at www.kwtech-group.com provides an
effective communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders. Shareholders and investors may at any time
send their enquiries to the Board by addressing them to the
Company Secretary by post at Room 1204, 12/F, Lee Garden
One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong or by
email at infohk@kwtech-group.com.

The Board will review the shareholders’ communication
policy at least annually to ensure its effectiveness. Having
considered the different channels of communication with
Shareholders, the Board is satisfied that the shareholders’
communication policy has been properly implemented
during the Year and is appropriate.
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Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY=x

To the shareholders of
Kingwisoft Technology Group Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Kingwisoft Technology Group Company Limited (the “Company"”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 92 to 242,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
HEEITEE

Impairment of goodwiill

Ry Rl fE

As at 31 March 2024, the cost of the Group’s goodwill
was approximately RMB631 million, and the impairment
brought forward from the year ended 31 March 2023 was
approximately RMB349 million. In accordance with Hong
Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS") 36 Impairment of
Assets, the Group is required to annually test goodwill for
impairment.

M2024F3A31H EXEENEERTIOR/RARE
631,000,000 7T - i 4548 5202343 A31 H IEFE R
BE#) /AR 349,000,0007T « IRIBEFE G ER([HH
SR EA D EICREERE - EEEAGFARAEE
BIE e

Management performs impairment testing annually for the
cash-generating unit (the “CGU") to which the goodwill
was allocated. Management has engaged independent
professionally qualified valuer for the calculation of the
CGU'’s recoverable amount based on the forecasted cash
flows prepared by management. The calculation of the
CGU’s recoverable amount is complex and involves
significant management’s judgement and estimation, such
as the forecasted cash flows, discount rates and perpetual
growth rates, which are sensitive to expected future
market conditions and the CGU'’s actual performance.
EREEFHEIERENReELEN(REeELSE
UDETREAR EEECDZRBVEXSERME
MREEEERENTAARERENTERSELENN
A EIERE - HERSEA BN TTRESE+ OB
B REREMNERNAE KRG mEAREeRE - MR
RRKERER - TRE L R 5 Z AR KT
EReEFBEUBERRANTE -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 17 to the
financial statements.

HEAREENR M EHRERMEIR17
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANFTNNEEFARETSE

We performed the following procedures to address the
impairment of goodwill:

HPIMITATREF AREERERE

e Obtained an understanding of the Group's
accounting policy and management’s assessment on
goodwill impairment;

o TH BSEMEHHRNEREHHERERE

e Assessed the competency, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent valuer;
o FMEBIULERMER - e REFEIL

e Evaluated management'’s estimates of forecasted
cash flows, discount rates and perpetual growth
rates by making enquiries with management and
benchmarking to historical information and macro
economic or country specific data;

s BRBAEBEETHAMAELERNREZBLBHERE
EBERELE FEEEBHRARSRE  BIRX
Kok BIE R EM LG

e With the assistance of our internal valuation
specialists, examined the valuation methodologies
and evaluated the assumptions and estimates used,
including the discount rates and the perpetual
growth rates;

o EBMASGEESHRMOHBET - FHIGE AR
FTAMREE R fhEt - BREAMBEEROKEERE

e Checked the mathematical accuracy of
management’s valuation schedules; and

o REBTHERERNEMERELE &

e Evaluated the adequacy of the relevant disclosures
in the financial statements.

o FHAEMBHmRTEBBRENTOMU -
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Key audit matter

BREEEE

Impairment of accounts receivable

FE W B R fE

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of the Group’s
accounts receivable before impairment was approximately
RMB681 million, and the Group was exposed to credit risks

arising therefrom.
R2024F3 31 H - EEBEHKRE A EKERD R
ETEOZ%}\EMG& 000,0007T © & & EERH I ES

MiEERR

The Group recognises impairment allowances of accounts
receivable based on the expected credit loss (“ECL")
approach under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The
measurement of ECL requires the application of significant
judgement and estimates. The ECL is assessed collectively
using a provision matrix, and the provision rates are based
on the Group'’s internal credit risk grading assessment and
the estimated loss rates.
;\xl@ﬁ%%ﬁﬂ‘%#ﬁi;&@u%95ﬁ§/§ﬂ1ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ
EEE([FEHEEEE]) ARAEBIR RO RERE -
SAERHEEEEARAEAAE XA HEREEE
BhERREERERNG  MBHEELDER E5E
WERME B BB T R T R A ET B R RS -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 22 and 41 to
the financial statements.
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BREETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNETNNEEFARETSE

We performed the following procedures to address the
impairment of accounts receivable:
SORE

HFIMITA TR F AR ERERS

e Obtained an understanding of the Group’s accounting
policy and management’s assessment on impairment
provision of accounts receivable;

SR (B %

o TR BEREENSHTHREKERBHRUES
HY R

e Assessed, on a sample basis, whether items in the
ageing reports of accounts receivable were classified
within the appropriate ageing categories;

o MBAEEUKEFFRREANNIER RS S
E’jE\EH?tE\}D]U

DRNE

i3

e Compared key debtors’ internal credit risk grading
assessment result categories to the corresponding
relevant credit rating grades published by external credit
rating agencies;

o BEZEBANAIEEEM TR 5 4ERDREIN
;MZ??.:H&%ﬁé’f%@ﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ'ﬁ@fiﬂ& FHETH
X

e Evaluated the ECL determined by management by
examining, on a sample basis, the information used to
form such judgement and estimates, including the
historical credit loss information and forward-looking
factors;

o EBWMERERANAE BAE RATHER (B
BEEEEBEEEHRAEERER)  FEEREETH
FRHREEER

e With the assistance of our internal valuation specialists,
examined the ECL methodology and evaluated the
probability of default rates and loss given default rates;

o EHMANLEZRNGH T  EXBREEEEA
ERFHEEN R BN RIE THEBEEX

e Evaluated the impairment provision of accounts
receivable by reference to the Group’s subsequent

collection; and
o 2E EBEBWMREREUGIBN - s EKERRARE

BHE R

e Evaluated the adequacy of the relevant disclosures in
the financial statements.

o FHEMBHmRTEBBEENTEM
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee

in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ng Siu Ki Ricky.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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Year ended 31 March 2024 # = 20243 A31 B IFFE

2024 F 20234

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Btat AR¥FT AREFIT

(Restated)

(#2EE%)

REVENUE A 5 1,240,904 888,622
Cost of services BRAS A AR (1,113,027) (767,384)
Gross profit EH 127,877 121,238
Other income and gains H AU A K ez 6 74,518 160,801
Marketing expenses i1 (8,389) (5,876)
Research and development expenses Esp 2 (43,572) (36,394)
Administrative expenses TR (79,609) (85,681)
Impairment loss of goodwill EEREEE 17 (224,838) (349,385)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net & @& E R EE B FR (19,020) (17,293)

Gain on recovery of accounts receivable W[ & Jif 54 i U BR SR B0 Uk &5

written-off 21 1,497
Other expenses and losses Hinh s REE (1,896) (380)
Finance costs EURID N 8 (24,310) (25,471)
Share of loss of an associate JE{h — el B = N RS 18 (699) (12)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BB AR 7 (199,917) (236,956)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiEe, (FAx) 11 (5,030) 739
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FAEE (204,947) (236,217)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
o 98 g B At 2 T MR AR R

Year ended 31 March 2024 H = 2024 F3 A31 B IEF[E

2024 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Hfat AR¥FT ARETFIT
(Restated)
(Fe=3%1))
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hth 2 Wi
Other comprehensive income that may be R{ERHHE S EHHIEE
reclassified to profit or loss in BEammE Ml
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of HE I IER B A 37
subsidiaries not established in BB A R EE A RUEE 3
Chinese Mainland =5 251 3,636
Deregistration of subsidiaries not T ST E R AR B 3 37
established in Chinese Mainland by NG 122 =
Net other comprehensive income that REZBPEZSEFHES
may be reclassified to profit or loss in B r Ei 2 E R FE
subsequent periods 373 3,636
Other comprehensive loss that will not be  RAEE BRI TS EFHHEE
reclassified to profit or loss in B HE i 2 FEE
subsequent periods:
Fair value loss on equity investments 8 TE BIR A ERT AHAD
designated at fair value through 2HEBRERRE
other comprehensive income NEEEE 20 = (15,264)
Net other comprehensive loss that will not RAZRBETEENHEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in B H i 2 EEIE TR
subsequent periods - (15,264)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ALOSS)  FRE 2 mE Uz~
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (B518) - MERHIR 373 (11,628)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FRAEEEEERE
THE YEAR (204,574) (247,845)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
o 98 g B HC At 4 1 MR AR R

Year ended 31 March 2024 # = 20243 A31 B IFFE

2024 F 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Btat AR¥FT ARMTF T
(Restated)
(#eEE%)
Loss for the year attributable to: T ATEERFRES :
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ Y =N (197,382) (230,329)
Non-controlling interests R (7,565) (5,888)
(204,947) (236,217)
Total comprehensive loss for the year U T A TEEER2ZEER
attributable to: s
Owners of the Company iN/NGIE 2SN (197,009) (241,957)
Non-controlling interests R (7,565) (5,888)
(204,574) (247,845)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AAREBERSEAEMN
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF FREE
THE COMPANY
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) AEARAREE(ARES) 13 (4.13) (5.03)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

0 B IR DA

31March 2024 202443 A 31 H

31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
2024 & 20234 2022 £
3HA31H 3H31H 4H1H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B et ARB¥ET T AR®TrT ARETT
(Restated) (Restated)
(#x&E7) (#=&E7))
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Property and equipment L EYNE 14 94,313 95,517 70,501
Investment properties EYHE 15 12,020 = -
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 16(a) 68,819 52,916 42,370
Goodwill B 17 56,742 281,580 581,824
Other intangible assets HEEEEE 18 162,143 180,121 184,076
Investment in an associate R—EE A RME
= 19 27,652 - 5,983
Equity investments designated at EEBBRAFERA
fair value through other HoAth 2 Y s A 1
comprehensive income w=IRE 20 = 300 15,564
Contingent consideration HAR(E 29 - 8,459 -
Prepayments, other receivables and ~ FEfIFUIE « HAbFEU
other assets RIEREMEE 23 3,750 7,542 672
Deferred tax assets FEIEFRIAE B 31 15,083 13,672 11,870
Total non-current assets IEREBEEER 440,522 640,107 912,860
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories T 21 24 30 1,377
Accounts receivable FEUR AR X 22 668,208 599,312 485,259
Prepayments, other receivables and ~ FEfIFIE « HAb U
other assets TN EMEE 23 77,881 80,516 88,630
Financial assets at fair value through & AF(ET AEZEH
profit or loss TRLEE 24 4,812 11,068 4,880
Prepaid tax TERTRRIE 414 433 -
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 25 594 - -
Pledged deposits EIRER 25 3,157 3,057 =
Cash and cash equivalents He MRS EEY 25 82,673 163,697 86,047
Total current assets REEEREE 837,763 858,113 666,193
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBE
Accounts payable FETRRX 26 28,639 11,517 11,346
Other payables and accruals HAth fE A 0B R FE T
Z 27 103,368 105,220 59,522
Contract liabilities EHEE 28 1,029 845 3,252
Consideration payables FERE 29 28,038 28,519 70,000
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITREAMERK
borrowings 30 198,044 68,500 140,779
Lease liabilities HEBE 16(b) 22,448 23,098 20,962
Tax payable e TR IR 6,412 1,716 8,306
Total current liabilities REBAEEE 387,978 239,415 314,167
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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31March 2024 20243 A 31 H

31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
2024 F 20234 2022 &
3H31H 3A31H 4H1H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BiaE AR¥FT AR®TT ARETFTT
(Restated) (Restated)
(=E7) (re=751)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZFEE 449,785 618,698 352,026
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBEMSE
LIABILITIES 890,307 1,258,805 1,264,886
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FnBAE
Other payables and accruals HoAth fE AT I8 R FERT
& 27 1,147 1,275 -
Consideration payables ERRE 29 - 5,255 129,499
Interest-bearing bank and other FTEERTT R E MK
borrowings 30 - 177,144 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 16(b) 45,020 25,324 17,986
Deferred tax liabilities RIETHIBAE 31 23,449 24,530 26,525
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEEE 69,616 233,528 174,010
Net assets EEFE 820,691 1,025,277 1,090,876
EQUITY k=
Equity attributable to owners of the ZK2A AlEHE A &N
Company Em
Share capital N 32 40,442 40,442 35,395
Reserves HE 33 776,159 973,168 1,035,347
816,601 1,013,610 1,070,742
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR FE 2 4,090 11,667 20,134
Total equity SR 820,691 1,025,277 1,090,876
QIU Xiaojian LI Xiang
il =4
Director Director
BF S
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

22 /N 3L &2k
SR REfn s W) R
Year ended 31 March 2024 H = 2024 F3 A31 B IEF[E

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAER
Share Non-
Share premium Statutory  Revaluation  Translation Other ~ Accumulated controlling Total
Notes capital account reserves reserve reserve reserve [osses Total interests equity
i3 Bx  RtEEE e 1 EiGH RfbRf Zithg &t FBRES EEEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEETT  ABETT  ARETT  ARETT ARETr ARETr ARETr ARETn ARETT ARETx
At 31 March 2023 RUBE3IA3NA 40442 1,125,017 14511 (18,499) 22,964 (1) (169,974) 1,014,166 11,691 1,025,857
Effect of adoption of amendments FAEEETENE NS
to HKAS12 (BT%) hed 220 = = = - - - (556) (556) (29) (580)
At 1 April 2023 (restated) R0BF4A1R (EES) 40482 1,125,017 14511 (18,499) 22,964 (1) (170,530) 1,013,610 11,667 1,005,217
Loss for the year EhER = = = - - - (19738)  (197.382) (7565)  (204947)
Other comprehensive income EREBRENE
for the year:
Exchange differences on translation S HFREEABAIN
of subsidiaries not established in HEARELNERZE
Chinese Mainland - - - - 51 - - 251 - 1
Deregistration of subsidiaries not ¥ FRABALRIK
established in Chinese Mainland if: - - - - 12 - - 12 - 12
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FRRERE/ (FR)EE
for the year - - - - n - (197,382) (197,009) (7,565) (204,574)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-BHEAT 3 - - - - - - - - () )
Appropriation of statutory reserves RREERE - - 6,693 - - - (6,693) - - -
At 31 March 2024 RAME3B31A 442 112501 21,2101 (18,4991 PERETL (a1 (374,605) 816,601 4,09 820,691
At 31 March 2022 RANF3IANA 35,395 944,878 12876 (3235 19,328 - 61,863 1,071,105 20,148 1,091,253
Effect of adoption of amendments RAEESTERE 15
foHKAS12 (Bis)hze 220 = = = = - - (363) (363) (14 (377)
At 1 Apri 2022 (restated) 200254818 (EE5) 35,395 944,878 12876 (3.235) 19,328 - 61,500 1,070,742 20,134 1,090,876
Loss for the year resated) ERER (5] - - - - - - 23039 (23039 (5,889) (236.217)
Other comprehensive income[oss) ENEfn2EkE/ (B8
for the year:
Exchange differences reating to BB AR
subsiciares not established HEARNE 28
in Chinese Mainland - - - - 3,636 - - 3636 - 3,636
Fair value oss on equity investments RATET AL ERE
at farvalue through other HERRENATEER
comprehensive income - - - (15,264) - - - (15,264) - (15,264)
Total comprehensive incomefoss) EhrEdE/(58)88
for the year (estated) (i=71) - - - (15,264) 36% - (23039 (4190) (5888)  (247,845)
Issue of shares ikt 32 5,047 180,199 - - - - - 185,46 - 185,246
Capital contrbutions from FRERTE
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - 2,000 2,000
Acquisiion of non-controling inerests W RER - - - - - (@1 - (@1 (4579) (5,000
Appropriation ofstatutory resenves ROEEEE - - 1,701 - - = (1,701) = = =
At 31 March 2023 and ROBFIANER
1 Aprl 2023 {restated) WBE4A1A (EEF) 40442 1,125,077A 14577 (18,4991 22,9641 (#21r (1705300 1,013610 11,667 1025211

A These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB776, 159,000 N BEFBROEEEHERIRPNGEES FEARE
(2023: RMB973, 168,000 (restated)) in the consolidated statement of financial 776,159,000 (20234 : A RR#5973,168,0007T (42 &E71))) °

position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

maBlahig®

Year ended 31 March 2024 # = 20243 A31 B IFFE

2024 F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE AR¥FT ARMFIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BrE A E 1R (199,917) (236,956)
Adjustments for: BLAT S IBEL A
Finance costs B TS AR AN 8 24,310 25,471
Share of loss of an associate FE(h— 5 = A RE1E 699 12
Interest income 2 YA 6 (1,257) (2,537)
Dividend income iz B WA 6 (58) (67)
Depreciation of property and equipment  #3% KRBT E 7 39,224 28,082
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 7 30,593 24,871
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hith 8 2 6 7 28,237 25,462
Loss on disposal of property and HEYFREHEEE
equipment 7 386 64
Fair value losses on financial assets at BAFEGTAEZEN TR
fair value through profit or loss BENATEERE 6 2,575 1,441
Gain on derecognition of financial REHK AT ER S H
liabilities measured at amortised cost BERR FERK S 6 - (15,926)
Fair value gain/(loss) on contingent SAREBENATE
consideration Wz, (E18) 6 27,623 (110,371)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — T B A Rl as 6 (52,269) -
Fair value gain on investment properties R EMERN A FERE 6 (7,957) -
Impairment loss of goodwill PR AR 7 224,838 349,385
Impairment losses on financial assets, SRE EREEE TR
net 7 19,020 17,293
Gain on recovery of accounts receivable Y [B] B i 4 FE UK BR 3R &9
written-off U zs (21) (1,497)
Gain/(loss) on early termination of leases AT IFFAE RS~
(E18) 6,7 38 (335)
Gain on disposal of an associate HE RN A s 6 - (1,623)
136,064 102,769
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEHemER

Year ended 31 March 2024 H = 2024 F3 A31 B IEF[E

2024 F 2023 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AR¥FT AR FIT
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERA, /() (140) 1,347
Increase in accounts receivable JrE U BR FR A A (89,934) (88,460)
Increase in prepayments, other receivables F&{FIE + H b fE U ZE &
and other assets E b & EH I (28,517) (7,109)
Increase in pledged deposits B N (100) (3,057)
Increase in restricted cash SR I ER & 1 0 (594) =
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable FEfTBR R A0, Gl ) 1,526 (16,833)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and ~ E b &S /I8 & fEFT &
accruals #hn,/ CRid) 45,651 (21,570)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AHa@EEMm Cud) 1,207 (1,251)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  [EREB)H) /£ (1,677) (1,825)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations @15,/ (Fi )R & 63,486 (35,989)
Income tax paid ERFEH (3,219) (10,036)
Net cash flows generated from/ BETEEFRE (A BRS
(used in) operating activities mEFEEE 60,267 (46,025)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEBEeRa®R

Year ended 31 March 2024 # = 20243 A31 B IFFE

2024 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE ARMTFT ARMTFT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZDHERESRE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received =& IES) 923 1,994
Dividend received B AR B 58 67
Purchase of property and equipment BEMRENEE (25,113) (36,071)
Proceeds from disposal of property and B E Y KRB FTSRIE
equipment 947 98
Purchase of investment properties BEREME (774) (3,289)
Purchase of other intangible assets BEHEMELAE (794) (920)
Development costs paid for other EL M B B B S e 5
intangible assets B R (11,035) (17,352)
Receipt of government grants for property UEX A B840 2 & 2% 5 69 BT
and equipment BN = 1,000
Acquisition of subsidiaries A NE=PNG 34 (1,000) (3,509)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE— B A 35 15,134 -
Disposal of an associate H & — L A A - 6,720
Purchase of financial assets at fair value ~ BEEZ AT EF ABRA
through profit or loss BRIEE = (5,400)
Disposal of financial assets at fair value Hj/iﬁ?ﬂflzﬁnﬂ\?@ﬁﬂ’]
through profit or loss EREE 2,738 =
Loans advanced to former subsidiaries T RIME R RIR & = (3,500)
Receipt of loans advanced to former UCER ZA 5 T BT FT B A ) &Y
subsidiaries B& - 7,950
Net cash flows used in investing BRETBHFMARESREFE
activities (18,916) (52,212)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEHemER

Year ended 31 March 2024 H = 2024 F3 A31 B IEF[E

2024 F 2023 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE AR¥FT AREFIT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETEHFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest paid EfFE (1,891) (2,399)
Proceeds from issue of shares BTG PTISUR 32 = 185,246
New borrowings %ﬁi“f K 5,000 155,000
Repayment of borrowings BEBE (68,500) (65,000)
Interest portion of lease payments HMEFZEHF B (2,900) (2,020)
Principal portion of lease payments MENZNREHD (27,495) (26,487)
Payment of consideration payables T REMRE 29 (28,519) (70,000)
Capital contributions from non-controlling FE#ERE#EZS I+ &
interests - 2,000
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Wi IR IR R = (5,000)
Net cash flows (used in)/from BMEEE (FTH),  Fri8RE
financing activities MEFEE (124,305) 171,340
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND IR& KIRSEE YL~
CASH EQUIVALENTS O ) #%E (82,954) 73,103
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes — [EXRE B & 1,930 4,547
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of i?ﬂﬁ%&fﬁﬁﬁ{%%
year 163,697 86,047
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRAESRASEZEED
END OF YEAR 82,673 163,697
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the 4F&BIISARRA R MEFEIRE
consolidated statement of financial mMEXRPAIINRE R
position and consolidated statement of R EEY
cash flows 25 82,673 163,697
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Kingwisoft Technology Group Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered address
and principal place of business of the Company is P.O. Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands and Room 1204, 12/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan
Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, respectively. The shares
of the Company are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

As at 31 March 2024, the directors of the Company
considered that the Company’s immediate holding company
is Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company Limited and the
Company'’s ultimate holding company is Zhong Zhi Ze Yun
Capital Company Limited. Pursuant to a voting rights
entrustment deed entered into between Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo
Capital Company Limited, Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company
Limited and Mr. HU Shilong, who is an executive director
and the chief executive officer of the Company, on 28
August 2023, each of Zhong zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company
Limited and Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company Limited
agreed to entrust the voting rights over all of its
2,409,823,718 shares of the Company and 455,820,525
shares of the Company, respectively, to Mr. HU Shilong.
Through NINEGO Corporation which holds 212,640,219
shares of the Company and is held as to 40.60% by Mr. HU
Shilong and 59.40% by Ms. LIU Yingying, who is the spouse
of Mr. HU Shilong, and the virtue of the aforementioned
voting rights entrustment deed, Mr. HU Shilong controls the
voting rights of 3,078,284,462 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 64.45% of all the issued shares
of the Company.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
are principally engaged in investment holding, provision of
back-office services (primarily provision of customer service
solutions, and setting up of contact service systems and
centres), comprehensive marketing and agency services and
data centre services.

1.
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Islands K 7& & i % /& 7 1838 33 5% I & — 87
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FRER A 7w ([B#32FT]) GEM £ o

M2024F3A31H  RRABIEZERRBAR
A W) B #% 12 % A 7 AZhong Zhi Xin Zhuo
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ACCOUNTING POLICES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties, equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and contingent consideration, which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

2.1

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

2 BE
A

ZEGAUBBRRIDBEETESHMAE
([BAGHAE)BEM 2 BEBUBREE
AT EBHBREER ) (BREMEREM
HHEEL  FRGHE(TEBGFE
A1) K2 #8) RBE R AR 2 WERE M
e IS HMRDIRBE LK AEDIRE -
HEREYE - BAHEFARMBEE RS 2
BumRE  BAVEAARZZEREER
KAREIIZ A FEFE - AFWHHREMN
ARB(TARED 25 BREBEBIN - B
BEeBANE A AEREON TR -

mEEE

BARBRERFEAA T RENBARTEE
20243 A3MAIEFEMT B wE - B
AREERARR EZEKEZEEHNEE (8
FREBEER) EAEERERSREEHR
RS mA S kARSI Z Rk - WHRE
NEBEHLEHRMEN (A TAEE
BRI EBHREHREAXEFOE N 2B EHE
) R EZZ O RET - BDEVS IR -

103



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> 275 4 H e 4y A FR A 7]
2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT 4E $&

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&30 B4 0% R Bl

31March 2024 202443 A 31 H

2.1
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:
(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(¢)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained and
any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

Insurance Contracts
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction
International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

2.1

2.2
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs
that are applicable to the Group are described below:

(@) Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information rather
than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
The Group has disclosed the material accounting
policy information in note 2 to the financial
statements. The amendments did not have any impact
on the measurement, recognition or presentation of
any items in the Group's financial statements.

(b)  Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting estimates
are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities
use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group's approach and
policy align with the amendments, the amendments
had no impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(0

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception
in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these amendments,
the Group applied the initial recognition exception and
did not recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences for transactions
related to leases. The Group has applied the
amendments on temporary differences related to
leases as at 1 April 2022. Upon initial application of
these amendments, the Group recognised (i) a
deferred tax asset for all deductible temporary
differences associated with lease liabilities (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available), and (ii) a
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences associated with right-of-use assets at 1
April 2022, with cumulative effect recognised as an
adjustment to the balances of retained profits/
accumulated losses and non-controlling interests at
that date. The quantitative impact on the financial
statements is summarised below.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued) 2. EFBER@®

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

22 SR BERRKREZE @)

(c) (Continued) (0 (#&)

HEEEHBERREKAZE

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial

position:
Increase/(decrease)
=i GRd)
As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
R 2024 F 2023 F R 2022 F
3H31H 3H31H 4H1H
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%FiT AREFIT AREFIT
Liabilities aE
Deferred tax liabilities* FIERIAE E * 102 580 377
Total non-current liabilities ERBEELTE 102 580 377
Total liabilities wEE 102 580 377
Net assets BEFE (102) (580) (377)
Equity T
Retained profits RE R
(included in reserves) (Gt AFE®E) - - (363)
Accumulated losses 25TEE
(included in reserves) (Gt BB 97 556 =
Equity attributable to owners  ANAF#EH AFELL
of the Company R (97) (556) (363)
Non-controlling interests IEE AR R = (5) (24) (14)
Total equity P AR (102) (580) (377)
& The deferred tax asset and the deferred tax liability arising * HENME  RA—MBARMBEESNESE

from lease contracts of the same subsidiary have been offset
in the statement of financial position for presentation

purposes.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued) 2. g

=113

BUR (&)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 €HEERIBEEE &)
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(¢) (Continued) (0 (#&)
Impact on the consolidated statement of profit or loss: ES == Ents b
Increase/(decrease)
®m, CRL)
For the year ended 31 March
BEIANBLEE
2024 5 20234
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥TFr AE®FT
Income tax expense FriS &2 (478) =
Income tax credit FriSiiE e - (203)
Loss for the year FAEE (478) 203
Loss for the year attributable to: LA AT FE(EF AEIE
Owners of the Company RARIHEAA (460) 193
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR M 2 (18) 10
(478) 203
Total comprehensive loss for the ATATEGESEAZHEEIRE
year attributable to: A
Owners of the Company ZIN/NETEZ 2=/ (460) 193
Non-controlling interests SEFE R (18) 10
(478) 203
The adoption of amendments to HKAS 12 did not EMERB G EUE 12 (BFTA)H
have any material impact on the basic and diluted H Z=20244F K%2023F3A31H IEF
earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity ERARRAEBEREAEGLER
holders of the Company, other comprehensive income BERREERA - B2 EK S RER
and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the EREMERVTEEMEALE -

years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(d)

110

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements better
understand the entities” exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes, including the disclosure of current tax related to
Pillar Two income taxes separately in the periods when
Pillar Two legislation is effective and the disclosure of
known or reasonably estimable information of their
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in
which the legislation is enacted or substantively
enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has applied
the amendments retrospectively. Since the Group did
not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules,
the amendments did not have any impact to the
Group.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these
revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)#

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)’#

Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 7 and

HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

ks As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding
wording with no change in conclusion

2.3
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2.3

112

ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a right
to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that
the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The
amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled in its
own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion option
in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of
that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with early application permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments
and whether existing loan agreements may require revision.
Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects of
supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the
amendments is permitted. The amendments provide certain
transition reliefs regarding comparative information,
guantitative information as at the beginning of the annual
reporting period and interim disclosures. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency
and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a
measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is
permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity
cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits/accumulated losses or to the cumulative
amount of translation differences accumulated in a separate
component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of
initial application. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

2.

2.3

DEBR (#)

EHEMEMARERZEBITER
SR ()

FEGERFE 7R NBEMBREELFR
75 (BRI A) BRI R B E ZBEH A 3
W BRKEZFERPHELRINEEE - ZFER]
AOBBERTE BT EHRERERE T H#
HERRELHHERAE RERENR
HECARNTE - LFIRFEAZSER]
Ao ZEEFT ARG R ER - FEREH
MEEEM M PHEERHEETBRER
%o REEBHTEEAKENMBHHEE
EREMERTE -

FEEEAF2NREFT R ITRERE
MR- RERERAARSS —BE
% URERZALRERBIAEEFTE
BHIMBIHER - ZFEITABZRKEEE
ko EM B RREREERN TR A LRE
KRR - UFFIRATER - NEAZEER]
REs - BRETHREIILRER - BRAEAZ
FEAANIARAFZERER SN ERE
REBRZ R, Rt B R A R
BB RFANELEZRRFSE(WE
RIMHEE - ZEFEFAHTSHAREN
G MFTEREMERTLE -

=



24

KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> 2575 4 H e 4y A B A )

2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associate is included in profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share
of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investment in the associate, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associate is included
as part of the Group’s investment in an associate.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Except for business combination under common control, the
Group accounted for its business combinations using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input
and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower
than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference
is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and contingent consideration at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level I — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

based on valuation technigues for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

Level 2

Level 3

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for a non-financial asset is required
(other than inventories, investment properties and deferred
tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)

has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)

is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

()  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item
of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of
lease terms and 20%

20% to 33%

20% to 50%

20%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Electronic and other equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the
year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the
year of the retirement or disposal.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in
a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.
Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
and services is capitalised and deferred only when the Group
can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)
(Continued)

Other intangible assets

Other than the brand arising from the Group’s acquisition of
KingNine Holdings Limited in the prior year, which is
considered by the management of the Group as having
indefinite useful life and therefore not subject to
amortisation, the Group’s other intangible assets are
amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Customer relationship 7 years
Technology know-how 5 years
Patent 5 years
Software 3 to 7 years
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful

lives of the assets as follows:

Office premises and staff quarters

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or

condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of properties (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit
or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of accounts receivable
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value,
plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Accounts receivable that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured
at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are
recognised in profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative
fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income
is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-
by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial
asset, in which case such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not
subject to impairment assessment.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host and
accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit
or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or
loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognise an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivable. The ECL on these assets are assessed using a
provision matrix with reference to internal credit rating of
the receivables.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level may
not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and days past due.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the end of the
reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. In particular, the following
information is taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
the event of default occurs when the information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full. The Group considers a financial asset in
default when contractual payments are 90 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate. In certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o a significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

3 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

o a high probability that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
financial liabilities at amortised cost.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts payable,
other payables and accruals, consideration payables,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term.
This category also includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by
HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial
date of recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are
satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss, except
for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit
risk which are presented in other comprehensive income
with no subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. The net
fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (accounts and
other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, accounts and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and an associate,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, deferred tax assets are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When
the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs,
for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers,
i.e., a performance obligation is satisfied, at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. A
performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is
highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e., the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e., the Group is an agent). The
Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer. The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified
good or service by another party. In this case, the Group
does not control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is transferred to
the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it
recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission
to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging
for the specified goods or services to be provided by the
other party.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(a)

Back-office services

The Group provides a range of back-office services
that help its customers to support their end-users. The
back-office services include provision of customer
service solutions which primarily provides round-the-
clock contact services in multiple languages and
accessible from various channels and provision of
solutions on project-based customer service software
and system development and setup support services.

For the provision of customer service solutions related
services, revenue is recognised and the performance
obligation is satisfied when the relevant services are
rendered. The provision of services is billed based on
various measurement mainly taking into account the
number of service staff involved, the quality of the
tasks performed, the service hours provided with fixed
hourly rates and performance based adjustments.
Other than those with advance payments from
customers, the Group has a right to invoice in an
amount that corresponds directly with the value of the
Group's performance completed to date. The directors
of the Company have assessed that provision of
customer service solutions represent one single
performance obligation and the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs. Therefore, the directors of the Company
considered that the services are satisfied over time.
Other than those with advance payments from
customers, revenue from the provision of services is
recognised in an amount to which the Group has a
right to invoice. Customers are invoiced on a monthly
basis or according to agreed payment terms.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

146

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(a)

Back-office services (Continued)

For the provision of service for setting up contact
services systems and centres, it includes a
comprehensive set of activities in the contract, such as
system design, implementation, installation, trial
launch and software and hardware support, which are
highly interdependent and interrelated. The directors
of the Company have assessed that revenue from
provision of the services is recognised and the
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
when the services are rendered according to the terms
of the agreements which the control of the service is
transferred when the Group has provided the related
services.

Some contracts of back-office services require advance
payments from customers and the portion of fee
received in advance but not earned is recorded as
contract liabilities and is reflected as a current liability
as such amounts represent revenue that the Group
expects to earn within one year. Payment of back-
office services is due generally within three months
upon issuance of customer billings.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(b)

Comprehensive marketing and agency services

The Group renders various marketing and agency
services, including advertising and agency services to
brand owners on various platforms such as apps,
social media and websites of which the performance
obligation is to arrange for platforms to deliver
advertising services. Revenue from provision of the
services is recognised when the services are rendered
according to the terms of the agreements over the
service period and the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group'’s performance as the Group performs. Billings
are made to brand owners on an order basis and are
generally due upon issuance of billings. While
platforms usually agree rebate amounts with the
Group on a quarterly basis and settlements are made
within three months after the rebate amounts are
finalised, some platform contracts provide the Group
with annual volume rebates which give rise to variable
consideration subject to constraint.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(c) Data centre services

The Group provides various corporate data centre
services such as value-added services to internet data
centres for securities houses, including their trading
system, quotation system and data processing system.
The revenue is recognised when the relevant services
are rendered and the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group
throughout the contract period. Thus, the Group
satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time with reference to the actual service
period passed relative to the total contract period. The
portion of services fee received in advance but not
earned is recorded as contract liabilities and is
reflected as a current liability as such amounts
represent revenue that the Group expects to earn
within one year.

Performance obligations for the provision of back-office
services, comprehensive marketing and agency services and
data centre services are either for a period of one year or
less or bill a fixed amount for each month of services
provided. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

2. EItEBE@#)

2.4 EXEHBE®)

LON AE))

REBEFEHZHA (#)

(9]

BB O IR

AEERBFARREEBBEES
DB ERGE S REEBURP LR -
BREXZGER REZRLBIERE
BERG - WARRHEBABEREAERR
REESVMERRFRSALFER LS
B FrIR LA R es S FERE © UL - A&
E2ERHES T ENERRE
HE1TR AR E L FE R FHERBUA -
I8 5T WHRB 0 R BRER & BR 75 B &F 0 i
RAAMABRTRBRARBAE - T)
HRZEFRAEEAREBA/R —F
RERER A LA

R 6 RY - 2EEHERRERS MR
RORBOBEOETNHMRS —FRIIAT -
ST AMEERENEESERAHORE
PINE B IS ERIFE 155 B T AIILFT -
WEHBEDBEZERTRANNRHERS o



24

KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> £ #}- 45 45 [ e 4 A R A )

2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Retirement benefit costs include pension scheme
contributions for the Group’s employees in Hong Kong and
Chinese Mainland. The Group operates a defined
contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those eligible Hong Kong
employees. For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group
contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF
Scheme subject only to the maximum level of payroll costs
of HK$30,000 per employee, which contribution is matched
by the employees. Contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operates in
Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the respective local municipal
governments. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of
the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’'s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors of the Company the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or
loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to
an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries not
operating in Chinese Mainland are currencies other than
RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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ACCOUNTING POLICES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences
are attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of
an operation whose functional currency is not RMB, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular
operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of an operation
whose functional currency is not RMB and any fair value
adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
that particular operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of operations whose functional currencies are
not RMB are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of those particular operations which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Accounting for companies governed under
contractual arrangements as subsidiaries

The Company and some of its subsidiaries do not hold any
equity interests in certain of their subsidiaries. Nevertheless,
under the contractual agreements entered into between the
Group and the shareholders who are the registered owners
of those subsidiaries, the directors of the Company
determine that the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of those subsidiaries so as to
obtain benefits from their activities. As such, those
subsidiaries are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group
for accounting purposes.

Determining the method to account for the
revenue arising from provision of comprehensive
marketing and agency services

The Group has entered into contracts with its customers in
relation to its comprehensive marketing and agency services.
The Group has determined, based on an assessment of the
relevant terms and conditions of the contracts as well as the
nature of services rendered in the transactions, that when it
does not control the specified service before it is transferred
to a customer without the involvement of another party, has
no discretion in establishing the price for the service
rendered, has no inventory risk, and is not primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to deliver the service,
the Group is an agent in the transaction and accounts for
the corresponding comprehensive marketing and agency
service on a net basis reflecting the margin earned.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwiill

Determining whether goodwill are impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value
in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units and a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which results in downward revision of
future cash flows, a material impairment loss/further
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March 2024, the cost of
goodwill was RMB630,965,000 (2023: RMB630,965,000),
and the impairment brought forward from the year ended
31 March 2023 was RMB349,385,000. Details of the
recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 17 to
the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3.

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts
receivable

The Group generally uses provision matrix to calculate ECL
for the accounts receivable and the provision rates are
determined for the Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment result categories. The Group's internal credit risk
grading assessment comprises four categories, i.e., low risk,
watch list, doubtful and loss. The estimated loss rates are
determined with reference to various factors, such as
repayment histories and current past due exposure, taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is
available without undue costs or effort. At the end of each
reporting period, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the Group’s accounts receivable and the
ECL is disclosed in notes 22 and 41 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies. The Group did
not recognise any deferred tax assets for unused tax losses
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil). The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2024 was
RMB644,745,000 (2023: RMB598,622,000). Further details
are contained in note 31 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is primarily engaged in the provision of value-
added telecommunications and related services, including
back-office services, comprehensive marketing and agency
services and data centre services. Given that the chief
operating decision maker of the Company considers that the
Group’s business is operated and managed as a single
segment, no further segment information is presented.

Geographical information

(a)

(b)

Revenue from external customers

R B R B
31March 2024 20243 A31H
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2024 F 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
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Chinese Mainland R A B,

1,240,904 888,622

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

Non-current assets
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(b) ¥ TBEE

2024 F 20234
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AR¥FT AREFT

Chinese Mainland R A B, 420,802 611,086
Hong Kong B 887 2,337
Total AR5t 421,689 613,423

The non-current asset information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.

LHEREBEEEFIIIREEMEL
2o TEESRMIARRERIEER

o

f

157



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> £ 8} 45 45 [ e 45 A PR A ]

2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT 4E $&

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

f 3 YA 285 e 3 B

31March 2024 202443 A 31 H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about major customers

During the year, revenues from transactions with single
external customers (including entities under common control
with those customers) amounting to 10% or more of the
Group's revenues are as follows:

REFITER (&)

FEEFEHR

FRREEIIBEL(BIEEZERF
SZHRBZEHNER) AR ZEAEE KA
10% s A _EU A AT ¢

2024 & 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Customer A ZEEA
Customer B =FB

414,628 262,828
283,693 203,502
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REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from contracts with
customers arising from the value-added telecommunication

and related services is as follows:

o 3 T 05 e 7 B
31 March 2024 2024 % 3 A 31 €
' ON

AEBEKRBBEEEMMIBRENEFEH
WADITEAT

2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AREFIT

Back-office services: % B R

Provision of customer service solutions TR P RIS RR T 2 1,185,861 835,634

Set up of contact service system and FE ST AR AR TS R AT R AR

centres 91 1,340

Subtotal NET 1,185,952 836,974
Comprehensive marketing and 2 & iH R AR RS

agency services 32,585 26,135
Data centre services g DRSS 22,367 25,513
Total revenue FEUNON 1,240,904 888,622

Disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts with
customers by the timing of revenue recognition is set out

AEBZWABRRREIDNEP LKA
HAFINAT

below:
2024 & 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARBFT
Over time 45 B R 1,240,813 887,282
At a point in time B2, 91 1,340
Total revenue FEUON 1,240,904 888,622
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. HMWARW=E
2024 F 2023 F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Ha AR¥FT ARBTFT

Investment return from financial BEAFEFABENSHE

assets at fair value through profit EWIZE B 5E

or loss, net

Fair value losses N EEE (2,575) (1,441)

Dividend income Az 2 A 58 67
Interest income B A

Bank interest income HRATH B A 923 930

Other interest income H fth K SN 334 1,607
Fair value gain/(loss) on contingent  SKAREHAFERE

consideration (EBE) (27,623) 110,371
Fair value gain on investment REMENRA T EK = 15

properties 7,957 -
Government grants* IRAT AL ¢ 35,649 26,482
Value-added tax (“VAT") refund” RIBIETR ([HBER]) A 2,446 4,179
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & —FEIF B A Rl R 35 52,269 -
Foreign exchange differences, net =555 4,658 525
Gain on derecognition of financial R IR IR AT B/

liabilities measured at amortised cost & @i & & 2 Wz - 15,926
Gain on early termination of leases ~ fRATAR IEFA &R ULES - 335
Gain on disposal of an associate REHBE AR - 1,623
Others HAh 422 197
Total other income and gains HAup g A Rz 4e %8 74,518 160,801

160

Government grants mainly represented incentives received for
investments in certain regions in Chinese Mainland in which the
Company's subsidiaries operate, employment subsidies and other tax
incentives. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating
to these grants.

Value-added tax refund mainly attributable to the Value-Added Tax
Policy for Software Products (Cai Shui 2011 No. 100), in which for
sale of self-developed software products by a general VAT tax payer,
after VAT is levied at a tax rate of 17%, the refund-upon-collection
policy shall be applied and the portion of the actual VAT burden that
is in excess of 3% shall be refunded; and the Tax Policy for Further
Supporting and Promoting Entrepreneurship and Employment of
Focus Group (Cai Shui 2019 No. 22), in which value-added tax
deduction is granted for entering into employment contracts with the
focus group.

BB E RIER AR RME R RLEHMESE
M E TR KR E PR A 228 - (RIBH R &
H b FRU B - 3% T BY W M R A 2 R ks
REIH

BB BR B B R R S S E R (B
B2011 FF1005%) « B —RIEEB AT AHE
BERENITMER @ K 17% OF R BBCEED
% Fgﬁﬁﬁf‘ﬁ%&&%&ﬁ% W REERIEEN
BRBB3%NHS  RE T IMREEE
ﬁ?éﬂ%?ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬂﬂl&ﬁ%(57}%&2019?%22
%) - ZIRTIA R B R A BRI REARES
BETRL
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LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

7. BRBAIER
AEBERBABAZNGGEA) Tol%

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

(crediting): g :
2024 F 2023 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HfaF AR¥FIT AREFT
Depreciation of property and MERZETE
equipment 14 39,636 28,275
Less: Amount capitalised D= N = (412) (193)
Total HaEt 39,224 28,082
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FFHEEENE 16(a) 30,593 24,871
Amortisation of other intangible T ALATIE B B B Ath A7
assets included in B
Cost of services BR 7S 25 10,745 7,971
Administrative expenses THAX 17,492 17,491
Total At 18 28,237 25,462
Impairment loss on goodwill R REEE 17 224,838 349,385
Impairment losses on financial assets, 4 Fi& 2 (B &5 18 % 48
net
Accounts receivable UL BR #Xk 22 5,953 3,558
Other receivables H 4th e W R IE 23 13,067 13,735
Total 4a=t 19,020 17,293
Loss on disposal of property and L EY RS HEEE
equipment* 386 64
Loss on early termination of leases* 1R F 4R IFTHEHEE * 38 -
Lease payments not included in the ~ Tst ABBEBETENHEE
measurement of lease liabilities BN 16(c) 11,103 2,398
Auditor’s remuneration % EET BN < 3,808 3,677
Employee benefit expense EERNFAX (BEEER
(including directors’ and chief T ABME)
executive’s remuneration)
Wages, salaries and other social & FHehEMte
benefits vl 736,940 496,961
Pension scheme contributions/ RIKESFTEIH A 69,620 49,274
Termination benefits BB m A 2,764 13,623
Less: Amount capitalised B B &R (8,103) (10,763)
Total HEt 801,221 549,095
3 It is included in “Other expenses and losses” in profit or loss. * A& [HtRAX REE] R -
A There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as A ”Qtﬁ AR A AEEEREERBERERSE
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. Ttrﬂ
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31March 2024 202443 A 31 H

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MBHA
An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as REFECEEBNMEKRADITMOT :
follows:
2024 5 2023 %
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

et AR¥TT AR®TT

Interest on lease liabilities HEBBZME 16(b) 2,900 2,020
Interest on consideration payables JEREZFE 29 3,619 6,187
Interest on bank borrowings SRITIE R & 1,891 2,399
Interest on other borrowings H i E TR 2 15,900 14,865
Total 5T 24,310 25,471
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERBRETHAEMSE
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIBE R TR ZEMRE F Em R AI(TGEM E
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of MR L) - BB R EEGIZE 383(1)@) * (b) *
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock OROERAR(BEZEEFZER) 0
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), F2MWBENAFEES e THRA S
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part SR ¢
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AR®TT

Fees EH 1,092 904
Other emoluments: Hip s :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in e EIEREYHE
kind 1,659 5,326
Pension scheme contributions BRI 234 36
Termination benefits BB A - 10,787
Subtotal /NEt 1,893 16,149
Total fees and other emoluments e Rk E MmN B 2,985 17,053
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no
arrangement under which a director of the Company waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration and no remuneration
was paid by the Group to a director of the Company as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group (2023: Nil).

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

9. EENBSITHRAEME®

REZE2024F3A31HIEFE  EARQ
RESENEXREREBEAMNESHOLEE - M
AEFMERARRESINERME - 1E
Y= NN ST R A 1N NS E TS o R =y)
(20234 : 4&) -

2024 2024
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme  Termination Total
Fees inkind contributions benefits remuneration
e 2MR Bifke
e EMFE  REMR BRER BEH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFL ARETn ARETn ARETT AR%fn
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. QU Xiaojian (notes () and (i) — BREERESE 4 (HaF() % (i) - - - - -
Mr. HU Shilong (note (i) and (vif) ~ ERftRESE A (M3 (i) & (vi) - 400 38 - 438
Mr. LI Xiang (note (i) TBEE (HE() - 610 147 - 757
Ms. ZHOU Fang (note (ii)) A5 2+ (fira i) - 400 38 - 438
Ms. LIU Xiaochen (note (iv)) BN+ (Wt (i) - 99 4 = 103
Mr. XU Gang (note (iv)) RIS (B2t () - 90 4 = 94
Mr. WANG Rui (note (iv)) TERE Mz v) - 60 3 - 63
- 1,659 234 - 1,893
Independent non-executive BUFGTES:
directors:
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Stephen MARKSCHEID % 4 273 = = = 273
Mr. ZHANG Weidong REREE 273 - - - 273
Mr. ZENG Liang ZREAE 273 - - - pYE]
Mr. WANG Li (note () TIN5 (K w) 73 - - - 273
1,092 - - - 1,092
1,092 1,659 234 - 2,985
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9.

164

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

9. EENBSITBRAEME @

2023 2023
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Termination Total
Fees inkind  contributions benefits  remuneration
e BHR Y
e ENfls SRR BERER B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Executive directors: HTEE.
Mr. QIU Xiaojian (notes () and (i)  BREER A (Hfaz () K (i) - = = = -
Mr. LI Xiang (note (i) ZBEE (Hi30) = 94 = - 94
Mr. NIU Zhanbin (note (i) B (A () = 2,793 16 6,023 8,832
Mr. LIU Yang (notes (i) and (v) B 5e4 (Bt (i) 2 (v) - 768 - 1,568 2,336
Mr. WU Hui (note (i) RELE (W) - 979 16 3,196 4191
Mr. JJANG Yulin (note () BEMEEHZ0) - 547 4 - 551
- 5,181 36 10,787 16,004
Independent non-executive BUFHTES .
directors:
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Stephen MARKSCHEID 7t 262 - - - 262
Mr. ZHANG Weidong RERAEE 262 - - - 262
Mr. ZENG Liang BREE 262 - - - 262
Mr. WANG Li (note (vi) EARE (K ) 118 - - - 118
904 - - - 904
Co-chief executive officer: BETHESR
Mr. HU Shilong (note (vii)) R RE AL A (Wt (vi) - 145 - - 145
904 5,326 36 10,787 17,053
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

Notes:

@)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

On 7 February 2023, Mr. QIU Xiaojian and Mr. LI Xiang were
appointed as executive directors of the Company.

On 6 March 2023, Mr. NIU Zhanbin resigned as the chairman and an
executive director of the Company, Mr. LIU Yang resigned as the chief
executive officer and an executive director of the Company, and Mr.
WU Hui resigned as the chief operating officer and an executive
director of the Company. Until the appointment of new chief
executive officer of the Company, the executive directors of the
Company continued to oversee the day-to-day management of the
business and operations of the Group. On the same date, Mr. QIU
Xiaojian was appointed as the chairman of the Company.

On 7 November 2023, Mr. HU Shilong was appointed as an executive
director and the chief executive officer of the Company, and Ms.
ZHOU Fang was appointed as an executive director of the Company.

On 8 February 2024, Ms. LIU Xiaochen, Mr. XU Gang and Mr. WANG
Rui were appointed as executive directors of the Company.

On 5 June 2022, Mr. JIANG Yulin was removed as the chief executive
officer and an executive director of the Company. On the same date,
Mr. LIU Yang was appointed as the chief executive officer and an
executive director of the Company.

On 21 October 2022, Mr. WANG Li was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company.

On 23 September 2022, Mr. HU Shilong resigned as the co-chief
executive officer of the Company.

fk 3 S 255 e e B

31 March 2024 202443 A31H
BEENESTHRAEME &)

(i) MN2023F2A7H  BEERIEERFELERSE
FEBRREATES °

(ii) M2023F3A6H  FHBMAEERHERRBERE
RATES - 2FSEBFERRRITRATEH
TEE MRBELERTIAARIEREELERY
TEE - REFEARRBFNITHRAHA - RARH
TEFEFEBASEEGNEEEEREE -
FA - EREEBREERARBERE -

@iy  PR2023F 11 A78 @ tHEEEEEZEAE QA
RWITESRITREE - MASZTEZEAAA
RIMITES ©

(iv)  HR2024F2H8H  Bl/NBR&Z L - RAIFKEERTE
BRERZTARARPITES -

(v) M2022F6 A5H  BEMTEEREEARN AR

BAARFHTESZ AR FEERZERE
RAFTHEHFITES -

(viy HR2022%F10A218 ' THEEERTAARAT
BAUEATES ©

(vi) 202299 A23R8 - IR ABEAR AIHE
THHEH -
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. AfUESHMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included FRNAERSHEEBIE=2(20234F : =
three (2023: three) directors of the Company, details of Z)RARIESE  EFHFMFBEN EXH
whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of 9o REEFHTMZ(2023F : B ) m=EE
the remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2023: MES (WIERARAESFSRZRSTHRAE)H
two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor FHIMEEIBITE ¢

chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2024 F 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKTIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind %% - JEBE R EWFIZS 1,339 1,987
Pension scheme contributions RIRSFTEIH R 28 22
Termination benefits BEE A2 A 1,288 2,836
Total st 2,655 4,845
The number of non-director and non-chief executive, HMN TFUATEHENIEEERIERSITEA
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the 8 EeHEEABNT :

following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EEZHE
2024 & 20234
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 1,500,000 75 7T 1 =
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 & 7T 2 2,000,000 78 7T 1 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 78 7T £ 4,500,000 /8 7T - 1
Total 4t 2 2
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11. INCOME TAX

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"”) and the respective
regulations, the Group'’s entities which operate in Chinese
Mainland are subject to corporate income tax (“CIT") at a
rate of 25% (2023: 25%) on the taxable income, except for
certain subsidiaries which were entitled to a preferential tax
rate of 15% (2023: 15%) because they were accredited as
“High and New Technology Enterprises” and certain
subsidiaries which were entitled to a preferential tax rate of
5% (2023: 5%) of the taxable income between
RMB1,000,000 and RMB3,000,000 because they were
regarded as “small-scaled minimal profit enterprises”, one
of the criteria of which is with annual taxable income no

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

11. FTEH

BIEPZEAREME ([F R ) DERBRE
MIEEER  AEERPEAMEERNERE
JA T e AR R U A IE 25% (2023 4F : 25%) HY
RERBNEEMESR([EEMSR]) - S
THBARIAFERES [ R EMmEE] fm
ZH15% (20234F : 15% ) WEBEHRERLE
THBARAFR A [N M=
B AR 1,000,000 TE A R ¥ 3,000,000 7T
2 B ER T AR 5% (20234 : 5%) KB
BRE  HP—GREREARNHEFED
FERRMMATERA R 3,000,0007T °
AR AL ERF A ERE S ELEE I ER
Tiom Al - BRI L BB A S B AE D B

more than RMB3,000,000 during the corresponding year. (20234 : £#E) o
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year (2023: Nil).
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETFIT
(Restated)
(&e&E51)
Current tax — Chinese Mainland BNEARRIE — A B A
Charge for the year FRZH 8,297 4,971
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBREERE (503) (1,913)
7,794 3,058
Deferred (note 31) IR (fHaE31) (2,764) (3,797)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FRMIEZ L, (HE) 258 5,030 (739)

The share of tax attributable to an associate amounting to
RMB3,000 (2023: Nil) is included in “Share of loss of an
associate” in profit or loss.

BN R BITAEA R 3,000 7T(2023 4F ¢
)T ABRZ [[E(RHERREE] -
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11. INCOME TAX (Continued) 1. FiB# @)
BAREEAE M B R R BDEER
R E BT AT B E A e BIER X
%) BRERBREAEORERS (ER)

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to loss
before tax at the statutory tax rate of the PRC in which the
majority of the Group’s subsidiaries are established to the

12.

tax expense/(credit) at the effective tax rate is as follows: HEBRIAR -
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFIT
(Restated)
(F&=751)
Loss before tax BR 7% A ES 18 (199,917) (236,956)
Tax at the statutory rate of 25% R 25% (2023 4F :
(2023: 25%) 25%) T EHIHIA (49,979) (59,239)
Lower tax rates for other jurisdictions or  E b GlAHRE R sk 3 7 #4RA 1B 7R HY
enacted by local authorities BIEH 2 5,032 25,404
Adjustments in respect of current tax of 38 B BN HAR: 18 75 &
pervious periods (503) (1,913)
Loss attributable to an associate B A ) B (G B 18 (175) )
Income not subject to tax HABBA - (20,958)
Expenses not deductible for tax NAMHIFR A 2 44,467 58,082
Tax losses utilised from previous periods &7+ HAfS 2 &) A B 1B 518 (9,792) (3,533)
Tax losses not recognised AAERT B 23,109 7,782
Temporary differences not recongised AERERER = 323
Tax effect of 100% relief with respect to 75 B 2% RS2 100 % & % B 14 75
research and development expenses 2= (7,129) (6,685)
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s BAEEERMRAERNTIE
effective rate X (ER) 5,030 (739)

DIVIDENDS

12. BRE

HE2024F3 831 HIEFEIERAR A
LB S e IRBR MRS - BHREH
7R DA B I 4 4% 5 R 2 (T ) AR B (2023 4F ¢
) o

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2024, nor
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2023: Nil).
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13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss (2023: loss) per share
amount is based on the loss (2023: loss) for the year
attributable to owners, i.e., ordinary equity holders, of the
Company of RMB197,382,000 (2023: RMB230,329,000
(restated)), and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 4,776,019,590 in issue during the year (2023:
4,578,040,138).

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss (2023: loss)
per share amount presented for the year ended 31 March
2024 in respect of a dilution because the Group had no
potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the year
ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based
on:

13

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

N

éﬂ%?ﬁ%é%ﬁk@ﬁ%ﬂi

PN
&

R EAREIE (20234 : 518) IBREAA
A A BT EEREEA) BIEFAER
(20234 : [E518) AR#197,382,0007T(2023
F: ANR#230,329,000 T (REH)) K 4F
A B 31T & A% in4E 19 204,776,019,590
fi% (2023 £ : 4,578,040,138 %) 51 & -

AR ANEBREE2024E3 8318 ILEE
WA BB EE L @R (20234F « &) -
WM ER B E A E2024F3A31HIEF
E2F M EREAEIE(2023F : Fi8) 2
BIEHFARE o

BREANEEBRIRBATERAE

2024 20234
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR#FT AREFT
(Restated)
(F&&E75)
Loss [ F
Loss attributable to ordinary equity ARG ESRERREFTRZF D
holders of the Company used in the AR R L EEREE ARG
basic and diluted earnings per share E51E
calculation 197,382 230,329
Number of shares
RGO EE
2024 F 2023
Shares B 13
Weighted average number of ordinary BRTESRER R EEEIEN
shares in issue during the year used in FAEBITE MR
the basic and diluted loss per share
calculation 4,776,019,590 4,578,040,138
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31March 2024 202443 A 31 H

14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 14. YIERFME
Furniture, Electronic
Leasehold  fixtures and and other Motor
improvements  equipment equipment vehicles Total
B #£8 BEfK
HEMERE R#EE Hitii s B @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBTn  ARETT AR¥TnT ARETxn

31 March 2024 202453 A31H1

At 1 April 2023 R2023564H1H

Cost D#N 93,855 3,106 45,692 5,027 147,680
Accumulated depreciation ZiihE (31,929) (1,060) (17,382) (1,792) (52,163)
Net carrying amount BREFE 61,926 2,046 28,310 3,235 95,517

Costat 1 April 2023, netof R 2023F4 A 18
accumulated depreciation B - R 25

e 61,926 2,046 28,310 3,235 95,517

Additions NE 32,645 2,569 5,959 268 41,441
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHEAR

(note 35) (Hfz#35) (1,295) - (386) - (1,681)
Disposals & - ()] (990) (341) (1,333)
Depreciation provided during ~ FREHENE

the year (23,389) (2,396) (12,867) (984) (39,636)
Transfers B (4,984) 4,984 = = =
Exchange realignment TR 5 - - - 5
Cost at 31 March 2024, R2024%3A31H

net of accumulated RO - HIBR R5T

depreciation e 64,908 7,201 20,026 2,178 94,313
At 31 March 2024 R2024563A31H
Cost B 117,144 12,909 49,836 4,954 184,843
Accumulated depreciation 58 (52,236) (5,708) (29,810) (2,776) (90,530)
Net carrying amount BREHE 64,908 7,201 20,026 2,178 94,313
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31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14. ERZRE®E)
Furniture, Electronic
Leasehold fixtures and and other Motor
improvements equipment equipment vehicles Total
B KB ERN
HEMEEE B Hi R HE Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFT  ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETRT

31 March 2023 202343 A31H

At 1 April 2022 20254711

Cost %N 63,019 898 26,821 3,934 94,672
Accumulated depreciation 2EE (15,003) (780) (7,544) (844) (24,171
Net carrying amount REHE 48,016 118 19,277 3,090 70,501

Costat 1 April 2022, netof K 2022%F4 A 18
accumulated depreciation B - kR 25t

e 48,016 118 19,277 3,090 70,501

Additions RE 21,294 191 13,533 1,053 36,071
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEERB AR

(note 34) (HiiE34) 9,542 2,017 5,749 40 17,348
Disposals HE - - (162) = (162)
Depreciation provided during ~ FREHENE

the year (16,959) (281) (10,087) (948) (28,275)
Exchange realignment R 33 1 - - 34
Cost at 31 March 2023, R®2023F3A31H

net of accumulated MR+ Bk 25t

depreciation e 61,926 2,046 28,310 3,235 95,517
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3A31H
Cost PR 93,855 3,106 45,692 5,027 147,680
Accumulated depreciation 2EE (31,929) (1,060) (17,382) (1,792) (52,163)
Net carrying amount BRESE 61,926 2,046 28,310 3,235 95,517
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15.

172

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. REWE

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ETFT ARBTIT

Carrying amount at 1 April R4 A1 BRREE = =
Amount transferred from prepayments e IENRIER 25

(note 23) (Btat23) 3,289 -

Additions NE 774 =
Net gain from a fair value adjustment AERER R FEE

(note 6) (Hiite6) 7,957 =

Carrying amount at 31 March R 3 A31 BREREE 12,020 =

The Group's investment properties consist of one industrial
property in Chinese Mainland, which were revalued on 31
March 2024 based on valuations performed by AVISTA
Business Consulting (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.,, an independent
professionally qualified valuer, at RMB12,020,000. Each
year, the Group’s management decide to appoint which
external valuer to be responsible for the external valuations
of the Group’s investment property. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The Group's
management have discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed for annual financial reporting.

The investment property is held with an intention to lease to
third parties under operating leases to earn rental income.

The Group's investment property is categorised within Level
3 of the fair value measurement hierarchy. During the year,
there were no transfers of fair value measurements between
Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2023: Nil).

AEENKEMEBIE—BMARF R A
TEWHE ZEWER2024F3831HIR
BB BEAERGEMYEBAEEZACR
INBERAGDETHHEEGAARKE
12,020,0007C - BF - AEEEREERESR
TEEAREEIRE YIS EERNINBEE
B o BURER|IREMS MG B2 By E
LRREHBEFEKRE AEEEEERFE
B RS T ER EAEM T mAERR
AR

FARBEDENENERELEHNEAT
F=FARBESKA -

AEERNKEMEBN AT EFEBRE=
WA FN - AFEFTEWENE — K
FoMEER NEEAKEHE=R
(2023 : &) o
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the
key inputs to the valuation of the Group’s investment

fk 3 S 255 e e B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

15. BEWHE (#)

AT AR B E MRS EBEERM &
TEHAREBME

property:
Rate or
Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs average value
(GBS 0] BANAIE SR A SR tEER S IHE
Term and reversion FHRERZE Reversionary yield L ERES 6.80%
method 6.80%
Market rent (per square GiEickn RMB10.73

metre per month)

The term and reversion method measures the fair value of
the property by taking into account the rental income
derived from the existing leases of comparable properties
with due allowance for the reversionary income potential of
the leases, which are then capitalised into the value at
appropriate rates.

A significant increase (decrease) in the reversionary yield in
isolation would result in a significant decrease (increase) in
the fair value of the investment property. A significant
increase (decrease) in the market rent would result in a
significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
investment property.

(BABFHK) ARKE10737T

FHRERETENENRFE  HREKR
AELEYMEREHENESWA - Wl
EMBEEERBAFLHEEEE  ERIZE
EHXRBEERFEER -

EMENAFEERERD (BN - mHEEE
RIEE OB A) BHEBIREMEN A FEX
B A O ) e
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22 N 23

o B B 2 B

31 March 2024 2024 3 A31H

16. LEASES
The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for various buildings for office
premises and staff quarters used in its operations, and the
lease terms ranged from two years to ten years.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use

16. FHE
AEEEREBAA
AEEFHLERERANPATYERST
BEMSERTIVAEAL BN TR
ETAE o
(a) EFELE

AEEEREEE (BT NKREE

assets, i.e., buildings, and the movements during the RERNEEBWT -
year are as follows:
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARBTIT

Carrying amount at the beginning of R ¥REHAMI M ERE (A

the reporting period 52,916 42,370
Additions NE 40,662 35,034
Additions as a result of acquisition of ~ EUREEHTE A& MIRE

subsidiaries (note 34) (KiaE34) - 8,678
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 35) HE—M B AR (AaE35) (317) =
Depreciation charge WEEZH (30,593) (24,871)
Lease extension THEEH 13,491 -
Lease termination HEXIE (7,340) (8,295)
Carrying amount at the end of the S BRE BRI B

reporting period 68,819 52,916
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16. LEASES (Continued) 16. HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEEEREABAE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FRNHEEENEREEREDHNT :

movements during the year are as follows:

2024 5 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETFT AREFT
Carrying amount at the beginning of ¥ & HAFI A BRE(E
the reporting period 48,422 38,948
New leases e 40,662 35,034
Additions as a result of acquisition of ~ EUWEWE QG MAE
subsidiaries (note 34) (Ktat34) - 9,557
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 35) & — B R F (Hfat35) (310) —
Accretion of interest recognised FREREF SN
during the year 2,900 2,020
Payments (NE:N (30,395) (28,507)
Lease extension THEREH 13,491 =
Lease termination MERIE (7,302) (8,630)
Carrying amount at the end of the R E AR EREE
reporting period 67,468 48,422
Analysed into: DR
Current portion meEnEk g
Repayable within one year —FNEER 22,448 23,098
Non-current portion IEmENE S
Repayable in the second year 8 —F(ERE 17,224 13,530
Repayable in the third to fifth years, HRE=ZFAF (BIEER
inclusive ) B8 27,504 11,101
Repayable beyond five years AFEEREE 292 693
Subtotal /NEF 45,020 25,324
Total FEE 67,468 48,422
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A 0 S0 B A i

31March 2024 202443 A 31 H

16. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities based on the
contractual undiscounted payments is disclosed in

note 41 to the financial statements.

16. HE (&)

REBER/EBA @)

(b)) HERMEHE)

BHRRMBENE

AN E R EEIH
7Fﬁ5¢ﬂ7ﬁ%#&%‘%ﬂﬁﬁ41 B

(c) The amounts charged/(credited) to profit or () REz=FHIER (:tA) BEEHEER
loss in relation to leases are as follows: SEUT :
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AREFIT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBZFIE 2,900 2,020
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEERE
assets 30,593 24,871
Loss/(gain) on early termination of R IETHE R EE(UES)
leases 38 (335)
Expense relating to short-term leases EAEEEENRX 11,103 2,398
Total amount recognised in profit or R IEzSHER A 4258
loss 44,634 28,954
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d HAERETHEBNMBRRNZ

36(c) to the financial statements.
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Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
attributable to KingNine Holdings Limited (“KingNine”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “KingNine Group”) which are
principally engaged in the provision of back-office services
(primarily provision of customer service solutions, and setting
up of contact service systems and centres), comprehensive
marketing and agency services and data centre services. As
at 31 March 2024, the recoverable amount of the KingNine
Group cash-generating unit (“CGU") has been determined
based on a value-in-use calculation and this valuation was
performed by an independent qualified professional valuer.
The calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group
covering a 5-year period. The KingNine Group’s cash flows
beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a perpetual
growth rate of 2.5% (2023: 3.0%). This perpetual growth
rate approximates the long term average growth rate of the
relevant business in Chinese Mainland, which is similar to
the long term average inflation rate in Chinese Mainland.

17. GOODWILL 17. B8
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARMBTFT

Cost at 1 April 4 B 1 BB 630,965 581,824
Accumulated impairment at 1 April R4 H1 B8 RFHRE (349,385) -
Net carrying amount at 1 April 4 [ 1 BrRIREFE 281,580 581,824
Cost, net of accumulated impairment, at P ¥REBAFIAIKA - 1k

the beginning of the reporting period RETRE 281,580 581,824
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) WRE I B A 7] (B &t 34) = 49,141
Impairment JRE (224,838) (349,385)
Cost, net of accumulated impairment, at 78 #iK 2 A AX

the end of the reporting period IR REHREE 56,742 281,580
Cost at 31 March 73 A 31 BEARA 630,965 630,965
Accumulated impairment at 31 March M3 A31 B R RE (574,223) (349,385)
Net carrying amount at 31 March M3 H31 BMEREFE 56,742 281,580
Impairment testing of goodwill HERERR

i R TS A B 1S A9 B B R B R KingNine
Holdings Limited ([KingNine) & H & 2 7]
(%18 [KingNine 5B |) - 2S5 RRIEERSE
RIEE ARG (EZRBEEPRBBATE -
AR B AR R TS R T R AR ) ~ A TH & 4
RAIEARTS RBE O BRTE © 72202443 A
318 ' KingNine sBIR e EE B ([REE
EBA]) 2R E SR IREREEBETER
FETABBAGEREYSEREEGERM
HEIT - ZETERAERAE BB E it
MERFHUBEENRESREEN -
KingNine & B 5 F HARR LASNAY IR € 2 H A
KAEIER T2 5% (20234 : 3.0%) HH - %
KB R R B AR B N b AR B IS M R A
BRENEE - BNEA B A A & BT EAR
ERA e
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17.

178

GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculation are as
follows:

Revenue growth and perpetual growth rates

Revenue growth rates were estimated ranging from 3.0%
to 11.4% (2023: 3.3% to 26.0%) per annum for the
KingNine Group CGU throughout the 5-year budget plan,
as determined by management with reference to the
historical rates in prior years, adjusted by management’s
outlook of expected market development. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated by using a
steady perpetual growth rate of 2.5% (2023: 3.0%).

Discount rate

Discount rate was estimated to be 21.6% (2023: 23.4%)
which is before tax and represents the current market
assessment of the risks specific to the KingNine Group CGU,
taking into consideration the time value of money and
individual risks of the underlying assets that have not been
incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate
calculation is based on the specific circumstances of the
Group and its operating segment and is derived from its
weighted average cost of capital (“WACC"). The WACC
takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity
is determined using the Capital Asset Pricing Model
("CAPM"). The CAPM depends on a number of inputs
reflecting financial and economic variables, including risk-
free rate and a premium to reflect the inherent risk of the
business being evaluated. These variables are based on the
market’s assessment of the economic variables and
comparable listed companies with business scopes and
operations similar to those of the CGU. The cost of debt is
based on the interest-bearing borrowings the Group is
obliged to service. Company specific risk is incorporated by
valuer’s professional judgement and experience, including
the consideration of unlisted company risk premium and
business risk in sustaining the future growth.

Such estimation is based on the KingNine Group CGU'’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the
market development.

17. BE#)

BB RER (@)

AEEREERANIERRAOT

WA BREKEERE

RE[AFBETEIA © KingNine £ @38 &
ELEBMARAERRGEHANTEE0%~
11.4% (20234 : 3.3% £26.0%) * JhiHE
BEX2EAFNELEREMETE @ WREK
EEEMNESMSEENSETHE - AF
HemRERENMERBEKEERE2.5%
(20234 : 3.0%) hNAMEE o

R E

8 I8 R (H 5t A221.6% (20234 : 23.4%) °
ZAR3R & TyBR B AT B 48 KingNine B3R € &=
HBEMSFERBHIBITTESNE  ERERE
NEBNEFMEEMRSREMFTHIES
M EREEENER R o BRI AR E
BERESESIBHEFEBRGTE « WA E
MNEFHES A ([INEFHESKA]) -
INEFITE SR RE RiEs o BRIERK
AEBRERAEEEBEXN([EAEETEEE
KDETE - EAEEEBREATURRZER
Bk B 75 R AR B 2 VB AU - BIEEERR
FR K REFT G 2 BB RRAEE
ZEEFSNEREKESSUAREBREE R
LEEUNESEEASEMNNMBEE EMARE
miGaHaMmE c EHEKANBBEAEEER
FEEN BEEFE - NARIMEE R KR
L EMN B HE R ERINAERE - &F
BIEEBEAR TR ARG E &4 R E
BREZEBRER °

B R ET TR B KingNine R B & E £ B
ZBERBAREEBHTSER 2 TAHES -
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Discount rate (Continued)

Due to complex environmental factors such as the
weakening of the global economy and slower-than-expected
growth of certain consumer product/service segments in the
PRC, the recovery of the PRC’s overall economy was
disturbed, and the growth of service demand from some of
the KingNine Group’s customers was at a slow pace,
resulting in a slower growth rate of revenue generated from
the main business of the Group. The recoverable amount of
the KingNine Group CGU at 31 March 2024 was
RMB298,253,000 (2023: RMB542,286,000), which was
lower than the KingNine Group’s carrying amount (before
impairment) of goodwill and other assets including
intangible assets at 31 March 2024 with an aggregate
amount of RMB523,091,000 (2023: RMB891,671,000),
resulting in an impairment loss on goodwill of
RMB224,838,000 charged to profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2024 (2023: RMB349,385,000).

Sensitivity of value in use to reasonably possible changes in
key assumptions:

Revenue growth rate

A decrease/increase in the revenue growth rate of 5%
would result in a decrease/increase in value in use by
RMB10,998,000/RMB11,120,000.

Discount rate

An increase/decrease in discount rate by 1% would result in
a decrease/increase in value in use by RMB46,098,000/
RMB52,120,000.

Based on the sensitivity presented above, the directors of
the Company considers it reasonably possible that a 5%
decrease in revenue growth rate would result in an
additional impairment of RMB10,998,000 and a 1%
increase in discount rate would result in an additional
impairment of RMB46,098,000.

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

17. BE#)

BB RERH @)
BBEEE)

AR EEREER TS T HER RS
DEPIERIENTE SR FHIRIEA X - REE
BEORIEEET B T8 - KingNine EE I H &
FRRBHERIEREE  BRAEEFEE
THEE A A MR A 3R B4R © KingNine 52 B3R &
EEBEMMR2024F3 A31 B O £ 58
A N R #298,253,0007L (20234 : AR
542,286,000 7C ) * 1K M KingNinef & 7
2024F3 A3 BB REMEE (BIRER
EE)VMNEBME(REN) A XEARE
523,091,000 C(2023F : A R ¥
891,671,0007T ) © B & £ 20244F 3 A 31
B I F [Z 2 R E B B A R 224,838,000
7t (20234 : AR #349,385,0007T) B 828
kR o

EREEHARERNEIER EEBHHR
g :

WA B RE

BEERKAMBAZRRTRE 5% &8
BAEREER D, A K% 10,998,000
7T/ AR 11,120,000 7T °

BHREE

BRI R FF TR 1% & B8 E B EER
1A R 46,098,000 A R
52,120,000 7T ©

AR ENEINBRE ARAREERAE
F U A8 R N & 5% ] fEE HER MR E A
R #10,998,000 T * MAGIRE EF1% A g
B EEINBIEA R 46,098,000 7T ©
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. Hitt B & &
Customer  Technology Development
Brand relationship  know-how Patent cost Software Total
il
Mk EFBR 4 S 4] RRAA BH st

RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMB'000
ARBTEL  ARETL ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT  ARETT

31 March 2024 2024%3A31H

At 1 April 2023 R203F4818

Cost AR 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,39 8,791 58,660 236,547
Accumulated amortisation RS - (21:317) (21,683) (2,39) - (11,030) (56,426)
Net carrying amount REFE 61,900 39,383 247 - 8,791 47,630 180,121

Costat 1 April 2023, netof ~ % 2023%4 R 18
accumulated amortisation AL H% 2t

B 61,900 39,383 22,417 - 8,791 47,630 180,121
Additions WRE = = = - 11,447 7% 12,241
Transfers =7 - - - - (18,488) 18,488 -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHBAA
(note 35) (it 35) - - - - - (1.982) (1982)
Amortisation provide during £ EHRE
the year - (8,672) (8,820) - - (10,745) (28,237)

Cost at 31 March 2024, R2024%3A31R

net of accumulated M« TR R

amortisation g5 61,900 30,711 13,597 - 1,750 54,185 162,143
At 31 March 2024 R202453A318
Cost KA 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,39 1,750 11,173 242,619
Accumulated amortisation ~ Z5HE = (29,989) (30,503) (2,3%) = (17,588) (80,476)
Net carrying amount RAFE 61,900 30,711 13,597 - 1,750 54,185 162,143
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 18. HWEFEE »)
Customer  Technology Development
Brand relationship  know-how Patent cost Software Total
il
miE EFBE EXA3 3] ELR Bl i

RMBO00  RMBO0  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  AMBOO0  RMBO00  RMB'00
ARBFL  ABETT ARMTT ARETT ARETT  ABETT  ARMTZ

31 March 2023 2023%3A318

At 1 April 2022 R202%F45 18

Cost A 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,39 19,799 26,145 215,040
Accumulated amortisation  E5HESE - (12,646) (12,863) (2,396) - (3,059) (30,964)
Net carrying amount RRFE 61,900 48,054 31,237 - 19,799 23,086 184,076

Costat 1 April 2022, netof ~ K 20224 F1H
accumulated amortisation  EVARAS - 1% 23t

B 61,900 48,054 31,237 - 19,799 23,086 184,076

Additions RE - = - - 17,545 920 18,465

Transfers &% - - - - (28,553) 28,553 -

Acquisition of subsidiaries  WEEKBAA - - - - - 3,042 3,042
Amortisation provided ERGHREE

during the year - (8,671) (8,820) - - (7.971) (25,462)

Costat 31 March 2023, net 720233 A31H

of accumulated MR - IR 25t

amortisation B 61,900 39,383 22,417 - 8,791 47 630 180,121
At 31 March 2023 R2023%53A318
Cost KA 61,900 60,700 44,100 2,3% 8,791 58,660 236,547
Accumulated amortisation 5T - (21317) (21,683) (2,39%) - (11,030) (56,426)
Net carrying amount FHFE 61,900 39,383 247 - 8,791 47,630 180,121
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18.

19.

182

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The brand is considered by the management of the Group
as having indefinite useful life because it is expected to
contribute to net cash inflows to the Group indefinitely. The
brand is not amortised, and its recoverable amount has been
assessed together with the goodwill arising from the
acquisition of the KingNine Group, details of which are set
out in note 17 to the financial statements.

As at 31 March 2024, in addition to the brand, the Group's
other intangible assets included customer relationship,
technology know-how, and software with carrying amounts
amounting to RMB30,711,000, RMB13,597,000 and
RMB9,628,000 (2023: RMB39,383,000, RMB22,417,000
and RMB12,036,000), respectively, arose from the
acquisition of the KingNine Group, and their respective
remaining amortisation periods were 4.54 years, 2.54 years
and 4.54 years (2023: 5.54 years, 3.54 years and 5.54
years).

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

8. HhEFEE »#)

AEBEEERAREEERA AT
I ERETEReERHAREESRE S
MAFEE o Z e & - Hr e S5
2 78 R U B8 KingNine S B FT & £ M e 2 — OF
S - FEIBEA M IS mARMET o

M20243A318 ' BRmhEs - AEEK
HithE\BREEERRERFBER BT EEAH
REft - BREED Bl & AR 30,711,000
7T~ AR¥13,597,0007T K2 A R #9,628,000
75 (2023 F : AR¥39,383,0007T « ARE
22,417,000 7T &2 A R #12,036,0007T) * T
E B KingNine R BIMESL - HEBHER T
B8 D Pl BASAE 2545 RAS4F
(20234 : 5544 - 354 5544 ) »

19. R—EBEQRNRE

2024 % 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥F T ARETFT

Share of net assets E(EEEFE 4,201 -
Goodwill on acquisition W g g 23,451 =
Total st 27,652 =

The Group held 49% equity interest in Chengdu ThinkMore
Technology Co., Ltd., which used to be a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group. Details of the disposal transaction
are set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

REBEFERHRE EBRAR AR 49%
B ZAREAARENEEMBAR -
HERX S ZFHBEHNPERERMEIS -
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INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The following table illustrates the financial information of
the Group’s associate which is not considered individually
material:

fk 3 S 255 e e B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

19. R—EHBERQATNERE &)

IR A AN S B A Bl AR R I E KRB
RAWHBER

2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARBTF T
Share of the associate iy NG|
Loss for the year FNEE 699 -
Other comprehensive income for FREMEERE
the year = =
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAZHEEERRE 699 =
Carrying amount of the Group’s REERBE R RIRENKRAE
investment in the associate 27,652 -
EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT  20. s EARAFET AHMBEZEK
FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER mHERRE

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The Group held equity interests in certain unlisted entities
established in the PRC, the fair values of whom were stated
at nil as at 31 March 2024 (2023: RMB300,000).

During the year, one of the Group’s equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income with a carrying amount of RMB300,000 was held by
Chengdu ThinkMore Technology Co., Ltd., the disposal
details of which are set out in note 35 to the financial
statements. There was no fair value change during the year
(2023: fair value loss of RMB15,264,000) recorded in other
comprehensive income.

ZKEIﬁ*ﬁ_”:FE/\EPEKIH’HFLmEEE
A fE - A FER2024FE3 831 B3R
2(2023¢ : AR®300,0007T) °

RAFE  NEBEER—BEMEAARKE
300,000 LW E B A FEF AREMEE
WS EHKSRE LR ERA
AlEH  EREFE ﬁﬁ’\ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁé‘ﬂw
FRWEAFEELE) (2023F : A FEEE
AR#& 15,264,000 7T ) 5T A E b 2 H Yz o
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21.

22,
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INVENTORIES 7&
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT ARBFIT
Accessories, phones and packages fiotf - BRE R B 24 30
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE . AR
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT AREFIT
Accounts receivable FEULBR ZX 680,710 605,941
Impairment B (12,502) (6,629)
Net carrying amount AREDFE 668,208 599,312

The Group generally allows a credit period of within three
months to its customers upon issuance of customer billings.
The directors of the Company are of the view that there
have been no significant increase in credit risk of default
because the amounts are from customers with good credit
rating and continuous repayment. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed periodically.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its accounts receivable balances.
Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing.

AEB-—RETHEPEHLEPRERS
BEAARKEER ARREFTRARENE
SRR B AR RN ZERIERE
AR EEFRIBFEERNEP - £EX
ERFELZH  AEEGHEEERTPH
FEEER YRELZRXPHERERE - KT
BEEZEELEREFIEERR - A%
1% 36 45 L R MR BR SR A B B R am K
HibEREaEE - BKERARE -
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 22. EWERRR (40)
An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end R|EHR - BURERFIRIBH RS B H &N
of the reporting period, based on the date of services MoBEEEEENRER ST
rendered and net of loss allowance for impairment, is as
follows:
2024 5 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARETFIT

Within 60 days 60BN 204,455 233,016
61 to 120 days 61£120H 178,874 134,923
121 to 180 days 1212180 H 56,900 61,860
Over 180 days 180 B 227,979 169,513
Total wst 668,208 599,312
Details of impairment assessment of accounts receivable are JE 15 BR FOR (B AT 8 5 15 3000 B 75 3R 2k M e
set out in note 41 to the financial statements. 41 °

As at 31 March 2024, there were no accounts receivable R2024F3H31H « BIERUEERR(20234F -
(2023: RMB250,000,000) pledged as security for the A R #250,000,0007T) B EIFIER AR EE
Group's bank loans. RITERERE o

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of FEWERFUREE B R BT

accounts receivable are as follows:

2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARETT

At beginning of the reporting period KRR & B ) 6,629 3,071
Impairment losses, net (note 7) SREESTE - JFEE (M) 5,953 3,558
Disposal of a subsidiary & —fEfTE AR (80) =
At end of the reporting period RS HAR 12,502 6,629
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23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. ERRIE  HtEWRIER HAth
AND OTHER ASSETS BE
2024 & 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARBETFT
Current; me
Prepayments TERT IR 16,369 34,181
Due from former subsidiaries G NIEPNGIE R 25,032 29,195
Due from an associate i el N T 19,500 -
Deposits, other receivables and e - E‘rﬁlﬁé\%{mlﬁ&
other assets Hi&EE 48,616 40,659
109,517 104,035
Impairment B (31,636) (23,519)
Subtotal NET 77,881 80,516
Non-current: IERB
Prepayments for the investment property & & Y1238~ 78 (s 15)

(note 15) - 3,289
Rental and management fee deposits HeRkEEEBRS 3,750 4,253
Subtotal NET 3,750 7,542
Total 5t 81,631 88,058
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23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. AR  HittEW R E R H A
AND OTHER ASSETS (Continued) BE®
The amounts due from former subsidiaries before FE U /T B /B A BB Bl s B IR B T A X
impairment are interest-bearing at a fixed rate of 6% per 6% T2~ IR LA EREE - MEW
annum, unsecured and repayable on demand and the B NRFRIEARE  BIEENENR—FR
amount due from an associate is interest-free, unsecured B& -

and repayable within one year.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of FE U AT B B A B I Iz = FE W GRTB B SR (E
amounts due from former subsidiaries and other receivables EEREES T

are as follows:

2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARETFIT

At beginning of the reporting period RERE B ) 23,519 9,784
Impairment losses, net (note 7) SRBESTE - JFEE (M) 13,067 13,735
Disposal of a subsidiary & — KB A (4,950) -
At end of the reporting period KRR E R 31,636 23,519
Details of impairment assessment of financial assets included HAFEN I i EOE R EMEEN
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets are set SRMEERBENGFBHAY SRR T
out in note 41 to the financial statements. 41 o
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24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24. BRAFETABEZENEREE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2024 & 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKTIT

Listed equity investments s E - 3,952
Unlisted equity investments FEETRERIEE 4,812 7,116
Total #BET 4,812 11,068
There was no listed equity investments at 31 March 2024. 20243 A31H B EmESKRE -
The listed equity investments at 31 March 2023 included MR2023FE3A3TEHN FmESEEBRES
listed securities in Hong Kong of RMB1,320,000 and listed B EE S AR 1,320,000 T REFEES
securities in the United States of America of RMB2,632,000. FE EHES AR 2,632,000 °

The unlisted equity investments were the Group’s minority JE RIS E AANE BN EE R B A
interests in four unlisted companies engaging in marketing, WMEMSERE  HEXBEBEBRNIELTA
promotion or live broadcasting businesses in Chinese BIH D EERS o

Mainland.

The listed equity investments were classified as financial FHERIEETREES o EARATE
assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held Bt ABHZBOESREE - AN AEE Y R
for trading. The unlisted equity investments were classified BEBEMmeEmKEER AT EIES - WIE
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as the SIS ESEARATE ABENS
Group has not elected to recognise the fair value gain or BhEEE o

loss through other comprehensive income.
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 25 RERBEEBYUREHRER
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

2024 & 20234

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKTT

Cash and bank balances He MIRITE 83,267 166,754
Time deposits TE B K 3,157 -
Subtotal NEt 86,424 166,754
Less: Pledged time deposits for B BERERPEAESRFER
customer contracts (3,157) (3,057)
Restricted cash ZRHIRE (594) -
Cash and cash equivalents Re KRB EEY 82,673 163,697
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash REREEAR - AREBRKR T R A A A REET
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB placed in ENHRELNBESEEBYHEAEREK
Chinese Mainland amounted to approximately 77.611,0007T (20234 : A R# 65,782,000
RMB77,611,000 (2023: RMB65,782,000) is not freely ) AEBEA AT AL BRAEMER - K
convertible into other currencies, however, under Chinese T AR 35 A B A dh B 90 BE B 3 (R 171 K2 45 B
Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and EENMIEEERT  ANEBEEFBER
Administration of Settlement and Sale and Payment of REEITINE X BHEITIEARK N A H i
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to T o

exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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25.

26.

190

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (Continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at rates based on daily bank
deposit rates or respective time deposit rates ranging from
0.01% to 2.75% (2023: 0.01% to 2.75%).

The Group's restricted cash mainly arose from the control
measures imposed in relation to the fulfillment of payment
requirements of a supplier contract.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the date of service received,
is as follows:

26.

BERRESFEVUAREREFR

(%)

RITREBIENTF0.01%E2.75% (20234
0.01% £2.75%) B & B iR 1717 5k F = =k 48
Ji& TE #1720 A1 SR BR A 8. o

AEENTRRS T BEARBIT—HEE
A AN IR E R IR B T A -
FEAS BR X

RIREHAR - EABRFRERIRE B S
ST

A
N
A
554

2024 5 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBTIT

Within 60 days 60 HA 7,487 5,320
61 to 120 days 612 120H 11,648 3,009
121 to 180 days 1212 180 H 826 133
Over 180 days 180 BIA £ 8,678 3,055
Total a=t 28,639 11,517

The average credit period on accounts payable is 30 days.
The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing.

FENRFHFHEEMR30A8 - BHAERR
mriE e
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OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. HthESRIERETEH
2024 & 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETFT AREFT
(Restated)
(#=&E7)
Current; me
Other payables H {th FET 3R 23,699 39,281
Payroll payables ERTIE 63,813 58,921
Other tax payables H fth fEI 7118 15,856 6,561
Deferred income RIEU A - 457
Subtotal /NEE 103,368 105,220
Non-current: ERB
Deferred income FEIEUT A 1,147 1,275
Total HET 104,515 106,495
The average credit period on other payables is 90 days. Hth N RIBOFHEEHR/0B - K
Other payables are non-interest-bearing. ERRIBRRE
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28. EHEE

The Group received advance payments from customers of
value-added telecommunication services. Contract liabilities
that are expected to be settled within the Group’s normal
operating cycle are classified as current based on the
Group'’s earliest obligation to transfer goods or services to
the customers. Revenue recognised during the year ended
31 March 2024 that was included in the contract liabilities
at the beginning of the reporting period amounted to
RMB845,000 (2023: RMB2,097,000). The decrease in
contract liabilities from RMB3,252,000 at 1 April 2022 to
RMB845,000 at 31 March 2023 was mainly due to the
decrease in short-term advances received from customers in
relation to provision of customer service solutions. The
increase in contract liabilities from RMB845,000 at 1 April
2023 to RMB1,029,000 at 31 March 2024 was mainly due
to the increase in short-term advances received from
customers in relation to provision of customer service
solutions.

AEBMEFWEE (S HERS BN K
15 - TBEI R AEE I EE LS BPANEED
BHEE  ERAEENZFEEERIR
BHREEBLEARBARL - REZE 2024
F3[31HILFEDERWA (G AR H
a8 aE) /s ARMS450007T (2023
F£: AR 2,097,000t ) & 4 & & H
2022418 ® A R # 3,252,000 7T % 2
Z£20234F3A31H K A R #845,000 T
FTEARRREREFRBBATERMBER
WER B0 A2 HARA OB D FTEL - & A B(EH 2023
F48188 AR 845,000 7T 38 i1 = 2024
F3A31HMARK1,029,0007T ' EEHR
RELIR = RIS AR R TS 22 B =P WERAY
55 HASA TS AN FTEY o
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192

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION AND
CONSIDERATION PAYABLES

In the prior year, on 15 October 2020, the Company
acquired 100% of equity interests of the KingNine Group
for a consideration of RMB1,012,224,000, comprising cash
consideration of RMB646,149,000 and consideration shares
of RMB366,075,000.

Cash consideration

The valuation of the consideration payables was carried out
by an independent professional qualified valuer. Cash
consideration of RMB390,000,000 was settled at the
acquisition date. The remaining cash consideration of
RMB280,000,000 was scheduled to be settled by the
Company in four instalments of R\MB70,000,000 each on 31
July 2021, 31 July 2022, 31 July 2023 and 31 July 2024 in
accordance with the terms stipulated in the sale and
purchase agreement. The fair value of the consideration
payables as at 15 October 2020 is approximately
RMB256,149,000, which is based on the present value of
the consideration payables discounted using the discount
rate of 4%. The corresponding annual finance costs for the
year ended 31 March 2024 of RMB3,619,000 (2023:
RMB6,187,000), calculated based on the discount rate of
4%, was set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of the
consideration payables are RMB69,305,000 (2023:
RMB135,686,000), all of which is considered current portion
(2023: RMB70,000,000 as current portion and
RMB65,686,000 as non-current portion), which are due to
the sellers of the acquisition transaction, i.e., NINEGO
Corporation and FUNGHWA Ltd. NINEGO Corporation is
owned as to 40.60% by Mr. HU Shilong and 59.40% by
Ms. LIU Yingying (spouse of Mr. HU Shilong); while
FUNGHWA Ltd. is wholly-owned by Ms. ZHOU Fang. Both
Mr. HU Shilong and Ms. ZHOU Fang are registered
shareholders of Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd.
under the contractual agreements as detailed in note 42 to
the financial statements, and NINEGO Corporation and
FUNGHWA Ltd. are therefore regarded as related parties to
the Group.

29. FAARARERESRE

RBAEEE - B 2020F 108 15H * XA A
LAB ARE1,012,224,000 T (BHEFERES K
B AR % 646,149,000 7T & KB D AR
366,075,000 7T ) U B KingNine &£ & 100% M
T o

ReRE

BUYBEXSERGEMEYEMNRKESR
T E - e R E ARM390,000,0007T
RWBRARAES R THSREBARE
280,000,000 7T 5T &l A AN A AR 5 B B %
HE R IR 2021%F7 A318 ~ 202247
HA318 202347 A31 8 &2024%7 A 31
BoMEE - FHI AR 70,000,000 7T ©
R2020F 10 A1SHERNREN A FEL
A AR # 256,149,000 7T © JhERERFHELIR
A% B NENRENFEST - 82
2024F3 A3 BIEFEMEEFTEREK
KA ANRE3 619,000 (20234 : AR
6,187,0007T) * JHIRAIR K A% T E - H R
BTSRRI ES o

M2024F3A31H ENRKEMNKEE
A AN R 69,305,000 70 (2023 F : AR
135,686,0007T) * 1R A B85 (2023
& AR 70,000,000 T AR RAR
#% 65,686,000 T AFERBNL D) + HENT
Uz & 22 5 89 & 77 (EININEGO Corporation
FUNGHWA Ltd) ° NINEGO Corporation f§ #f
AR B LR+ (FAERELENER)
2 B 40.60% %2 59.40% : 1 FUNGHWA
Ld. AAFRZLTE2EHEHR - RETBREM
FEA2FTETAM A SR AEEREERA
FRITHARNESEMERHERNHER DA
79 % 52 A% 3 » A It NINEGO Corporation &
FUNGHWA Ltd. #0457 & 2 5= [ 19 B8 Bk
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29. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION AND
CONSIDERATION PAYABLES (Continued)

Consideration shares

The fair value of the shares issued was determined by
reference to their quoted market price of HK$0.66 at the
date of acquisition.

Contingent consideration

Certain founders of the KingNine Group (the “Founders”)
have undertaken to the Company pursuant to the sale and
purchase agreement that the audited consolidated profit
attributable to the equity holders of the KingNine Group
would not be less than:

(iii)

RMB60,000,000 for the financial year of the KingNine
Group commenced on 1 April 2019 and ended on 31
March 2020;

RMB90,000,000 for the financial year of the KingNine
Group commenced on 1 April 2020 and ended on 31
March 2021;

RMB120,000,000 for the financial year of the
KingNine Group commencing on 1 April 2021 and
ended on 31 March 2022;

RMB150,000,000 for the financial year of the
KingNine Group commencing on 1 April 2022 and
ended on 31 March 2023; and

RMB180,000,000 for the financial year of the
KingNine Group commencing on 1 April 2023 and
ended on 31 March 2024.

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

29. IARRERESFKRE

RER?D

BETRONAFENEL2ERERARER
B TS RB 0.66 B TLEE ©

HANE

KingNine &2 E& T 813 A (TRIHA ) 2RI

BEEHZRA R B AR -

KingNine ¥z 45 8

ANEIEREZR BN T EER :

(iv)

KingNine%s B f12019F 4 1B £ &
2020F3 A31HIEMFBREEH AR
# 60,000,000 T

KingNine s B FH2020F 4818 & &
2021 F3 A3 HIEMBBHEEMAR
90,000,000 7T, :

(iiKingNine & & F2021F4 A1 8 #E
F2022F 3831 BIENPFBFEEMNA
FR# 120,000,000 7T :

KingNinefs B 2022 F4 1B £ &
20233 A3 HIEMBHEEMAR
# 150,000,000 7T : &

KingNinefs B 2023 F4 818 8 &=

20243 A31BIEMFREENAR
180,000,000 7T °

193



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> 275 4 H e 4y A FR A 7]
2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT 4E $&

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&7 0 5 e 2% B

31March 2024 202443 A 31 H

29. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION AND
CONSIDERATION PAYABLES (Continued)

194

Contingent consideration (Continued)

In the event that the actual amount of the audited
consolidated net profit attributable to the equity holders of
the KingNine Group for any guarantee period is less than
the guaranteed profit in respect of such guarantee period,
the Founders are required to compensate the Company by
paying the Company an amount in cash equal to ((A — B)/C)

x D) —

E

Where

A=

the sum of: (i) the amount of the guaranteed profit in
respect of such guarantee period; and (ii) the amount
of the guaranteed profit in respect of each guarantee
period preceding such guarantee period,;

the sum of: (i) the actual amount of the audited
consolidated net profit/net loss attributable to equity
holders of the KingNine Group for such guarantee
period; and (ii) the actual amount of the audited
consolidated net profit/net loss attributable to equity
holders of the KingNine Group for each guarantee
period preceding such guarantee period,;

RMB600,000,000 (i.e., the sum of the amount of the
guaranteed profit in respect of each guarantee
period);

RMB779,392,971 (i.e., the consideration less the
amount of the consideration paid, or payable, by the
Company to Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company
Limited, one of the sellers);

the sum of the amount of any such compensation
which has been paid by the Founders in respect of
each guarantee period preceding such guarantee
period.

29. RN EREFKE @

FARRE (@)

i (E ] 4R 75 HA R A9 KingNine £ EAE 5 A A
RGBS AN ER S BERZRE
HMARERT - Al ABS TARRHE
B ARAERARFAEEZMEER (((A
-B),/C)xD)-EMEEELHE

H

A= ()VZREHBORERF S5 (i)
ZAR 5 HAE B % R 75 HA R A R 28 0
SR

B=(i)a% IR 75 Hi i A9 KingNine & & #E 25 43

EABGEEZEAMTEBEFE
E’J?ﬁﬁ’xﬁgﬁ © B (i) 52 (R 75 B AT 1R

B EIR A KingNine £ B 25355 A JE
15#“%%%?(:\'?%*' S BIEFENER
SERZA

C= ARM®600,000,000 7T (EN& £ & HA E
HIRE A2 H)

D= AR¥779,392,971 T (BIRERAA
7] B @ =k F& MmZhong Zhi Xin Zhuo
Capital Company Limited * B 77 <2 —)
XNHRESE)

E= RIMAENZRERE S REHRE
EMARBERESR M
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29. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION AND
CONSIDERATION PAYABLES (Continued)

Contingent consideration (Continued)

Subject to the compliance of all applicable laws and
regulations (including the GEM Listing Rules and The Hong
Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers), in the event that
the sum of the actual amount of the audited consolidated
net profit attributable to equity holders of the KingNine
Group for each guarantee period is equal to or more than
RMB1,000,000,000, it is expected that:

the Company would pay the sellers an additional
consideration in the amount of RMB180,000,000,
subject to the Stock Exchange’s grant of the approval
for the listing of and permission to deal in the
additional shares, and would settle such payment by
issuing additional shares to one of the sellers on the
10th business day after the date on which the audited
consolidated financial statements of the KingNine
Group for the last guarantee period is approved by the
board of directors of KingNine; and

such additional shares would be issued at an issue
price per share equal to the volume weighted average
closing price per share for the 30 consecutive trading
days up to and including the last trading day that is
five business days immediately prior to the date on
which such additional shares are allotted and issued.

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

29. IARRERESFKRE

FARRE @)

EEFRIA BEAERERER (BFEGEM £
HAIREB A BWEE XA TR RIATRT
fisl SR B B A KingNine £ B2 15 B A JE
HEBZERE M NER S5 2 MER KB
3@ A R 1,000,000,000 7T @ TEE]

AAaEmE—ERF X HBEIMUEA
¥ 180,000,000 7T * 7B £ B 2 BTt
ERBINED EMREE TR &E
REHB KingNine £ B R ERE A
B 5 R R EKingNineEE & #t & 2 B
% E10EE %A B BEITEINED R
B ZEE &

ZERINEMD IR TR EITEET
BTESENEEIARFAEEEER
ZEFBINEMECE BT ZERAE
EERANRERSRH(BEZR) 8K
P& U THIE -
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29.
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CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION AND
CONSIDERATION PAYABLES (Continued)

Contingent consideration (Continued)

The valuation of the contingent consideration at 31 March
2023 was carried out by an independent professional
qualified valuer. The fair value of the contingent
consideration as at 31 March 2023 was estimated and
determined to be RMB110,371,000, comprising current and
non-current portions of RMB41,481,000 and
RMB68,890,000, respectively, on the basis that profit
guarantee for the years ended 31 March 2020, 2021 and
2022 have been fulfilled by the KingNine Group; while the
profit guarantee for the year ended 31 March 2023 was not
fulfilled by the KingNine Group, and the profit guarantee for
the year ended 31 March 2024 could not be fulfilled by the
KingNine Group as determined by the Monte Carlo
simulation model under the income approach, further details
of which are set out in note 40 to the financial statements,
and that the audited consolidated net profit attributable to
equity holders of the KingNine Group for each guarantee
period equal to or more than RMB1,000,000,000 could not
be fulfilled by the KingNine Group.

The valuation of the contingent consideration at 31 March
2024 was determined to be RMB41,267,000, based on the
difference between the aggregate profit guarantee amount
and the aggregate amount of the consolidated profit
attributable to the entity holders of the KingNine Group for
the financial years ended 31 March 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023
and 2024.

The share purchase deed dated 10 September 2020 provides
for an express set-off right of the Company which allows
the Company to set off any contingent consideration
compensation against any each consideration which has not
been paid to NINEGO Corporation. Accordingly, at 31 March
2024, the contingent consideration compensation
attributable to NINEGO Corporation was set off against the
corresponding consideration payables to NINEGO
Corporation, resulting in net consideration payables of
RMB28,038,000 classified as current liabilities (2023:
RMB33,774,000 of which RMB28,519,000 as current
liabilities and RMB5,255,000 as non-current liabilities). At 31
March 2023, there was a non-current portion of contingent
consideration of RMB8,459,000.

29. RN EREFKE @

FARRE (@)

BYEXAERMGERME K20234F3 A 31
HETHKAREAGE - KARER 2023
FIANHEHMATEMFTREERAARK
110,371,000 * BIERE KIERE LD D
Bl B AN R #41,481,000 B A R ¥
68,890,000 7T * J3E R KingNine & B B X
B Z= 20204 ~ 2021 F & 202243 A31 A1k
FEZHEARTE ¢ M KingNine 5 B3 R Z /K
HZE2023F3 A31H IEFE /G FRE -
MZRREREBERIBIEFTETE © KingNine
SEEEER KRS /£LW@Z§2024¢3)E]
31 HIEFEREFIRTE - #E— T BHR
75 3R < MY £ 40 - HngNme;%lﬁ/i‘iﬁ
KingNine & B & R IS B2 4R &
BFEABRBGE@ANERKBBEARE
1,000,000,000 7T °

MR2024F3A31H  ARENHETLIR
Bom AR BB R EH E 20204 ~ 2021 4F -

20224 - 2023F K% 202443 A31 H LB
FEKingNine R B BB A AEILAR S &
1REE 2 MR =R E A ARKA41,267,0007T ©

HHIA202049F9 A 10 H /) B I& 2218 R F A
NEH BRI SEAE - DEFARRA B A A
R E B & E W H R X FNINEGO
Corporation #)Z B (E Bt - 7420244 3
H31H » NINEGO Corporation FE{5 sk SA KB
4 E B2 B 1~ NINEGO Corporation B 4H FE X (B
HEH - BEENREFRE AR 28,038,000

T EARE B EQRNIF: ARKE
33,774,0007z Hr AR ¥ 28,519,000 7T 4
e B SR ARKS,255000 LA ERE A
&) M2023F3 A31 H » skAREBHIER
o A AREE 8,459,000 7T °
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

30. sHERITREMER

BORROWINGS
2024 F 20234
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT ARBTFT
Bank borrowings repayable: REEMRITHER
Within one year —&ER 5,000 68,500
Other borrowings repayable: E At A EE BN
Within one year —FRN 193,044 =
In the second year ME 5 - 177,144
Subtotal INE 193,044 177,144
Total #st 198,044 245,644
Analysed into: PR
Current liabilities mEasE 198,044 68,500
Non-current liabilities EmBAaE = 177,144

The Group’s bank borrowings at 31 March 2024 were
interest-bearing at fixed rate at 3.6% (2023: 4.35% to
4.65%) per annum. The Group's bank borrowings at 31
March 2023 were secured by certain accounts receivable of
the Group amounting to RMB250,000,000 and the personal
guarantees of RMB60,000,000 provided by a director and
his spouse of a subsidiary of the Company.

The Group’s other borrowings at 31 March 2024 were due
to a related company which is an entity indirectly controlled
by the Company’s ultimate beneficial owner, of which
principal amounts of RMB60,000,000 (2023:
RMB60,000,000) and RMB70,000,000 (2023:
RMB70,000,000) were interest-bearing at fixed rates of
12.0% and 12.0%, respectively, per annum, unsecured and
due to mature on 31 March 2025 (2023: 12.0% and
13.5%, respectively, per annum, unsecured and due to
mature on 31 March 2025), and a principal amount of
RMB27,000,000 (2023: RMB27,000,000) was interest-free,
unsecured and due to mature on 31 March 2025 (2023:
interest-free, unsecured and due to mature on 31 March
2025).

AREB 202493 31 BRRITEZIZE
EF R E3.6% (20234 : 4.35% £ 4.65%)
B - REBR2023F3 A31 HHRITHE
FEHAEEETERERAREK
250,000,000 7T K2 AN A &) — R i B A ") By —
HEERERBRENEAEZERARKE
60,000,000 JTEHK I o

ANEBN2024F3 A3 B HMERABRE
N—HEEAR (AARRRKRERER A
MEZHHER) HhAeEAREK
60,000,000 7T (2023 4F : A & ¥ 60,000,000
7T) & AR #70,000,0007T (20234 : AR
#70,000,000 7T ) 9 5% [ 7€ F A K 12.0%
F12.0% 508~ EE IR KX L2025 3 A 31
B 2| 83 (2023F : F£F X5 Rl £12.0% &
13.5% - K K A 202593 A31 BEIE) -
A4 58 A R ¥ 27,000,000 7 (20234 : A
R #27,000,0007t) A% B~ EEARR
20253 A 31 HEIHA (2023 F : B - &K
AR 202543 A31 BEIH) -
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31. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in gross deferred tax assets and liabilities

during the year are as follows:

FER IR

198

Fair value
adjustments of
intangible
Impairment assets
of accounts  arising from
Unrealised ~ and other acquisitionof  Right-of-use Lease
profits receivables  subsidiaries assets liabilities Others Total
WEHE
BUER  AFEEH
REfMER  BFEE
RERER FERE  AVERE  [FREEE HEEE At &3t
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETT  A\REFT  ARBIT  AREFT  ARETr  AREFT ARETn
(ross eferred tax assets/{iabiltes) at RNBF3 A3 BRELERE
31 March 2023 B/ (aF)8E 4,944 254 (18,555) - - 789 (10,278)
Effect of adoption of amendments to RaERGENE 2% (B
HKAS 12 (note 2.2(0) AR 2WiE220) = = = (5.975) 53% = (580)
(ross deferred tax assets/(labilities) at RABE4A1HZERLHE
1 April 2023 (restated) BE/(88)6E(0E)) 4,944 2,54 (18,555) (5.975) 5,395 789 (10,858)
Disposal of asubsidiary (note 35) HE-FMBAR (Hit35) - (212) - - - = (272)
Deferret tax creditedi(charged) to AR/ (NEER)NE
profit orloss (note 11) B Wit ) (1.464) 1,953 2624 (2,651) 3129 827) 2,764
(ross deferred tax assets{iabiltes) at R2024%3 531 REEIER B
31 March 2024 B/ (ak)8E 3480 4,225 (15,931) (8,626) 8,524 (38) (8,366)
(ross eferred tax assets/{iabiltes) at R02%3 831 BREEHE
31 March 2022 Br/ (4R 5119 1,798 (21,179 - - (16) (14278
Effect of adoption of amendments to RaEREENE 2% (B
HKAS 12 (note 2.2(¢) AR 02 (NE220) - - - (5330 4953 - B77)
Gross deferredt tax asses(iabiltes) at RANE4R 1B ZEREHE
1 April 2022 (restated) BE/(8F)1EE (LS5 5119 1,798 21179 (5330) 4953 (16) (14,655)
Deferret tax creditedi(charged) to AR/ (RERTR)HE
profitor logs (note 11) fERE it 11) (175) 746 264 (645) 42 805 3797
Gross deferred tax assets/{iabiltes) at RNBF3 A3 BEEIERE
31 March 2023 /(8R4 4,944 254 (18,555) (5975) 5,395 789 (10,858)




KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> 2575 4 H e 4y A B A )

2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset
on an individual entity basis and the Group’s net deferred
tax assets and liabilities presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position are as follows:

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

1. EERIE (2)

FTEEMAREERABCRENEEEE
i - MAKERGE P BHNKR 2R
RRAEERBBEFEMAT

2024 & 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR F T AREFT

(Restated)

(ge=5)

Net deferred tax assets I EEFE 15,083 13,672
Net deferred tax liabilities RIEFIE B EF5E (23,449) (24,530)
(8,366) (10,858)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately RMB502,097,000 (2023: RMB481,627,000),
subject to agreement by the Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department, that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in Chinese
Mainland of RMB147,689,000 (2023: RMB116,995,000)
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against
future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses and other deductible temporary differences as
they have arisen in the Group’s entities that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses
can be utilised due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

REBRESPEENHTEEBEEN A
A R #502,097,0007C(20234F : A R &
481,627,0007T) * KEABBBRAE - A&
PR 5 FA /B 45 SH 2 AE E5 18 M A R A AR SR FE FR
s Al o ANEE IR R R B Ak EE A O R TE S
B A R # 147,689,000 7T (2023 4F : AR ¥
116,995,0007T) + M —Z= A F N EHI LK
SR TR FE R RS A ©

N5 [ 30 8 L o < 4R B LA T R e
BERECHREE  REASZFERRE
b TR E Y Z R 2R B B BB — R A A
SEER - BARRARIS AR ] R
1 - BERA T AR BER B AR T4 A Al A F R
AR
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31.

200

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the following items:

1. IEERIE (#2)

WG AT IR B ERELERAEE ¢

2024 F 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREFr

Tax losses MIBEE 649,786 598,622
Deductible temporary differences AR Ry = R - 727
649,786 599,349

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008. The applicable rate is 10% for the Group.

At 31 March 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the
Group's subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised totaled approximately RMB447,028,000 at
31 March 2024 (2023: RMB305,490,000 (restated)). These
temporary differences are subject to the CIT rate of 25%
upon their transfers to Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd. via
the contractual arrangements as further detailed in note 42
to the financial statements.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

AEBERZZN T E A HHE QR
B 200841 A 1 A EL MR AT KA AL
EHMEHNR - AEEERHES10% °

M2024F3H31H  SIERAEE R H
b Ak 37 B B A B BN TR B ) R [ HH &
F AR TENRERELERIE - AARE
ERE ZEWBRBTKAERA Bk
DIRZERTF - R2024F3 A31H - ERB
AR OB P B B A B EY I B A B M ok R
RELHBAENEE=BEBAHEY
A AN R #447,028,0007T (20234 : A R #&
305,490,000 7 (£& &) ) - ZEFE R EHFE
BANLTHEE TS EREREEAR QG
EIR25% M EMBHRBE RSN - FER
BTSRRI FE 42 -

A A A EL R CROIR 5 BB 3 R B A (R ] P A5
TIER
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31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. A&
2024 F 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFIT
Authorised: VRRE
10,000,000,000 (2023: 10,000,000,000) 10,000,000,000 f% (2023 4F :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 10,000,000,000 %) &R E &
0.01 B TTH) & @A 87,661 87,661
Issued and fully-paid: BEEITRAR :
4,776,019,590 (2023: 4,776,019,590) 4,776,019,590 % (2023 4F :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 4,776,019,590 i% ) &A% E A
0.01 Iy E Az 40,442 40,442
A summary of movements in the share capital and share AR KRR S BRI ENT ¢

premium account is as follows:

Number Share

of shares Share premium
in issue capital account Total
ERTROHE BA  BROEEER et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETT AR¥TT

At 1 April 2022 M2022F481H 4,188,519,590 35,395 944,878 980,273
Issue of shares salvan) 587,500,000 5,047 196,837 201,884
Share issue expenses Bin TR - = (16,638) (16,638)

At 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 7202343 A31H

and 31 March 2024 2023F4 818K
20243 A31H 4,776,019,590 40,442 1,125,077 1,165,519

On 15 July 2022 (after trading hours), the Company entered R2022FE7 158 (XRSEKRE) » ANA T
into subscription agreements with two subscribers pursuant AN 4 2REE NSRBI - I - REA
to which the subscribers have conditionally agreed to BIEERERE  MARATEIREREAL %
subscribe for and the Company has conditionally agreed to #1784 587,500,000 A% R EE A% (0 © REE
allot and issue a total of 587,500,000 subscription shares at BEEIRRERMOAETT RMOHBERS
a price of HK$0.4 per subscription share. The share B2 202248 A2 B ©
subscription transactions were completed on 2 August
2022.
The ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in TORIREE T A ARBERE DR RER -
dividends, and to share in the proceeds of winding up the M AEROEE RS B D E A T
Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid SERRFTERIE o

on the shares held.
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33.

202

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 97 of
the financial statements.

Share premium

Share premium represents the proceeds received in excess
of the nominal value from share issuance, net of any directly
attributable transaction costs credited to share premium.

Statutory reserve

Statutory reserve represents the amounts set aside from the
retained profits by certain subsidiaries established in the PRC
and is not distributable as dividend. In accordance with the
relevant regulations and their articles of association, the
Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are required
to allocate at least 10% of their after-tax profit according to
the PRC accounting standards and regulations to legal
reserves until such reserves have reached 50% of registered
capital. These reserves can only be used for specific purposes
and are not distributable or transferable to loans, advances,
cash dividends.

Revaluation reserve

Change in fair value of equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated within the
revaluation reserve within equity. The Group will transfer
amount from revaluation reserve to retained profits/
accumulated losses when the relevant equity instrument is
derecognised.

33. &

$‘§IEA$¢J?&L?E¢J?Z%1%%% H

HE 2 NP HRAREIT A 2L %E &
@Ji%
WA {8

B 159 4 (B #5 Y ER B AR 19 31T 2 P45 2/ 38 (40
BREMBEZEEERSKA) BLEERS
Wﬁkkh@%°

EERE

EEmERN B HE THEBRRRRE
wBHPEENSEE B TAERAREDIK
RBREERRESREAA - ARERFE
P SZ BO BT B8 2 B ZR i H d o B & 5 2R Bl S AR
PIEEE M BR B 1& 4 K & 2 10% 7 BL 20X E
fEH BEEZFHEEINEIMELRN50%
R - ZERBEATRRNTEERE - TAD
IREREER - BRSIRESBKE -

Efhf#E

BERBAFEMAHEMEZERENERT
AR FEZPHNEMEEKSER - TR
REANEGHFHERNRE - HAEEETA

RILHER - ARBeReRE EMNRHHEER
i{%m/ﬁﬁ' |/ REHEE
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RESERVES (continued)
Translation reserve

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
subsidiaries not operating in Chinese Mainland are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.,
Renminbi) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in translation reserve.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Year ended 31 March 2023

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group acquired
a 100% interest in Puyang Zhiyu Technology Co., Ltd.* (}
fz & = ® #% & R 2 &, "Puyang Zhiyu"), Pingxiang
Kingwisoft Rongzhi Technology Co., Ltd.* (GE48 & 2GS &l
B A B A 7, "Pingxiang Kingwisoft”), Puyang Qinglv
Technology Co., Ltd.* (5 S & BB R A Al, “Puyang
Qinglv"), Shenyang Qingzhou Technology Co., Ltd.* (/& [%
S & R K A B A &, “Shenyang Qingzhou"), Shenyang
Weiyu Technology Co., Ltd.* (& [ Mt 228 Bl & B R A 7,
“Shenyang Weiyu”), Yifeng Customer Relationship
Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.* (ZFIEEFBEAEIER -
BRAE PR A &, “Yifeng Customer”), Shanghai Jiesheng
Business Services Co., Ltd.* ( L/BREEEBERFER AT,
“Shanghai Jiesheng”) and Beijing Hui Future Technology
Co., Ltd.* (FEREBREEEEBER A A, “Beijing Hui”) from
individual third party entities or individuals at an aggregate
cash consideration of approximately RMB26,600,000. These
acquisitions were made as part of the Group’s strategy to
expand its businesses of value-added telecommunications
and related services which were the principal activities of the
acquiree entities.

* for identification purpose only

33.

34.

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

i
BE 5 s

BTG AMBRATS - AEELIER P
EPAEE 2 MB AT 2 BERE E TR
BB IR A RS R R A
B 2 HEH (IARS) - RARZHIER
TEHEE POERETRE - RFER
RSP AR BRI R - ALt
T ARARRHY B2 RTEE - fiE
A2 EHER(NA) DREM2ERAR
R+ WA B R -

S
BZE2023F3A31HILEE

REZE2023F3831BILFE  A&EE M
E7R55 =5 Eie sk @RI A T W 5 S EE
RAERAR (EBEE]  S8eZmE Rt
RERAR (CEHSE])  EBS&EEE
RAR([ERSE])  BESARBERA
A(ESGEA]) BEEERBEERA A
(DEEWEZE])  =m=kEFEERER(LE)E
RAr((mERFE]) - EEEBEEBREA
R ([ BeREeE]) Rt R ZRREHEFR
AFl([IERZ )M 100% R - BAREKEB
475 AR 26,600,000 7T ° 2SR AARE
B & 78 BB E E (5 R AR TS 575 (B UK
BEBCITEXER) KRB —3D -

* EHES
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 34. (50t 5
Year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued) BZ2023F3A31HILEE (&)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the WL EENAES I E B ER A #%BI & E
acquiree entities as at their respective dates of acquisition LKBERAFEENT -
were as follows:
Puyang  Pingxiang Puyang  Shenyang  Shenyang Yifeng  Shanghai Beijing
Zhiyu  Kingwisoft Qinglv Qingzhou Weiyu  Customer  Jiesheng Hui Total
BEREE  WfEE BREE  ERSA EBEE  HBERF  LERE 17E &3t
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETL  A\RETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETr ARETn AREFT  ARETR
Property and equipment VELET 11,728 - - - 3731 46 147 - 17348
Right-of-use assets FREEE 1,636 = = = - 1,902 5,140 = 8678
Other intangble assets Al EE 79 - - = 63 = 2,900 - 300
Prepaid tax RiTHE - - - - - f 3 4 45
Accounts receivable i - - - - - 9,935 6,697 11,022 27,65
Prepayments, other recevablesand B3R - EAfElEE
other asets ihER 2601 - - - 1454 178 w 1,260 5815
Finandil assets at fairvalue through. AT ABAH SR
proft orloss gE - - - - - - - 1,000 1,000
Cashand cash equivalents ReRR2EEN 20 - - - JE| 1829 3,804 75 5,751
Accounts payable LS (4,09) - - - (61) - (12849 - (17004
Other payables and accruals EERFUERETBR (23349) - - - (481 (12891) (5,025 0176 (65313
Lease fiablites HERR (1,528) - - - - 2168) (5861) - (9,357)
Totel dentified net assetsfiabites)  EAFIFEE/(BE)EE  (12906) - - - (9,663) (75 (3442 40 Q)
Goodwill on acqisition WEES 15906 - 300 300 12,663 752 3442 15,778 49,141
Satisfed by cash WREZH 3,000 - 300 300 3,000 - - 20,000 26,600
Analysed into; Ah:
Prepaid prior o 1 Apri 2022 R0NE4A 1 BEER - - 170 170 - - - - 340
Paid during the year ended HENBEIANAL
31 March 2023 EEER 2,000 = 130 130 3,000 = - 4,000 9,260
Payable as at 31 March 2023* AR03E3A31H
xft* 1,000 - - - - - - 16,000 17,000
Acquisiion date YiERH 14 September 1 Apri Blne  24June 19 September 13y 1August 30 December
2022 2022 202 2022 202 202 2022 2022
W% WM E W0E WE WME WM E WNE WE
9F 148 481R 64138 6A2A 9F198 TR13R 8A1A 9A30A

204

*  During the year ended 31 March 2024, part of the consideration payable
amounting to RMB1,000,000 has been settled. The settlement of
consideration payable as at 31 March 2024 amounting to
RMB 16,000,000 is agreed to be extended to 31 December 2025
according to a supplemental agreement entered into by the Group and
Beijing Hui’s former shareholder on 30 April 2024.

* BIE2024%F3A31 HILFE @ SR EMABARE
1,000,0007T B 4%/ ° 1RIE A FEEEIL RER 2024 F
430 HET B9 7 % - BLE2024F3 A31 HAY
FERHEA B 16,000,000 E #,E AL B = 2025 4F 12
H31A#% -
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 34. ¥t
Year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued) BZ2023F3A31HLELFE#®)
The fair values of the accounts receivable and other PUEE A ER - RIS E RS A FE R BR SR R H At
receivables of the acquiree entities as at the date of FEWRTERN AT EEAES G EWRI R EH i
acquisition were same as their respective gross contractual FEN R IBH & A4 £ 58 HAE] o

amounts of accounts receivable and other receivables.

An analysis of the cash flows for the year ended 31 March HZE2023F3A31HIEFEEBAREES
2023 in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries for the year 20235 3A3MBIEFEMB AR 2R &R
ended 31 March 2023 is as follows: EHMMAT :

Puyang Pingxiang  Puyang Shenyang Shenyang  Yifeng Shanghai Beijing
Zhiyu Kingwisoft ~ Qinglv Qingzhou ~ Weiyu Customer Jiesheng Hui Total
BREZ HMLE BBER ERER RRME HMEF LERE  4R8 @zt
RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'00  RMB'000
NEETT A\EETT NRETR ARETT ARETL ARETT ARETT ARETL ARETT

Cash consideration paid during EREHRERE
the year (2,000) - (130) (130) (3,000) - - (4,000) (9,260)
Cash and bank balances acquired ~~ BRER 2 RFT L5 2 = = - 3 1829 3,804 75 5,751

Netinflowf(outflow) of cashand cash s ARERAEEE S
equivalentsinduded in cash flows ~~ FEARERBELS

from investing activites EmemA/ (Rt
et (1,980) = (130) (130) (2,977) 1829 3,804 (3,925) (3,509)
The amounts of revenue and profit/(loss) of the acquiree BEXBWIER DK - HIEERBY RS
entities since their respective dates of acquisition contributed HZE2023F3831HIEFE K= REE
to the Group’s revenue and loss for the year ended 31 BB Ros R,/ (B18) € 5T

March 2023 were as follows:

Puyang Pingxiang  Puyang Shenyang Shenyang  Yifeng Shanghai Beijing
Zhiyu Kingwisoft ~ Qinglv Qingzhou ~ Weiyu Customer Jiesheng Hui Total
BRER HMER BBER ERER RRME HMEF LERE  4x8 @zt
RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
NEEFT A\EETTL NRETR ARETT ARETL ARETT ARETT ARETL ARETT

A = 180 1132 = = - 14748 90711 25131

Revenue s
Profitloss) since acquisitions Wk ER/ (B8) 5588 1,809 (172) 186 49% 998 3,701 1988 27984
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued)
Had the acquisition taken place at the beginning of the year

ended 31 March 2023, the Group's revenue and loss for the
year ended 31 March 2023 would have been as follows:

34, ¥ 56t
BZE2023F3A31MBLLEFE &)
MU BB & = 202343 A31 H IE FEF 1)

T KEBREZE2023F3 A31HIEF
FEzWam kEEFnT

Puyang Pingxiang  Puyang Shenyang Shenyang  Yifeng Shanghai Beijing

Zhiyu Kingwisoft ~ Qinglv Qingzhou ~ Weiyu Customer Jiesheng Hui Total
BREZ WASE BRER EREA IBET HEEF LSRR 4RE @zt
RMB00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'00  RMB'000

ARKTT ABRTT ARBTT AEETT AEETT ARKTL ARBTT ARETT ARETZ

Revenue 0N
Loss for the year EMEE

888,622
(247,720)

888,622
(236,014)

888,622
(236,065)

888,622
(235,680)

888,622
(241,603)

888,622
(236,587)

894,616
(237,454)

905,545
(237,984)

911,539
(257,015)

35. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 27 February 2024, Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd. (the
“Vendor”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and
Hainan Zhicheng Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (the “Purchaser”, an unrelated partnership
incorporated in the PRC) entered into an equity transfer
agreement (the “Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Vendor agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed to buy a
51% equity interest in Chengdu ThinkMore Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Chengdu ThinkMore") held by the Vendor at a cash
consideration of RMB30,600,000, of which RMB15,300,000
is to be settled within 30 business days from the effective
date of the Agreement and RMB15,300,000 is to be settled
within one year from the effective date of the Agreement.
Upon the disposal of 51% equity interest, the Group ceased
to have control but has significant influence over Chengdu
ThinkMore, which has since been classified as an associate
of the Group (note 19).
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35. HE—RIMEB AR

202428270 £ ERMEREERA
RITER] ARE2EMBAR) BEERmE
BEEABRLEERERE) ([BEXH] By
Bl M MIEREE A B %) R AR
Epa((Zzl) Bt EFAREHER
BHREZEBEE I FANKERE BB
BERAF(RERE )S51%KE  Ber
8 & A R #30,600,0007C © £ A R #
15,300,000 JT 45 72 5% 15 2 A 2 A B3 #E 5130
EEZ£BEANEE - m AR 15,300,000 7T#
Rz B iRt —FREE - PHE
51% &R « AEBE KBRS A =
FIEEEAEEAFEN  KHERE QLD
AAREBREL AR (FFE19)
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35. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 35. HE—RIMEB AR &)

2024 F
Notes RMB’000
k23 ARMTF T

Net assets disposed of: BHEEEFRE
Property and equipment E I E L] 14 1,681
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16(a) 317
Other intangible assets Hitnfm &&= 18 1,982
Equity instruments at fair value through ZAFEGFARMEER G ERE
other comprehensive income TH 20 300
Deferred tax assets RETIAE = 31 272
Inventories FE 146
Accounts receivable FEUAR =X 15,107
Prepayments, other receivables and TERFRIE « H b EYCRRIE R H A&
other assets =3 35,279
Prepaid tax SEENE 140
Cash and cash equivalents ReRIFSEEY 166
Accounts payable FETBR IR (732)
Other payables and accruals HAh e 5RIE R EGH B A (46,631)
Contract liabilities EHEE (1,023)
Lease liabilities HEBE 16(b) (310)
Non-controlling interests IR (12)
Subtotal /NET 6,682
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — R B A Rl e 6 52,269
Total consideration BRE 58,951
Satisfied by: ATE AL
Cash received during the year FABUEHE 15,300
Cash consideration receivable JEW IR KB 15,300
Fair value of retained interests REBERMAFE 28,351

58,951
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35.

36.

208

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:

. HE—RBMHEBLQ T @)

FRLE—RNBARZESRREEEY
MAFEOMEAT

2024 F
RMB’000
AREFr
Cash consideration received during the year FRERFESRE 15,300
Cash and bank balances disposed of HER e RIRITER (166)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in HEMBRAR R RRESEEY
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary MAE R 15,134

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
and extensions to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of RMB54,153,000 (2023: RMB35,034,000)
and RMB54,153,000 (2023: RMB35,034,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for
buildings.

36- nv_\éiﬁﬁﬁiﬁ MTJ-%I

() FEFHEXRS

FN - ALEEREFHETHNERELE
MEEABENIEREABERERSFAAR
#54,153,0007T (20234 : A% 35,034,000
7T) B AR #54,153,000 ¢ (20234 : AR
35,034,0007T) ©
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

36. EBEERERMT @)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from

(b) MEEBELENEEZE

financing activities

Interest-
bearing bank
Consideration and other Lease
payables borrowings liabilities
FTERITR
ENRE H At AR HEaE
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT AREFr
Carrying amount at R2022F4 1 8H
1 April 2022 BRmE 199,499 140,779 38,948
Changes from financing BERSREE
cash flows (70,000) 87,601 (28,507)
Set off against contingent HEEHHARE
consideration (101,912) - -
New leases e - - 35,034
Acquisition of subsidiaries Uk BE B B A A = = 9,557
Interest expenses FE R 6,187 17,264 2,020
Lease termination HE&IE - - (8,630)
Carrying amount at M2023F3H31B K
31 March 2023 and 2023F4 A1 8
1 April 2023 BRME 33,774 245,644 48,422
Changes from financing BERSREE
cash flows (28,519) (65,391) (30,395)
Reversal of prior year's BB EFHEIHR A
set off against RE
contingent consideration 60,431 - -
Set off against contingent EIHFARE
consideration (41,267) - -
New leases g - - 40,662
Lease extension THEREH - - 13,491
Disposal of a subsidiary & — B AR - - (310)
Interest expenses F BRI 3,619 17,791 2,900
Lease termination HERIE - - (7,302)
Carrying amount at R 2024F3 A31 B
31 March 2024 BRME 28,038 198,044 67,468
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36.

37.

210

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36. mEBERERMT &)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
() Total cash outflow for leases () HERSHRHERE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the HARSREANMAER SN R HA%EN
statement of cash flows is as follows: T :
2024 F 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETFT ARETFIT
Within operating activities 4 E B EE A 11,103 2,398
Within financing activities B EBEE R 30,395 28,507
Total FEE 41,498 30,905
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BEEARS

In addition to the acquisition transaction in the prior year
and the corresponding contingent consideration and
consideration payables detailed in note 29 to the financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with
related parties during the year:

(a) Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group:

The directors and chief executives of the Company are
the key management personnel of the Group. Details
of their remuneration are disclosed in note 9 to the
financial statements.

B B 7% R MY RE 29 FT Rl ) 3B 12 FF R W B
X5 RBEREARERENKESN  AEE
RENRBEBTBLTRS

(a) *EEXEEERBAENME :

ARAREERESITBRAEALAEE
TEEEBEAE c HFM 2 FBHEE
REATETRERMIZED ©
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continved) 37. BB, R 5 (&)

(b) Loans from a related company

(b) EWEEQTER

In May 2022, ZZ Travel Development Investment
(Qingdao) Co., Ltd.* (FPIEREMZERE(FE) AR
22 &]), now named as Jinhui Technology Investment (Qingdao)
Co,td* (@ BRI KKRE(TEH)BRRA), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Beijing Tongguan Capital Management Co., Ltd.* (1t
RBEEANEREABR A A), an entity indirectly
controlled by the Company’s ultimate beneficial
owner, entered into a loan agreement pursuant to
which Beijing Tongguan Capital Management Co.,
Ltd. agreed to provide a loan of RMB70,000,000 to ZZ
Travel Development Investment (Qingdao) Co., Ltd. for
its working capital purpose.

On 30 March 2023, Dalian Kingwisoft Technology
Co., Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Jinhui Technology Investment
(Qingdao) Co., Ltd. entered into supplemental loan
agreements with Beijing Tongguan Capital
Management Co., Ltd. pursuant to which the
repayment dates of loans due from the Group to
Beijing Tongguan Capital Management Co., Ltd. with
an aggregate principal amount of RMB130,000,000
and the corresponding interest payable of
RMB36,044,000 were extended to 31 March 2025,
and the annual interest rate of such loans reduced
from 13.5% to 12.0%, and another loan with a
principal amount of RMB27,000,000 remained to be
interest-free.

Further details of the aforementioned loans from
Beijing Tongguan Capital Management Co., Ltd. as at
the end of the reporting period and the corresponding
interest expenses are set out in notes 30 and 8 to the
financial statements, respectively.

* for identification purpose only

MR2022F 58 ARRZEEZER
BARFHEIKERAZERE(FE)ER
ARIRASEREERE (FE)ERA
A EBANRRKESEA AREZ
MERBIIRAREAEEGR ARG
NER B B ARBEEARE
BEHRARRERARERERZERE
(BEBE)ERAAIRHEARE
70,000,000 T E X - AIEHZIEE

N
7

M2023F3 A30H  ARRZHEE:E
BB ARAECERSRERNE
BARRSERBRE(FS)ERA
AE AT EARNER AR ARG L
BRERWZ - Bt - AEBE K
RBREATEAERARASEEA
R # 130,000,000 7T X 48 & FE 1~ K1 B A
R #36,044,000 TEF K E R B HE
RZE2025F3A31 0 ' ZEERNE
AEB135%EE120% MB—%
N& 58 A AR 27,000,000 THE R
=

RmEHER ElRkadEATER
EEARARNERREEN S
R E— D FE1E - D RIE R B IS SR M
F30%8 0

* (ERBE
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38.

212

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged for the years ended 31
March 2024 and 31 March 2023.

The Company’s directors review the capital structure on a
periodical basis. As part of the review, the Company’s
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
Company'’s directors, the Group balances its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts
or the redemption of existing debt.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings divided by the
capital which is the total equity of the Group. The gearing
ratios at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

38. EXEHE

ANEEE T H B AR ARERANE B T 52 pE sk
BIFECE  RNERBECESMERER
ARERERSE R NEE2024F3 8
31 B M2023E3B831BIEEE  AEEK
R RES I o

ARREBEEEHRAEARE - (FREEN
—®D ARREFER T EARARANIAKE
FSHEERHENRER - REARREZEFMNE
BER AEEFEERNBE - BITHERK
EIEERMDARBETHERBEREEHES
N FEEREEANRE -

AEBERBBLREZEN  BELER
sHEIRTT R EAE KR AE AR (BN A5 B 4
SR E - RIEHRNBELERNT ¢

2024 F 20234
(Restated)
(1= &E5)

Interest-bearing bank and T ERIT REME R
other borrowings (RMB’000) (ARETIT) 198,044 245,644
Total equity (RMB’000) BB (ARETT) 820,691 1,025,277
Gearing ratio BELX 24.1% 24.0%
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 39. HERETWEMTH
CATEGORIES
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RIRERKR  SESRTEAMNEREDT :
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
Financial assets TREE
2024 2024 &F
Financial
assets at fair Financial

value through  assets at fair
profit or loss — value through

mandatorily other
designated comprehensive Financial
as such income — assets at
upon initial equity amortised
recognition  investments cost Total
BAYE
FABEH
THEE —

BEURDL  BAVEA
BAREES Ht2EKE - REHERE

BAPESA WEMEE— ST
BENERMEE BiERE tHEE a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREFT ARETFT AREFT

Financial assets at fair value BATEFABENS R

through profit or loss BE 4,812 - - 4,812
Accounts receivable FEUER 3K - - 668,208 668,208
Financial assets included in FIATERFOE - Ef el

prepayments, other receivables ~ FIEREMEEN SR

and other assets BE - - 57,980 57,980
Restricted cash XRHHE S - - 594 594
Pledged deposits EHER - - 3,157 3,157
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY - - 82,673 82,673

4,812 - 812,612 817,424
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

214

CATEGORIES (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

2023

39. REFIETNEMT R #)

TRMEE @)

2023

Financial assets

at fair  Financial assets
value through at fair
profit or value
loss — through
mandatorily other
designated  comprehensive Financial
as such income — assets at
upon initial equity amortised
recognition investments cost Total
/N ]
TR
PREE —
@HERTE  BLTFEFA
BREEER Ht2Eks TRE SRR
BATEFA HNEREE— FTEH)
BaRNepEE BRIE PREE Hast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Equity investments designated BERERATET AL
at fair value through other FHNENEREE
comprehensive income = 300 - 300
Financial assets at fair value BEATEFABZNSH
through profit or loss EE 11,068 - - 11,068
Contingent consideration FARE 8,459 - - 8,459
Accounts receivable JFEUTER X - - 599,312 599,312
Financial assets included in SIATENFOR « EffElR
prepayments, other receivables ~ FIBREMEEN S A
and other assets BE - - 34,906 34,906
Pledged deposits EREN - - 3,057 3,057
Cash and cash equivalents Be kB eEEY - - 163,697 163,697
19,527 300 800,972 820,799
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities

fk 3 S 255 e e B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

39. REFISTNEMT R #)

THERE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REBHEBAFTENESREE
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFIT ARKFT

Accounts payable FERTBRER 28,639 11,517
Financial liabilities included in other T AE A FE 5B R EET B AR
payables and accruals TRAE 23,699 39,281
Consideration payables ERRE 28,038 33,774
Interest-bearing bank and other TRRITREAMER
borrowings 198,044 245,644
Lease liabilities HEAE 67,468 48,422
345,888 378,638
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40.

216

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s
financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as
follows:

40.

EMITAZAFERAFEER

AEEemTAREEERFESERS
ERRON HREE R A FHENT ¢

Carrying amounts Fair values
IRMEE AFE
2024 F 20234 2024 2023 F
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBFr ARKEFTT AR¥Fr ARKETT
Financial assets SREE
Equity investments designated ~ #857E A& AFEFTA
at fair value through other HAth 2
comprehensive income =R E - 300 - 300
Financial assets at fair value LA EF AR
through profit or loss EREE 4,812 11,068 4,812 11,068
Contingent consideration HARE = 8,459 = 8,459
Long-term deposits and KR E REWGRIA
receivables 3,750 4,253 3,359 3,800
8,562 24,080 8,171 23,627
Financial liabilities SRIBE
Consideration payables RSB 28,038 33,774 28,038 33,774
Interest-bearing bank and ETEERIT R E AL S K
other borrowings 198,044 245,644 198,044 236,083
226,082 279,418 226,082 269,857
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and ERECHERELASEHEY  ZRHIH
cash equivalents, restricted cash, pledged deposits, accounts % BHFEZ - EWERR - stATBENRA -

receivable, current portion of financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, accounts
payable, current portion of financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals, current portion of consideration
payables, and current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

H b e kI8 & B b & E A & BB B R B BP
o BARR NG ARMEN TR K ERTE
ReERAERBEY - BRARENREE
2 IR BIRTT R EMERERE) R D &
RFEEEREERS  TEANZEFTLA
BRI EIH 8IS -

=

=

el g
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of unlisted equity investments have been
estimated using a market approach. The key assumptions
applied in the calculation using a market-based valuation
technique are the comparable companies, price to sales (“P/
S”) multiples and discount of lack of marketability
("DLOM"). Comparable companies are actively traded in
stock market and the multiples are publicly available. Also,
to adjust the fair value difference between a publicly traded
company and a private company, an independent valuer
engaged by the Group has applied the option price model
to estimate the DLOM. The directors of the Company believe
that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
techniques, which are recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes in
fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, where applicable, are reasonable,
and that they were the most appropriate values at the end
of the reporting period. The fair values of listed equity
investments at 31 March 2023 were based on quoted
market prices.

In the event when the Group has been negotiating with the
counterparty during the year and subsequently entered into
a formal legal contractual disposal agreement with that
counterparty, the contract selling price, which is similar to
the negotiating price, is deemed to be the fair value of the
unlisted equity investment.

The fair value of contingent consideration at 31 March 2023
was determined using the Monte Carlo simulation model
under the income approach.

The fair values of long-term deposits and receivables,
consideration payables and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.

40.

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

EMTAZAVFERAFERER

(&)

TREENBBENRFENIZEBRTEE
X5 (RHEBERBERIN RAIRMZ TR
MEBARR - LT IERBRARMGE A
8 :

ELTRABREZ ATFEDHERTEEMG
it o MALUMS ARG ERIT T ERAT
FEANEEZRERAF AT mER([™
HE ) B RS miSRABETE((HRET
SRBEITED - AT AREREMS LR
SIER  HEHAAMHERS - 1IN BFEE
ETWREEMAARZENAFEEZR K
EBZENBY (HEME ERHREERER
HEtREmSRBETZE - AARZEEM
& HERMAE YRR S Bk R
REET AFE RS RR Bk Kt 2 m R ES
(EA) NEEATFEEZHEAIE - ARR
LHRAERABENSE  ETHESZRER
2023F3A31BZATFENRETM S RE

| s
=T H o
al

HAKERNFA-—EERXZHHFREEBLHER
HZRZHFIILENEER DL EWZ -
AIEEEEREENANEERE/IELD
BRIERENAFE -

AR BER2023F3 A31 B ZAFETIIR
BWAEERZERERBISAET -

R e REWHIR - BARENR LR
T REMERORFETIER LS BLK
R EERBRERSKIH AN TANRITA
BHERBERBEHRKRSREAESDL -
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

218

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments categorised within Level 3
together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at the end

of the reporting period:

40. SR IT A AFERLAFEEBR

(%)

ATARBERRIERE=FNETRTE
HENEATAIEERABEREEREE
BURE DT :

Significant Sensitivity of fair value

Financial instrument unobservable input  Value/range to the input

EAFAHE

£RIA WSS BE ttx NP EHBAHBHRRE

Market approach

5%

Unlisted equity investment at ~ P/S multiple of peers  2023: 0.97 2023: 10% increase/decrease in
fair value through other multiple would result in increase/
comprehensive income of nil decrease in fair value by
(2023: RMB300,000) RMB27,000

TISERATEFARMEE REQFFHETHE 20234 : 0.97 2023 % : REL LT TBE10% 1%
WaRrFEETRRRERT BH BHNFEEMN RO AR
(20234 : AR# 300,000 27,000 7¢
7T)

Discount for lack of 2023: 23% 2023: 1% increase/decrease in

Unlisted equity investments at
fair value through profit or

loss of nil

(2023: RMB1,154,000)
BAFEFTABRMNIE EME
=R E (2023 F - ARK

1,154,000 7T)

marketability

AR b LR

P/S multiple of peers

R ATFHHHE
8

Discount for lack of
marketability

BR= 5 A M I

20234 : 23%

2023: 2.1

20234 : 2.1

2023: 23%

20234 : 23%

discount would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by RMB4,000

20236 - R LA THR1% BE
HATFEAD, HMARYS
4,000 7T

2023: 10% increase/decrease in
multiple would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by
RMB115,000

2023 % : (FEEFTBE10% 1S
BHATEEM B ARE
115,000 7T

2023: 1% increase/decrease in
discount would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB15,000

2023 : B EFHTRBE 1% &
BAFER D LA R
15,000 7T



KINGWISOFT TECHNOLOGY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED 4> 2575 4 H e 4y A B A )

2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT 4F#}

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 40. €T E 2 AFERAFEER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(%)

Significant Sensitivity of fair value
Financial instrument unobservable input  Value/range to the input
ERRAEE
SRMIA A BB BE ttE DR EHBARBHBRE
Unlisted equity investments at ~ P/S multiple of peers ~ 2023: 0.64 2023: 10% increase/decrease in
fair value through profit or multiple would result in increase/
loss of nil decrease in fair value by
(2023: RMB1,230,000) RMB105,000
BATEF ARSI ELTE REQRFHMHEEX 20234 : 0.64 2023%F : BFELEA TR 10%
=R E (2023F : ARK (=1 2 RN FEEN, B ARE
1,230,000 7T) 105,000 7T
Discount for lack of 2023: 29% 2023: 1% increase/decrease in

Unlisted equity investments at
fair value through profit or
loss of RMB1,431,000
(2023: RMB2,958,000)

BRAERT ABaRH)IE ETE
mRE AR 1,431,0007T
(20234 = AR¥2,958,000
7T)

marketability

R 5 1 TR

P/S multiple of peers

BEYNCIES S iFES
(=3

Discount for lack of
marketability

BR= TSR

20234 : 29%

0.67
(2023: 0.7)

0.67
(20234 : 0.7)

24%
(2023: 23%)

24%
(20234 : 23%)

discount would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB15,000

2023 % - P EF TR 1% B8
BAFERD IEMARE
15,000 7T

10% increase/decrease (2023: 10%)
in multiple would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by
RMB143,000 (2023: RMB295,000)

B8 TR 10% (2023 F :
10%) #HEH A FEEZ M, 5D
AR 143,000 7L (2023 4F : A
¥ 295,000 7T)

1% increase/decrease (2023: 1%) in
discount would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB 19,000
(2023: RMB38,000)

i EF & 1% (20234 : 1%)
HERAFERD EMARE
19,0007T (20234 : AR
38,0007T)
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 40. €T E 2 AFERAFEER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)
Significant Sensitivity of fair value
Financial instrument unobservable input  Value/range to the input
ERRAEE
$MIA BARSE BBt AT ELH A BE O RBE
Unlisted equity investments at ~ P/S multiple of peers ~ 8.49 10% increase/decrease (2023: 10%)
fair value through profit or (2023: 11.61) in multiple would result in increase/
loss of RMB2,299,000 decrease in fair value by
(2023: RMB1,774,000) RMB229,000 (2023: RMB178,000)
RATEFABENIELTE BEEQRTFIHIMEER 849 BEHEF T 10% (2023 4 :
miITE AR 2,299,000 7T =8 (2023 : 11.61)  10%) BBHATAEE M, B A
(20234 : AKR%1,774,000 R#229,0007T (2023 F : AR
7T) 178,000 7T.)
Discount for lack of 23% 1% increase/decrease (2023: 1%) in
(2023: 24%) discount would result in decrease/

increase in marketability fair value
by RMB29,000 (2023: RMB23,000)
RSB RBENTE 23% PriE EF/ TR 1% (20234 : 1%)
(20234 : 24%) BERAFERD EIMARE
29,000 7T (2023 4F : AR
23,0007T)
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 40. €T E 2 AFERAFEER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)

Significant Sensitivity of fair value
Financial instrument unobservable input  Value/range to the input

ERRAEE
$RITA A BB BE ttE AR EHBRARBHNRRE

Monte Carlo simulation model

REFREERIRTY

Contingent consideration Volatility rate 2023: 54.55%
(fair value portion) of nil
(2023: RMB68,890,000)

FARE (AFEZS)Z GRS 20234 : 54.55%
(20234 : AR
68,890,000 7T.)

2023: 5% increase/decrease in
volatility would result in increase/
decrease in fair value by
RMB1,711,000/RMB2,080,000

2023%F : WX EFTRES5% 1§
BHRATAEEN B ARE
1,711,000 7T, A R ¥ 2,080,000
7T

Discount rate 2023:2.19% 2023: 1% increase/decrease in
discount would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by
RMB1,498,000/RMB226,000

BRI & 20235 :2.19%  2023%F : B LA TE 1% K&
BATERD EMARE
1,498,0007C, A % 226,000 7T

The discount for lack of marketability represents the TR Z 3% M R T e 35 AN SR (B P 8 T 9%
amounts of premiums and discounts determined by the ZEENCEEEREERNEERITES
Group that market participants would take into account o

when pricing the investments.

The fair value of an unlisted equity investment at 31 March R2024F3 8318 —THIELTRERLRE
2024 amounting to RMB 1,082,000 was the contract selling B AFEAEARE1,082,0007T © 5552024
price (similar to the negotiating price during the year) F5 AT WREEEHZEAIANSAE
stipulated in an equity transfer agreement entered into in BFEURFERERER)  LHEXAEER
May 2024 to dispose of the Group's entire internet in such ZILTRERENE DR - Bt - =
unlisted equity investment. Accordingly, the directors are of RASBARAEFIE LRI E R 2024 F 3
the view that no quantitative sensitivity analysis on such A 31 BETE(CBRED -

unlisted equity investment at 31 March 2024 is considered
necessary.
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 40. €T E 2 AFERAFEER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)

Fair value hierarchy NEEER

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRINTAEESLHRITEANAFEFEE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: & -

Assets measured at fair value: BRAVEFENEE :

As at 31 March 2024 H2024F3H31H

Fair value measurement using
ERUTEENDFEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

i EATEBE EAFTAEE

miEHRE BWARE WARE
(F-B&) (BFZER) (F=EHR st
RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARMTT AR¥FT AR¥ETR

Equity investments designated 8 E AR A FEF AE

at fair value through other i 2 I aR B 2 AR
comprehensive income & = = = =

Financial assets at fair value BATEGFAEENS
through profit or loss BMEE - - 4,812 4,812
Contingent consideration HAR(E = - - -
_ - 4812 4,812
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 40. €T E 2 AFERAFEER
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023

(%)

DFERBR )

202343 531H

Fair value measurement using

ERATEENAFEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BB EAUER BANUHE
mI5RE B ABUR B ABUR
(F—ER) (EZER) (F=E#H) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT
Equity investments designated 38 E AR ATFEFTAR
at fair value through other 2 E =R R IR
comprehensive income & = = 300 300
Financial assets at fair value BRTEFABZNE
through profit or loss BMEE 3,952 = 7,116 11,068
Contingent consideration HAR(E - - 8,459 8,459
3,952 = 15,875 19,827
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 RERX  F=HAFHETEZEEHNT -
during the year are as follows:
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#TF T ARBTT
Equity investments designated at fair value 15F A1z N FELZFA B L 2 EY
though other comprehensive income AR IR E
At 1 April R4H1H 300 15,564
Total losses recognised in other RE A 2 E W R B B4R R
comprehensive income - (15,264)
Disposal of a subsidiary & — KB AR (300) -
At 31 March R3A318 - 300
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 40. €@ T E 2 AFERAFEER

224

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (%)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEEEBH (&)
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFr
Financial assets at fair value though BAFEGAB L EE
profit or loss
At 1 April R4H1H 7,116 300
Total losses recognised in profit or loss RIERERN R4 (1,247) (484)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U BE R B A A - 1,000
Purchases BE - 5,400
Equity interest retained upon disposal of ~ H&Ei& A 7], — K B A &8
an associate/a subsidiary RE B IR HE - 900
Reclassified to other receivable o RS B EUGK (1,057) =
At 31 March M3 A31H 4,812 7,116
Contingent consideration SRARE (A FEES)
(fair value portion)
At 1 April w4 81H 8,459 —
Total gains/(losses) recognised in RIBEERN W (B18) B85
profit or loss (27,623) 68,890
Reversal of prior year's set off against B ETEF R ENRE
consideration payables 60,431 =
Set off against consideration payables HEIHESRE (41,267) (60,431)
At 31 March W3 A31H = 8,459

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 for both
financial assets and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s long-term deposits and
receivables for which fair value are disclosed as
RMB3,359,000 (2023: RMB3,800,000) is categorised within
Level 2 (2023: Level 2).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s consideration payables
and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings for which
fair values were disclosed as RMB33,774,000 and
RMB236,083,000, respectively, were categorised within
Level 2.

TR cREERSRAGBENAFEFEY

MR —REE —F 7 B E(20234F ¢
) o
R2024F3A31H AEB AT ERE

A A R #3,359,0007C(20234F : A R ¥
3 800,000 70) W EHR® MEWFIES B A
A% (20234 : EMR) °

MR2023F3A31H AEEMNEMNKE
AREFBERITEEMER(ERTFES R
BT A A R 133,774,000 & A R #&
236,083,000 7T) DA 4 o
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's risk associated with its major financial
instruments include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risks
(foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk).
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner. There has been no change
to the types of the Group’s exposure in respect of financial
instruments or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risks.

Credit risk

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an
internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The Group’s major customers are mostly
reputable large entities.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 36% (2023:
32%) of the total accounts receivable was due from the
Group’s largest debtor and 83% (2023: 78%) of the total
accounts receivable was due from the Group’s top five
debtors as at 31 March 2024.

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of
the financial assets of the Group as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position best represent
their respective amounts of the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which could cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties.

41.

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

MEEBEREBFERBUER

AEBEEETZSRTARBNRREIEE
SRk - RBETRRRTHELR(INEE
B AR ERR R AEREER) o AT
BEZZRBOER - EEBHZFARE
TTEEREE  UBRKLE BB RIEE
Hie o AEE MR T AMTAERR 2 ER
SEEERFTERR 2T ABEZLS) -

EERR

ERZERHELZA - AEESRARE
FEENDEGHEEEEPNEEER I
REZEFPHEERE - BRTEFPZEEL
BEFDBFRAMA - HEEEFE T
BE - URERRIBRETER @A MET -
AEENEEEPAZHREER IR

== g8

Hig °

R2024F3A31H ARERERERETE 2
36% (20234 : 2%) REAEBEZKNED
AR FEWBR FRAR%E 2 83% (20234 : 78%)
REAEBRAKREBA  IAEEHEES
EER -

REBEHRR - ARERGEMBHMRRRE
IR EENRAERERTEHF IR
EERTEEMBSAERERZMBIBRNER
SiEERR RS -
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41.

226

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Financial assets subject to external credit rating

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12-month ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12-month ECL for bank balances is considered to
be insignificant.

Financial assets subject to internal credit rating

In order to minimise the credit risk for accounts receivable,
the management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, accounts receivable are generally grouped under a
provision matrix according to internal credit risk grading
assessment based on shared credit risk characteristics by
reference to factors, such as repayment histories and current
past due exposure. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under expected credit loss model for
each reporting period.

For financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets, the management of the Group
makes periodic collective assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of receivables based on
historical settlement records and past experience.

1. BIREREEREERBEE &)

EERRE#E)
BEIBEETRYEHMEE

BRZEHTF T REEREERBRTRE
BRBEBRENRT - RURITHESRZ
EERBAR - AEBEKE2EINERTR
BEZMEBEENRSTREMENREIR
BAOBBRNERNFERITESRNI12EATRE
HEEER - REBFHERE - RITEHRH
REAEREEERKESTEK -

BERABEETRZEHMEE

SEEREREERZEERR  ~EEE
BEECRk—XEXEEEEEERE 5
B R E A B EIR T - ARERERERBR LT
W EBHRETR o b - BURR—KRSE
BEPHERTHENE PR AR RS A
= REERAZEERBRFBELHN AL
EERR R ENBREEE T ETOE -
AN - ARERSHREPERREEREERS
BIRFVETTRIERE °

FLET ATAN R - EtEYGRIBE R A EE
MEREEMS - AREEEEENELE
NReE OB AR - E B R RAER &Y &
Wk IE Ry R R B 1 o
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Financial assets subject to internal credit rating
(Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

BEEREEEERBE®)

&R
BERABEETRZEHEE (&)

AEBEHNABEERRFRFHEEATHR
Al

Accounts
Category Description receivable Other receivables
5| 35 PR ERR e e
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL—not  12-month ECL
does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired
(A9 HFEIWENRRRE - BYEEARHEKIE 2HEREEHE 12@AEREEEER
— WEEERE
Watch list The counterparty frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL—not  12-month ECL
dates but usually settle in full credit-impaired
REE HFELKERDBMREN - HEBEREEE 2HREREEHE REAEHREEERR
— WEEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL—not  Lifetime ECL — not
risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
E2=3 BRABRRNEMIINTRRBETEERRE 2HEREEHE 2HRHAGEEE
A HERR LA SR ERZE 12 AN — WEEERE — WEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating that the asset is Lifetime ECL— Lifetime ECL — credit-
credit-impaired credit-impaired impaired
Eia FRBBRREELREERE THEHEESE 2HEHEEER
— EERE — EERE
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. IR EEEEREE @)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EER &)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the TR A EBBEETEBEEERT N
Group's financial assets which are subject to ECL SRIEEMNEERRAE :
assessment:
As at 31 March 2024 20243 H31H

Internal credit rating
External AHERFR
credit rating Lowrisk ~ Watchlist ~ Doubtful Loss Total
MBEER ERR  BRLE 2 B #st
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT AREFT ARETR

Cash and cash equivalents BeRHLZEY 82,673* - - - - 82,673
Pledged deposits EREH 3,157* - = = = 3,157
Restricted cash TREEE 594* = = = = 594
Accounts receivable FEURER
Gross amount k2] - 491,998 172,606 15,767 339 680,710
Loss allowance BiERE - (497) (6.232) (5.434) (339) (12,502)
- 491,501 166,374 10,333 - 668,208
Other receivables R
Gross amount b - 54,256 - 8,230 27,130 89,616
Loss allowance BiERE - (391) - (4,115) (27,130) (31,636)
- 53,865 - 4,115 - 57,980
Total 4=t 86,424 545,366 166,374 14,448 - 812,612
Average loss rate T EEx - 0.16% 3.61% 39.79% 100%
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. BIEREEEERBEE &)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERk &)
As at 31 March 2023 R2023F3 F31H
Internal credit rating
credit rating Lowrisk  Watch list Doubtful Loss Total
MBEETR ERE BRLE fcad BB st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFTL
Cash and cash equivalents Re kRS EEM 163,697* - - - - 163,697
Pledged deposits ERER 3,057* = = = = 3,057
Restricted cash XRHES - - - - - -
Accounts receivable G
Gross amount k2] = 426,909 161,892 16,801 339 605,941
Loss allowance BiEEE - (345) (2,549) (3,396) (339) (6,629)
- 426,564 159,343 13,405 - 599,312
Other receivables AR
Gross amount k] - 30,455 - 6,042 21,928 58,425
Loss allowance EREE - 23) - (1,568) (21,928) (23,519)
- 30,432 - 4474 - 34,906
Total et 166,754 456,996 159,343 17,879 - 800,972
Average loss rate Y EEx - 0.08% 1.57% 21.73% 100%
* The Group’s major bank balances are deposited at banks with & AEBEKEZRITEBRTFHRRZELRTRABEK

investment grade according to The Standard & Poor’s rating.

BRBIHIIRIT ©
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are
adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.

The following table shows a movement of ECL that has
been recognised for accounts receivable under the simplified

41.

BEEREEEERBE®)

&R

BRE TR FAR A AN BE
EBREORMER - URBARETERA
HE DA ESOATEEERHELRE - &
BEeEHRN oA NERABSERK
FEMHBEENEERN -

TRIVRERZBOEREUERR T AR
MEREEERNES -

approach:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
Impaired) Impaired) Total
2 HATEH 2 HAFEH
FEEE FEEE
(W EEERE) (E8RE) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFIT ARBF T ARBFT
At 1 April 2022 R2022F4H1H 3,071 - 3,071
Provision of ECL A EEEEEE 3,219 339 3,558
At 31 March 2023 and R2023F3A31B X
1 April 2023 2023F4A1H 6,290 339 6,629
Provision of ECL B E S EEE 5,953 - 5,953
Disposal of a subsidiary & — B AR (80) = (80)
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3 A31H 12,163 339 12,502
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

41. BIEREEEERBEE &)

Credit risk (Continued) EERB &)
TRIRE T ATER FRIB « E b fE U TR TE
FEMEENSMEERRANESREEEE
pd-L

The following table shows a movement of ECL that has
been recognised for financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets:

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month (not credit- (credit-
ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2 HATEH
FEBE 2 HIFAH
12887 (LEEE FEEE
FEEHE wE) (EERE) st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFT AREFT ARYTT
At 1 April 2022 M2022F4 A1 H 23 - 9,761 9,784
Provision of ECL TEEE EEERE - 1,568 12,167 13,735
At 31 March 2023 and R2023F3A31B K
1 April 2023 2023%F 4 A1 H 23 1,568 21,928 23,519
Provision of ECL TREEEEEEE 368 2,547 10,152 13,067
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEHEA R - - (4,950) (4,950)
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3 A31H 391 4,115 27,130 31,636
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. BEEREEEERBE@
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk nBESRR
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors BEIETEHESEM  ANEBERLKEREE
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed HBERAAEZENES RIBESEBYAKTE - LA
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s ARNEFSEREHES LRERESRENE
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash & o
flows.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at RBER - AEES BB ENIHBERGR
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual BAEE A EANTHNEREBBEBIEENES
undiscounted payments to be made on the earliest date on HAREBSTEE) AT ¢

which the Group can be required to pay, is as follows:

As at 31 March 2024 202443 531H

Less than Over 1 year

1 year or and less

on demand than 5 years Over 5 years Total
DR1EF BiB1F
FRER RINSF BB5F st

RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARMTT ARBTT AREFTT ARMTT

Accounts payable FETARER 28,639 = = 28,639
Financial liabilities included in &+ A fth & (< 5008 K fE
other payables and accruals A EAMNEHEE 23,699 = = 23,699
Consideration payables ERRE 28,038 - - 28,038
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITREAE K
other borrowings 213,825 - - 213,825
Lease liabilities HERE 30,313 49,669 553 80,535
324,514 49,669 553 374,736
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. BIRREEEERBE ®)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) nREBESREMRZ)
As at 31 March 2023 20233 H31H

Less than  Over 1 year

1 year or and less

on demand than 5 years Over 5 years Total
DR1EF il
FIREK  RIRSF Ha38 5 F #Et

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETIT ARBTT AREBTT ARETT

Accounts payable FESTBR K 11,517 - - 11,517
Financial liabilities included in 51 A E fth f& 15 518 & &
other payables and accruals ~ FFEAMERAE 39,281 - - 39,281
Consideration payables ERRE 28,519 5,463 = 33,982
Interest-bearing bank and FTEERIT R EAME K
other borrowings 69,212 208,994 - 278,206
Lease liabilities HEBE 23,628 31,159 716 55,503
172,157 245,616 716 418,489
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41.

234

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. BEEREEREEREE®
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk S =L B
The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk is mainly A& B mEEER)INE BB = B2k B AFE R R
attributable to those financial assets included in MEEEM AN BB EHER T ATER IR -
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, cash and HEhEWRIBREMEENEREE Re
cash equivalents and financial liabilities included in other MRS ZEY ARG A b A 38 K ERT
payables and accruals denominated in the currencies other ERNemEeE EEEETIEVET LR
than the functional currency of the entity to which they & - DARE(R MBS B SOt B EGE 2 18 5 ©
related. The management manages and monitors this
exposure to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency RIEER - REBAIINESHENEBEE
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the FEEaEMREEDT
end of the reporting period are as follows:
2024 20234
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE =N BE =L
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFrT AREFT AREFT ARETT
United States Dollars =TT 1,812 2 1,288 2
Hong Kong Dollars BT 6,999 860 100,652 4,594
8,811 862 101,940 4,596
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT HERMEEEERRE®)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SRR ()

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the functional currencies’ exchange rates of respective
entities, with all other variables held constant, of the

FRERT
MEBTENEYEEREEKABMEERN
$'§ ERTASESEEE

TRINTRBERREMBEME BT

BERUEEEREEE A

BUOREERZA

Group's loss before tax arising from the monetary assets and A RE BB HYFUKE
monetary liabilities denominated in the currencies other
than the functional currency of the entity to which they
related.
Increase/ 2024 2023
(decrease) in Increase/ Increase/
functional (decrease) in (decrease) in
currencies’ loss before loss before
exchange rates tax tax
2024 F 2023 F
hee e ER FRBE AT BT 18 MBI BT 18
EFH () & CR2) &/ G
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AREFIT AREFIT
United States Dollars ETT 5 (90) (64)
(5) 90 64
Hong Kong Dollars BT 5 (307) (4,803)
(5) 307 4,803
Interest rate risk R = 2 b

The Group's interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances. The Group'’s
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings were not at
floating rate.

AEENFZRRREBRFRBITERESL
MM RR B o AEEEHBRTTREMER
W IFLFE B F KGR -

ARRREFR ST BRITELRE AR R

e
BT o

The directors of the Company consider the interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances is insignificant and
therefore no sensitivity analysis on such risk has been
prepared.

RITEA - I E 2 T AR AR R U
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

42. XRFWNHBRRFHE

COMPANY
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end REREIR » AR EBMB AR 2B
of the reporting period are as follows: T
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and registered  attributable to the
Name operations share capital Company Principal activities
ML TR ERT AOAREGESR
£ EELH EE /SRR BAL TEER
2024%F  2023%F
KingNine Holdings Limited Cayman Islands US$1,548 100 100  Investment holding
KingNine Holdings Limited HEHS 1,548 %7T 100 100 HAER
Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese US$10,000,000 100 100  Investment holding
Mainland
ERRENBARAR e/ E A 10,000,000 % 7T 100 100 REZK
Dalian Kingwisoft Technology Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese RMB 100,000,000 100 100 Provision of back-office
(“Dalian Kingwisoft”) Mainland services
AEEEREMEBRNERAT hE/REAM AR 100,000,0007 100 100 REH&RERS
Shenzhen Kingwisoft Data Services PRC/Chinese RMB33,500,000 100 100 Provision of data centre
Co., Ltd. * Mainland services
AT EREEBEREARAR  PE/PER AR 33,500,000 70 100 100 fRALERD LR
Qingdao Nanyou Information PRC/Chinese RMB10,000,000 100 100 Provision of back-office
Technology Co., Ltd. * Mainland services
EEHBERRINERAR e/ R E A AR 10,000,000 7T 100 100 =R RS
Dalian Kingwisoft Internet Service PRC/Chinese RMB 10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Outsourcing Co., Ltd. * Mainland services
RECEREREBRBNERRA +E,/ PEA AR¥ 10,000,000 70 100 100 Rt SRS
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. XATHME QR FE @)

COMPANY (Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and registered  attributable to the
Name operations share capital Company Principal activities
MR R BET AT ELER
£ EE EE/ERRA Bk TEXR
2024F  2023%F
Wuhan Kingwisoft Technology Co., ~ PRC/Chinese RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Ltd. * Mainland services
NESERERRARAR hE/ R AR™ 10,000,00075 100 100 RER AR
Leshan Kingwisoft Technology Co., PRC/Chinese RMB 10,000,000 100 100 Provision of back-office
Ltd. * Mainland services
LS ERERRERAR B/ E R AR#10,000,0007T 100 100 REBERE
Kunshan Kingwisoft Information PRC/Chinese RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Technology Co., Ltd. * Mainland services
RIS EFEENRERAR RE/HEAN AE#10,000,00075 100 100 RERERS
Chengdu Kingwisoft Data Services PRC/Chinese RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Co., Ltd. * Mainland services
e EREHEREERAR HE/HER AR#10,000,0007¢ 100 100 fREfE B MRS
Luzhou Kingwisoft Technology Co., PRC/Chinese RMB 10,000,000 100 100 Provision of back-office
Ltd. * Mainland services
BN EREERREERAR B/ HRER AR 10,000,00075 100 100 R 6 R
Xiangyang Kingwisoft Internet PRC/Chinese RMB 10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Technology Co., Ltd. * Mainland services
ELeEHMEREERAR RE/RER AR 10,000,00075 100 100 FRE& A RS
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

238

COMPANY (Continued)

42. XA TKHE R AFHE @)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and registered  attributable to the
Name operations share capital Company Principal activities
MR R BRT ARREGESR
£ EEME EE /SRR BAL TEXH
2024F  2023%F
Dalian Zhiyin Internet Technology Co.,  PRC/Chinese RMB28,000,000 60 60 Provision of back-office
Ltd. * (“Dalian Zhiyin") Mainland services
AEEREBBRRERAF hE/ RN AR 28,000,000 70 60 60 ReftiR AR
(TRERR])
Mianyang Kingwisoft Internet Service  PRC/Chinese RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of back-office
Co., Ltd. * Mainland services
®EEZEMBREERAA i/ E R AR ¥10,000,000 70 100 100 REEEERS
Beijing Hui Future Technology Co., PRC/Chinese RMB10,000,000 100 100  Provision of comprehensive
Ltd.* Mainland marketing and agency
services
EREARBEARAR hE/ R R, AR ¥ 10,000,000 70 100 100 RftESLHRARRE
ZZCI Corporate Services Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100  Provision of corporate
services
PEERECRREBRAA BE 18T 100 100 RECERS

*  These are subsidiaries of DaLian Kingwisoft.

Except for KingNine Holdings Limited, the equity interests of
the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held by the
Company.

The English name of the above principal subsidiaries
registered in the PRC are for identification purpose only.

The subsidiaries listed in the above table are, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

* BRERARAKERZANBRA

B KingNine Holdings Limited 7 » E #it &= 2
M El 2 IRMEE A ARIEERA -

AR AR B A Y P B A B R R BT
2R -

ARBEFRR  ERFAIIMBAREER
EXNFRERENENASEEEFEZER
BBy o MR E MK ERRFE  EER
RASEEENTIE
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42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)
Contractual arrangements

Dalian Kingwisoft and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“DaLian Kingwisoft Group”), which are among the entities
acquired in the acquisition transaction completed on 15
October 2020, engage in business of provision of value-
added telecommunications services that is subject to
restrictions imposed by relevant PRC laws on foreign
investors of foreign-invested telecommunication enterprises
which engage in the provision of value-added
telecommunications services.

Due to such restrictions under the relevant PRC laws, and as
advised by the PRC legal adviser of the Company, it was not
viable for KingNine to directly hold any equity ownership in
the Dalian Kingwisoft Group. Instead, KingNine, in line with
common practice in industries in the PRC subject to
restrictions imposed by the PRC laws on relevant foreign
investors and/or foreign ownership on foreign-invested
enterprises, achieves effective control over, and receives the
entire economic benefits generated by the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group through a series of contractual
agreements entered between Kingwisoft Technology Co.,
Ltd. (the “WFOE"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
KingNine established as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise
in the PRC, on one hand, and each of the DaLian Kingwisoft
and its registered shareholders, on the other hand (the
“Contractual Arrangements”).

f 0 B 5 A B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

42. XA TWKE R RS @)

ks

RELCERHEHWBAR(SGEBIANESSE
B ) A1) 2020510 A 15 B e IKRER 5
FUENER Y, —  HENSREEESEER
R - WEXBBERBEAEEEER AT
BEEREHINEREEELENINRLE
FHHBRH

R HRRE R BUARIE T r A BE IR Bl R s AR
NAEINFBERBMEA - KingNine B
FAERNESZEENEAREL N NER
7R BEIXPEIZREABINERE
ER/HINE R EOINEFTA RN Z PR
PR RR AP BT —AREH] - KingNine &8
SEREMBRERAR([IEBERCE]
KingNine 1R BIRK 32 R SNE 2 BT A LXK
FEMBAR) BERNESEREERKRR
IV —RINEHRBE([EHRHE]) RS
RESTZRENERITGHE YERES
EEEEANE KBNS -
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42.

240

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Contractual arrangements (Continued)

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group has
rights to variable returns from its involvement with the
Dalian Kingwisoft Group, has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the Dalian Kingwisoft
Group, and is considered to have control over the Dalian
Kingwisoft Group. Consequently, the DaLian Kingwisoft
Group is considered to be subsidiaries of the Group and the
financial statements of the DaLian Kingwisoft Group are
included in the Group's consolidated financial statements
from 15 October 2020.

However, there are uncertainties regarding the
interpretation and application of current and future PRC
laws and regulations which could affect the Company’s
ability to exercise control over the DaLian Kingwisoft Group,
its right to receive substantially all of the economic interest
generated by the DaLian Kingwisoft Group, and its ability to
consolidate the financial results of the DaLian Kingwisoft
Group into the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
The Company believes that, based on the legal opinion
obtained from the Company’s PRC legal adviser, the
Contractual Arrangements are legally binding and
enforceable and do not violate current PRC laws and
regulations.

42. XA TKHE R AFHE @)

ERREEE)

HREHNETH  AEBERZFL2ERNESD
ZEEMEMARERR  WERENEBHEY
ANESEEENE T EZSZOR - BIK
BREEFHRNECEEE - FI - KiESESE
EREALEEHBAR  ARESEEE
R #53RER 8 20204 10 A 15 B AKRE
BES A ERERA ©

A - BITRARKPBER AR RER
ERFETHARE @ AJREEARRITRE
HBRECSREITHIRNESD  ARREE
WK ES S EEELN D AN
B RARARBRNESBRENMBEEE
HAXREBGAMBREROEN - RRFR
5 ZRAARRBFBEARBERESER
BR - BHORRBEERZNRS - ARG
TRYEERBITHBERIER
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

fk 3 S 255 e e B

31 March 2024 202443 A 31 H

43. QTR R R

ARRRRHERARZHBIRARERAT

2024 & 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EMEEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHTB AR E 153,058 305,252
Due from subsidiaries AR NGB S 25 102,875
Contingent consideration IAR(E - 8,459
Property and equipment LEYSE L] 38 6
Total non-current assets EREBERE 153,121 416,592
CURRENT ASSETS MENE
Prepayments and other receivables FEAT IR B B A R YR IE 380 376
Due from a subsidiary FEU— M8 A B3R 51,701 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReE KB EEY 3,994 92,713
Total current assets mE)EEERE 56,075 93,089
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Other payables and accruals H At T IE R JEET & 3,125 2,960
Due to subsidiaries FES BB R B 5/08 - 492
Consideration payables ERAE 28,038 28,519
Total current liabilities mE B BB 31,163 31,971
NET CURRENT ASSETS mE)E IR E 24,912 61,118
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #&&EER B EE 178,033 477,710
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Consideration payables FESRAE = 5,255
Total non-current liabilities EREFAERRE - 5,255
Net assets BEFE 178,033 472,455
EQUITY s
Share capital f& 7 40,442 40,442
Reserves e 137,591 432,013
Total equity e B EE 178,033 472,455
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 43, & T B iRk (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RABEEEENOT :
Share
premium  Translation Accumulated
account reserve losses Total
% 47 % B ik iR E RitEE ast

RMB‘000 RMB‘000 RMB'000 RMB‘000
ARBEFT ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 1 April 2022 MN2022F4K1H 944,652 41,244 (151,233) 834,663
Loss and total comprehensive loss  4F A& 8 & 2 &5 18

for the year ] = = (582,849) (582,849)
Issue of shares BT D 180,199 - - 180,199

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April M2023F3H318 K

2023 202348 1H 1,124,851 41,244 (734,082) 432,013
Loss and total comprehensive loss  4F A& 18 &% & [ & 18

for the year pcke = = (294,422) (294,422)
At 31 March 2024 202443 A31H 1,124,851 41,244 (1,028,504) 137,591

44. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 44. RLIEBBEERR

STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for ZEVBRRE R 202456 A26 A EES
issue by the board of directors on 26 June 2024. S R TE -
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- AEBRNBEREFREE 2 EXENEE  B&

controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,  RIEFAREZHE (hiEtEE T3 2 R EZITE
as extracted from the published audited financial statements and ¥ - WAL =5 (LEF) ) HEHR T °
restated as appropriate, is set out below.

Year ended 31 March

HZ3A3MHLEE
2024 FF 2023F 2022 F 20214 2020
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(rg=:3)) (KEY) KE3) EKE7)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETT ARSTT ARETFT ARETT

RESULTS £

Revenue A 1,240,904 888,622 734,021 264,368 15,096
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELADEF (&) (199,917)  (236,956) 84,016 41,339 1,583
Income tax credit/(expense) FrERie,/ (%) (5,030) 739 (12,886) (10,648) (170)

Profit/(loss) for the year from FRBFECEEF D

continuing operations (E18) (204,947)  (236,217) 71,130 30,691 1,413
Profit/(loss) for the year from FRELK SR EK
discontinued operations wA(EiE) - = 5,825 (3,815) =
Profit/(loss) for the year FEREFH,(BE) (204,947)  (236,217) 76,955 26,876 1,413
Attributable to; AT AL
Owners of the Company RABHEAA (197,382)  (230,329) 80,350 26,153 1,413
Non-controlling interests R (7,565) (5,888) (3,395) 723 =
(204,947) (236,217) 76,955 26,876 1,413
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As at 31 March

M3A31H
2024 5 20234 2022 2021 4 20204
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(F=&71)) (&=&7) (&=&7)
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARESTFT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
Total assets BEE 1,278,285 1,498,220 1,579,053 1,415,441 668,692
Total liabilities BEE (457,594)  (472,943)  (488,177)  (399,810) (20,062)

820,691 1,025,277 1,090,876 1,015,631 648,630

Equity attributable to owners of A2 RI#EH AE(HER
the Company 816,601 1,013,610 1,070,742 999,904 648,630
Non-controlling interests FEIE RS 4,090 11,667 20,134 15,727 =

820,691  1,075277 1,090,876 1,015,631 648,630
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